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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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STOCK CODE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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16th—18th Floors, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central

Hong Kong
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LI Yijin (resigned on 23 April 2024)
Ms. HUANG Minjie (appointed on 23 April 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. LU Run Ting
Ms. LI Yijin (resigned on 23 April 2024)
Ms. HUANG Minjie (appointed on 23 April 2024)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

Bank of China Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
TEER @

REGISTERED OFFICE, HEADQUARTERS AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

Room 1301, 13th Floor

Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre
No. 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.goldpac.com

INVESTOR RELATION

Email: goldpac@goldpac.com
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS #R & ¥4&

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended
31 December

MBRE

HZ12A31BLLZ2EE
2023 Change
RMB’000 21t
ARBEF T
Revenue 5 A 1,095,301 1,416,573 -22.7%
Profit for the year attributable to ViN/NETE ¥ =N S 50,889 132,051 -61.5%
owners of the Company FEFE
Net profit margin R R 4.5% 10.7% -6.2PP
ERaE ]
REVENUE ANALYSIS WA 2 #f
For the year ended
31 December
BZ12A31BLLZ2EE
2023 Change
RMB’000 Bt
AREFIT
Embedded software and secure MARNEEMNET 2 622,362 949,781 -34.5%
payment products Y Em
Platform and service FakR®s 472,939 466,792 1.3%
Total = 1,095,301 1,416,573 -22.7%
FINANCIAL POSITIONS Bf #& ik R
At 31 December
MW12831H8
2023 Change
RMB’000 21t
ARBEF T
Total assets BEEE 2,463,484 2,693,907 -8.6%
Total liabilities FEN=Kr= (451,493) (598,836) -24.6%
Net assets HEE 2,011,991 2,095,071 -4.0%
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2024 MAJOR EVENTS
2024F RERT

DIAMOND

B E=I AR [ & BB R
BPARTHACELER

TEE] - UMVF AEFRTT
EFONRESTMERER -
Successfully organised
the “Accomplishing Bank
Digital Transformation
through Fintech Outsourcing S IBEFINEIE2024 ICMAMKE 2870 K 4818 -
Workshop” in three cities, HELQBE20F THEESE -
and the UMV platform Goldpac once again was honoured with
was highly recognised and four ICMA Elan Awards in 2024, continuing
generally accepted by bank its winning streak of Elan Awards for 20
customers. consecutive years.
2024
¢ @
@
%}myﬂ:mx:

HHEBRELT - eBEREFE=THRE

EBERALE - il
Goldpac was honoured with the Silver Prize i ”

at the 35th Hong Kong Print Awards for | %W
the luxury card effects of colour canvas on —— -
metal cards. gy

UMV & 712024 B E
GRHGEERBNRBRERM -
BRSEZMIARRK -

The UMV platform was awarded
the Development Potential Service
Demonstration Case in the 2024
China International Fair for Trade
in Services, leading towards a new
future of digital and intellectual
payments.
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2024 MAJOR EVENTS
2024 RER

= 2024 F R A BB R ESG iz
< G [ & :E.SE#LI e

EscEeERen AR

= Cumit L LT -] CwmExit

mmaw R

:il)\llu- .-:w { :ﬂllﬂ .lIlFlll : gﬂ
- S8
ey T~
=g
& IERIE20240 Bt AL BUR
H-RNADRE(G) B
o \ ITHEESGTTRIRAT ©
EHERTEFETE Goldpac was honoured with
2024 R FRIE L BEFE - the 2024 CLS ZhiYuan — L FEZH2024F B EEEAIRIE - Seamless <
Goldpac was listed as one Corporate Governance Pioneer Europe 2024 * Seamless Dubai 2024% 2 Bk 1 ERS
of the 2024 KPMG China Enterprise Award, excelling as Rg RERABERZED - 2o
Corporate Governance the industry benchmark in ESG Goldpac continued to enhance its international *g?f
Pioneers. practices. presence by exhibiting at some of the most égﬁ
prominent trade events in the fintech sector § i
B — including InnoEX 2024, Seamless Europe 2024, =
® @ Seamless Dubai 2024, among others. 5
@ g
@ S— =
¢
C mmzmme a
Wind ESG 4RI SN B
 BEE //K—R P SO £ e
J ; BBB o Wi~ = | D
‘ : % 621467 8888888838888
- — s 2z L RE
Wind ESC  zyipmads S ”
Rt PR . N
L‘%‘é%ﬁ;ﬁﬂkﬁtﬁ BREANDERMESREDE
25/213 235 FE N N N -
* - SN A THEFF A B M G IRER

AAA  AA A BBB BB B ccc
MEERBENER  oHEHE
W S A 7 EER MBS TIEN R
& B%;%&and EiGp¥,,&A,.& ' FREE Z s o
TREXAFEZRESD Catering to requests from the
S;'\;ivﬁ)j; ;Zcélvssr:gnﬁtrr:;':s oI O E Mlnlstry-of Human Resources

: o : ST AR . R4 — 3k B R and Soc!al Security to mtegrate
its strength in sustainable RE RS AR T the foreigner's work permit
development. into the social security card,
Goldpac issued the “Join in
Card”, launching a new chapter
of diversified payment services
to also fulfil welfare and identity
features.

Goldpac launched Smart
Driving Licence Kiosk in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area to provide

a one-stop driver's licence
processing service, beginning
an era of smart driver’s licence
issuance and implementation.
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Chairman & Executive Director
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Dear Shareholders:

In 2024, the Group was faced with some of the most challenging
pressure since its listing in 2013. The downturn of the global
economy combined with uncertainties in the industry posed greater
difficulties to the Group’s operations in 2024.

Since its establishment 30 years ago, the Group has fully
understood that ups and downs are an inevitable part of growth,
and thus has built strong resilience, confidence and courage during
its journey. The Group realises that the current difficulties faced
are also opportunities to actively fortify its advantages for future
transformation.

The Group persists in the materialisation of its key digital and
platform-based strategy. The users of the UMV platform has
achieved a rapid growth, from about 30 to 225 bank headquarters
and 1,617 bank branches. Through pilot initiatives tailored for
banks, the UMV platform has demonstrated its capability to drive
innovation of financial services and marketing. At the same time,
the interactive platform integrating Al technologies has initiated
preliminary digital operation features. For the first time globally,
payment card service operations have evolved from a decentralised
and discreet process, to an intelligent and visualised one.

The UMV platform leverages digital technologies and integrates
products and services to accelerate the transformation from
products and services provider to value-added services provider.
This is another disruptive innovation comparable to providing
financial data processing services during the Group’s development.
It is also the second curve that supports its sustainable
development.

As highlighted in the 2025 Government Work Report of China,
vigorously boosting consumption, stimulating domestic demand,
and making domestic demand the main driving force for economic
growth has become the focal objectives of the government. This
requires industries to develop new business ecosystems in order to
bolster consumption. Meanwhile, the Group has been preparing
for transformation from the three aspects of new business models,
new technologies, and new human resources. The UMV platform
will provide bank customers with new operational models and
services across the entire business process. This addresses the core
issues of cost, efficiency and user experience, facilitating banks
in enhancing risk control capabilities. At the same time, the new
business models are turning towards end consumers. The Group
is building a more comprehensive, timelier, and more precise
credit card benefits platform, and a larger, more active, higher
quality credit card users community platform to facilitate financial
institutions in digital marketing as well as improving efficiency and
quality.

EWMHEARR

2024%F - AEBEB T B2013F LK
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New technologies will fuel the digital and platform-based
development. The Group will pay close attention to the latest
technological advancements and increase investment in AIGC,
eSIM, multi-scenario security authentication technologies, etc. to
focus on practical applications and commercial use.

New human resources are the foundational support for digital and
platform-based development. The Group has already initiated a
restructuring from the Board to management level, establishing
a younger and more professional management team, realising
a streamlined and efficient management structure to lead the
upcoming transformation.

In the face of challenges and adversity, temporary operational
pressure may not be mitigated in the short term, but the Group
remains positive about the medium to long-term prospects. The
Group has maintained a healthy financial status and will leverage
the accumulated digital advantages of existing platforms, focusing
on new business models, technologies and human resources to
gather momentum for transformation.

Lu Run Ting
Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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HOU Ping & ¥

Executive Director & CEO
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBEWmED @A)

In 2024, the Group was faced with great challenges and pressure
in its overall operations, but the Group has since entered into
a transformative period of corporate development to bolster its
strength in preparation for another rebound after transformation
and upgrading.

In 2024, global economic recovery was far from expected
with geopolitical tensions and global trade frictions persisting.
Meanwhile, consumer confidence is low and insufficient effective
consumption continued. The traditional banking card industry
was influenced by factors such as stricter regulatory policies,
tighter risk controls, and pressure on operating costs, resulting
in a weak overall growth. Although the downturn of the global
economy combined with weak growth in the industry posed
greater difficulties to the Group’s operations in 2024, the Group
has still achieved good results among the peers and has kept its
profitability since its listing.

Over the past 30 years, the Group has deeply understood that ups
and downs are an inevitable part of growth, and is keenly aware
that the current difficulties faced are also opportunities for the
Group to actively fortify its advantages. The Group is making every
effort to transform itself in three directions; through application
of new business models, introduction of new technologies and
attraction of human resources. The Group has already initiated a
restructuring from the Board to management level, establishing
a management team that is younger and more adapted to
the changing digital era, realising a streamlined and efficient
management structure to lead the upcoming transformation.

Despite the intensification of pressure and challenges, the Group's
digital and platform-based strategy has produced remarkable
results. The users of the UMV platform has achieved a rapid
growth, from about 30 to more than 200 bank headquarters and
1,600 bank branches. Through pilot initiatives of banks, the UMV
platform has demonstrated its capability to drive innovation of
financial services and marketing. At the same time, the interactive
platform integrating Al technologies has initiated preliminary digital
operation features. For the first time globally, the payment card
service operation has evolved from a decentralised and discreet
process, to an intelligent and visualised one. In December 2024,
the Group organised “Accomplishing Bank Digital Transformation
through Fintech Outsourcing Workshop” in Beijing, Shanghai and
Shenzhen where the UMV platform was highly recognised and
well-received by bank customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

In the face of challenges and adversity, temporary operational
pressure may not be mitigated in the short term, but the Group
remains positive about the medium to long-term prospects. The
Group maintains a healthy financial status with adequate liquidity
resources and will leverage the accumulated digital advantages of
existing platforms, focusing on new business models, technologies
and human resources to gather momentum for transformation.

Business review and financial analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2024, influenced by the
decreasing sales volume and sales price of the Group’s major
products and services, as well as the longer-than-expected
procurement cycles of the customers outside the Chinese mainland,
the Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB1.095 billion,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 22.7%.
Gross profit was approximately RMB0.259 billion, representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 38.4%, and gross profit
margin was approximately 23.6%, representing a decrease of 6.1
percentage points compared to the same period of 2023. As a
result of the continually increasing investment in R&D, the Group
recorded profit for the year of approximately RMB49.5 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 67.2%.

The Group continues to maintain a healthy financial status with
good liquidity, which fully meets the daily operations and working
capital requirements, and also provides continuous and robust
support for innovative R&D and strategic transformation. As of
31 December 2024, the Group’s total current assets amounted to
approximately RMB1,657.0 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 15.2%. The Group’s current ratio and
quick ratio were approximately 4.1 and 3.5 respectively, while its
gearing ratio was close to 18.3%.

During the year, the Group’s embedded software and secure
payment products business segment recorded a revenue of
approximately RMBO0.622 billion, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 34.5%. The Group has made progress
in the field of telecommunications and electric vehicle security
applications. The Group has built up full-process production and
delivery capabilities in the telecommunications sector. Keeping
pace with the booming electric vehicle market in the Chinese
mainland, the Group’s car access key card projects have been
implemented for some of the leading electric vehicle brands. The
Group is expecting further breakthroughs in both business areas.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBEWmED @A)

During the year, the Group’s platform and service business
segment recorded revenue of approximately RMB0.473 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 1.3%.

The Board proposed to declare a final dividend of HK5.5 cents
(equivalent to approximately RMB5.1 cents) per ordinary share
(HK10.0 cents in 2023) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Financial Results for the First Half of 2025

The Board wishes to inform the Shareholders and potential
investors that, due to the increasing complexity and uncertainty of
the economic environment, and based on the currently available
preliminary assessment of the unaudited consolidated management
accounts of the Company for the 2 months ended 28 February
2025 (the "Unaudited Management Accounts”) and the latest
order book figures which will turn into revenue for March 2025,
the Board expects to record (i) a decrease in the revenue by
approximately 15% to 25% for 3 months ending 31 March 2025
as compared to the revenue for the 3 months ended 31 March
2024 (approximately RMB286.95 million); and (ii) a decrease in the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by approximately
25% to 35% for the three months ending 31 March 2025 as
compared to the profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the 3 months ended 31 March 2024 (approximately RMB17.30
million).

The Company will commence the process of preparing the interim
results of the Group for the six months ending 30 June 2025
in July 2025 and is not able at this time to disclose any further
details on the above factors and their impact on the Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the Company for the six months ending
30 June 2025. On the premises of the business and revenue cycle
of the Group, in particular, the current order book figures of the
Group, the Board is not able at this time to provide a forecast of
the revenue and profit attributable to owners of the Company
for the six months ending 30 June 2025 to the Shareholders and
potential investors. The information set out above is only based on
a preliminary assessment by the Board on the information currently
available to it, including the Unaudited Management Accounts,
which have not been finalized and not been independently
reviewed by the auditors or the audit committee of the Company.
Shareholders and potential investors should refer to the interim
results of the Company for the six months ending 30 June 2025,
which are expected to be published before the end of August
2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Full implementation of the digital and
platform-based strategy

Focus on new business models, new
technologies and new human resources

New business models: the UMV platform provides
bank customers with new operational models and
services across the whole business process

1. UMY innovative model addresses the core issues
of banks: cost, efficiency and user experience

For the first time globally, the UMV platform realises
real-time, online interactions and visibility of the payment
card operations process on one platform. This is a typical
application of the fast-developing Al technologies in
the payment card operations process, which effectively
addresses the core issues of cost, efficiency and user
experience, and is helpful in business operations and
management workflows for banks.

2. The UMV platform assists banks in risk
management

Based on strict data compliance regimes, the UMV platform
fully complies with relevant laws and regulations by the
National Financial Regulatory Administration. It reduces
manual operation to lower error rates and effectively
eliminate potential risks in existing infrastructures, which
highly improves the banks’ risk control capabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEENRNED N @

16

The UMYV platform is turning towards end
consumers to facilitate scenario-based services
and the ecological construction in the financial
sector

Under the pressure of economic downturn, boosting
domestic demand has become a central concern as
highlighted in the Government Work Report at the recent
third session of the 14th National People’s Congress. The
UMV platform is turning towards end consumers to seize
new market opportunities. The Group is building a more
comprehensive, timelier, and more precise credit card
benefits platform, and a larger, more active, higher quality
credit card users community platform. Focusing in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, the UMV
platform innovates on benefits design, precise marketing
and user operations, etc., through deep integration of
market ecosystems and scenarios. It facilitates financial
institutions in acquiring and activating consumers, which
is effective for boosting consumption, and further assists
banks in improving efficiency and quality.

The UMV platform: globalisation and market
coverage expansion

According to the latest forecast by the Nilson Report, a
leading publication covering payment systems worldwide,
the total number of payment cards in circulation around
the globe will increase by 12.8% by 2029, suggesting that
the global credit card market still has a strong potential
for growth. The Group has developed an international
version of the UMV platform, which will be a powerful
tool for the Group to expand global market coverage. The
Group will leverage on the platform’s digital capabilities to
continuously open up its international business channels
and strengthen its partnership network in response to the
differentiated needs of each country and region. The Group
will also pay due attention to the risk of uncertainties
arising from global economic volatility and geopolitics.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

New technologies: fueling the digitalisation and
platform-based development

One of the core driving forces of the Group’s leading advantages
is deeply understanding and applying advanced technologies in
business scenarios. The Group will continue to invest in R&D,
pay attention to frontier technologies and focus on practical
applications to fuel the digitalisation and platform-based
development.

The Group sets out to develop a new generation of encryption
algorithms, and increases its research in fields like finance,
telecommunications, and social security.

The Group deepens its research on AIGC (Artificial Intelligence
Generated Content) technology surrounding two main aspects
of enhancing end consumers experience and improving service
efficiency of our corporate clients.

The Group will accelerate its R&D of eSIM, multi-scenario security
authentication technologies, etc., providing tailored-made
end-to-end solutions to loT (Internet of Things) equipment and
smart equipment manufacturers.

New human resources: foundational support for
digital and platform-based development

Initiating a youth-oriented talent strategy. From the Board to
management team, the Group has significantly increased the
appointment of younger professionals. This is complemented
by rotational leadership regime and competitive recruitment
mechanism for key management positions, providing a broad
platform for young talents.

Building high-tech talent pool system. Aligned with the digital and
platform-based strategy, the Group is accelerating the construction
of high-tech advanced talent system and the implementation of
global talent pool strategy. Leveraging on the advantage of Hong
Kong, the Group has recruited a number of experts in “finance
+ internet”, data algorithms, and Al. In order to accelerate
international market expansion, the Group has recruited a global
team of professionals covering key market areas such as EMEA,
APAC, and the Americas. The Group will continue to acquire
talents in Al, cryptographic algorithms, and other critical digital
domains.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBEWmED @A)

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No material events occurred subsequent to 31 December 2024 and
up to the date of this Annual Report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to be eligible for attending and voting at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday,
22 May 2025, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17th
Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration by 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 16 May 2025. The register of
members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 19 May
2025 to Thursday, 22 May 2025, both days inclusive, during which
period, no transfer of shares will be registered.

In order to determine who are entitled to the proposed final
dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17th Floor, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration by
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 30 May 2025. The register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 2 June 2025 to Wednesday,
4 June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered. Subject to shareholders’ approval of
the proposed dividend at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to be held on Thursday, 22 May 2025, the
dividend will be paid on Friday, 27 June 2025 to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on Wednesday, 4 June 2025.

USE OF PROCEEDS RAISED FROM THE
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 4 December 2013 with net proceeds from
the global offering of approximately RMB975.0 million (after
deducting underwriting commissions and related expenses). As at
31 December 2024, the Company utilised approximately RMB862.9
million for the purposes of production capacity expansion,
innovative product and service research and development,
investment in associates and acquisition, market expansion
outside China, working capital supplementation and other general
corporate purposes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEENWE DN @

An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the initial 20244128318  ¥1X AR B EFREK
public offering and the unused amount as at 31 December 2024 is IEF R RFAEHHBE 2 DN T ¢
set out below:

3

Expected =L
timeline e
for fully cr
utilising e
Utilised  Unutilised the < E%
amount amount  remaining Rs¥
as at 31 as at 31 net =g
% of net Net December December  proceeds
proceeds proceeds 2024 2024 (Note)
TEHA
BB
R2024%  R2024F  HEFE 5
¥ 3 12A318 128318 ZEHKH g
Eethfl EXKES CERSE XEAGE (W) s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 é
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETRT %
s
R&D of new products and services A& ¥ & @ & IR % 35% 341,113 341,113 0 N/A o
Expansion to production BREERE ARK g gg
facilities, upgrades and other HERREER 2 =
improvements to existing card HEREERE e X
production and data processing 722*‘“‘“
facilities 35% 341,113 294,778 46,335 <54 -
Financing future strategic alliances %+ R K ER F 45 A &)
with complementary companies TREBEMEES 10% 97,461 32,120 65,341 <55

Further strengthening presence E— SRR A
in existing markets outside the PASNR B TS

Chinese mainland fEBEX 10% 97,461 97,461 0 N/A
Working capital and other general #ZEZEEE K :
corporate purposes Ee—RAr AR 10% 97,461 97,461 0 N/A
Total Bt 100% 974,609 862,933 111,676 <54

Note: The expected timeline for utilising the remaining net proceeds is based on the /7 - SRS TS HIE S E 2 EHERE I ARERE
best estimation of the future market conditions made by the Group. It remains RRRTRFFIEY S EHEt  ZBRNEER
subject to change based on market conditions. TR mAREE -

v
]

te (

The balances of the net proceeds were deposited in bank account. RIS IERENHBETFTALRITERE - AR
The Company has utilised and will utilise the net proceeds pursuant &2 & B #8i8 A A 5 R2013F11 8228 3

to the purposes and the proportions as disclosed in the prospectus 5 #9328 i% Z 52 P 3% 58 19 5 =0 A0t 90 3 A3 B
of the Company dated 22 November 2013. BRRIBFR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBEWmED @A)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Based on the Group's steady cash inflow from operations, coupled
with sufficient cash and bank balances, the Group has adequate
liquidity and financial resources to meet the daily operations and
working capital requirements as well as to fund its expansion plans.
The Group formulates and exercises fund management measures
and upholds a conservative financial management attitude. The
Board monitors the use of funds to ensure the safety, liquidity and
profitability of funds.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's aggregate amount of bank
balances and cash, fixed bank deposits and pledged bank deposits
reached approximately RMB1,332.8 million (2023: approximately
RMB1,353.0 million), of which approximately RMB1,178.9 million
(2023: approximately RMB1,096.1 million) was denominated
in RMB, representing approximately 88.5% and approximately
RMB153.9 million (2023: approximately RMB256.9 million) was
denominated in USD and HKD, etc., representing approximately
11.5%.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no bank borrowings
(2023: Nil) and did not use any financial instruments for hedging
purpose.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade receivables was
approximately RMB261.8 million (2023: approximately RMB331.0
million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total current assets
amounted to approximately RMB1,657.0 million (2023:
approximately RMB1,952.9 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 15.2% compared to that of the previous year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current ratio was
approximately 4.1 (2023: approximately 3.5), while its quick ratio
was approximately 3.5 (2023: approximately 3.0), representing a
high liquidity.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio (the gearing
ratio is equivalent to total liabilities divided by total assets as at the
end of the year) was approximately 18.3% (2023: approximately
22.2%).

CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group’s sales were mainly denominated in RMB, USD and
HKD while the operating expenses and purchases were mainly
denominated in RMB with certain portions in USD and HKD.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not use
any derivative financial instruments to hedge against the volatility
associated with foreign currency transactions and other financial
assets and liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business. The
Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
fluctuation of foreign currency rates.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’'s capital
expenditure was approximately RMB18.0 million (2023:
approximately RMB29.3 million). The capital expenditure
represented the expenses incurred in purchasing fixed assets.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The aggregate capital commitment of the Group as at 31
December 2024 was approximately RMB4.4 million (2023:
approximately RMB3.8 million).

PLEDGED ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits of approximately RMB7.5
million (2023: approximately RMB156.7 million) were pledged to
secure the bills payables and bank guarantee.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBEWmED @A)

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group had no significant investments for the year ended 31
December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group has no future plans for material investment or capital
assets during 2025.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company purchased
11,298,000 ordinary shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange at an aggregate price of approximately HKD 11,834,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB10,854,000). The shares were
acquired at an average price of approximately HKD1.05 per share,
with prices ranging from HKD0.97 to HKD1.13. Among which,
10,007,000 repurchased shares were cancelled on 18 November
2024, with the remaining 1,291,000 repurchased shares cancelled
on 17 March 2025.

The details of the purchase of shares are as follows:

EEBENWED N @

REZE2024F12A8318BIEZFE » AR A
EREBAZHH - LAAET411,834,000
B (A AR 410,854,0000T) [ BB
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10,007,0008% [B1 #& A% 10 B 78202411 518
B R #R1,291,00008 2 202543 A
178248 -
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Aggregate

Highest Lowest consideration

Number price price paid

of shares per share per share (HKD)

purchased (HKD) (HKD) &5t

Month i SBRESER SREEER EXNHE
A& B8 E (BE) (B (B¥)
July 2024 20247 A 5,261,000 1.13 0.98 5,551,862.15
August 2024 2024F8 A 2,074,000 1.06 1 2,130,632.68
September 2024 2024F9 A 2,672,000 1.08 1.02 2,852,478.46
December 2024 2024%F12H 1,291,000 1.03 0.97 1,298,648.93
Total &5t 11,298,000 11,833,622.22
In addition, the 1,642,000 shares repurchased by the Company [t4) AR A FIHA2023FE11 A =12 A 8k E

during the period from November to December 2023 were
cancelled on 29 April 2024.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The treasury share regime under the Listing Rules is not yet
available to the Company, being a listed issuer incorporated in
Hong Kong, until the Companies (Amendment) Ordinance 2025
taking effect on 17 April 2025 and accordingly, the disclosure
requirements in respect of treasury shares under the Listing Rules
are not applicable to the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBEWmED @A)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to maintaining high levels of
environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group's environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
management team had managed, monitored, recommended and
reported on environmental, social and governance aspects. An ESG
report for the year ended 31 December 2024 has been prepared
with reference to Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) (Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide) and are published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in
relation to its business including anti-corruption, health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment in all
material aspects during the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Group encourages its employees, customers, suppliers and other
stakeholders to participate in environmental, social and governance
activities.

The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees. The
Group also enhances cooperation with its suppliers to jointly foster
a fair business environment, and provides high quality products
and services to its customers so as to ensure continued and
sustainable development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

Benefiting from the digital transformation, the Group’s staff
structure has been optimised. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
had 1,282 employees (as at 31 December 2023: 1,507), with a
decrease of 225 employees as compared to that as at 31 December
2023. Total employee benefits expenses including Directors’
emoluments, for the year ended 31 December 2024, amounted to
approximately RMB206.8 million (for the year ended 31 December
2023: approximately RMB224.7 million).

The human resources are one of the Group’s most important
assets. In addition to offering competitive remuneration and welfare
packages, the Group is also committed to providing specialised and
challenging career development and training programs. Generally,
a salary review is conducted annually. The Group also adopted the
Pre-IPO share option scheme, the share option scheme and the
share award scheme to motivate prospective employees. Apart
from basic remuneration, for employees in the Chinese mainland,
the Group makes contributions towards employee mandatory
social security, pensions, work-related injury insurance, maternity
insurance and medical and unemployment insurance in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations of the Chinese mainland.
The pensions and unemployment insurance belong to defined
contribution plans. The Group does not have the right to confiscate
the contributions and therefore has no use of the contributions.
The Group also provides full coverage of housing provident fund
contributions as required by local laws and regulations in the
Chinese mainland. For the employees outside the Chinese mainland,
the Group also makes contributions towards relevant insurance
schemes as required by local laws and regulations.

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit,
qualifications and competence of individual employees and are
reviewed by the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) periodically. The emoluments of
the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration Committee
to the Board and are decided by the Board, having regard to the
Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

The Group emphasises on employee performance and
development, and is committed to enhancing their knowledge and
skills. The Group provides comprehensive internal and external
trainings to the employees, such as compulsory orientation, job
skills training, improvement training, information security training,
compliance and legal training, project management training,
business etiquette training and etc.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EENSAREEE @)

DIRECTORS EE

n

The Board is consisted of nine Directors, including six executive BEZ@mhEZEEHK BFENLHITE SE€
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The FH =ZZBUIEHTEST - U TTEREAZ
following table sets forth certain information relating to the ZEFE&H :

Financial
Highlights

Directors: =
Name Age Position in the Group
e Fi = ER

2024
Major Events
2024F KRF L

Executive Directors

BITES

LU Run Ting 70 Chairman & Executive Director

EEE ITERATES

HOU Ping 64 Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer C

& ¥ MITEEREFENTE g =
LU Runyi 67 Executive Director & Senior Vice President 885
el HITEERERE LA £i%
WU Sigiang 52 Executive Director & Chief Operating Officer gem
KRB WITEERERELT : w
LU Wai Lim 38 Executive Director & Senior Vice President -

& R HITEE RS REIEH 5 m
LI Yijin 54 Executive Director & Chief Audit Executive EgH
* 5 HITEEREHE Eow
Independent Non-executive Directors z W
BYFHITES

JIANG Li 61 Independent Non-executive Director

¥ B BMIFMITES

YE Lu 62 Independent Non-executive Director

® % BMIFMITES

LAl Tung Kwok 73 Independent Non-executive Director

RIRE BMIFMITES
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EERSHNEEE @)

Executive Directors

Mr. LU Run Ting (BRI &), aged 70, is the chairman of the Board
(“Chairman”) and an executive Director, and the founder of the
Group. He was first appointed as Director on 10 December 2004
and was designated as an executive Director with effect from
15 November 2013. Chairman LU is primarily responsible for the
overall strategic planning and overseeing the general management
of the Group. He has over 30 years of experience in financial card
industry and was honored as the finalist award of CNBC Asia
Business Leaders Award in October 2015.

Prior to the establishment of the Group in 1995, Chairman
LU wholly owns the entire issued share capital of Goldpac
International (Holding) Limited (“GIHL"), the Company’s
controlling shareholder and is a director of GIHL since 1993.
Chairman LU also served as various management positions at the
subsidiaries of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China prior
to the establishment of GIHL in 1993. He currently also serves as
the chairman of GIHL. Chairman LU received a Master of Business
Administration degree from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in November 2004. Chairman LU had not been a director of any
other listed companies in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three
years.

The ordinary shares of GIHL are 100% directly held by Golden
Wellness Investment Limited, which is wholly owned by Golden
Lake Investment Limited (“GLIL"). GLIL is wholly owned by a
family trust, the trustee of which is Cititrust Private Trust (Cayman)
Limited, established by Chairman LU as the founder for the benefit
of his family members. Chairman LU (i) is the elder brother of
Mr. LU Runyi, an executive Director and a senior vice president of
the Company, and (ii) is the father of Mr. LU Wai Lim, an executive
Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. HOU Ping ({8 ¥), aged 64, is an executive Director and the
chief executive officer of the Company, and joined the Group
in 2011. He was first appointed as a Director on 30 August
2011, and was designated as an executive Director with effect
from 15 November 2013. He is primarily responsible for the
overall management of the Group. Mr. HOU has over 30 years of
experience in the banking industry, including approximately 25
years of experience in the card industry. He has been a Director
and the chief executive officer of the Company since 2011. He has
also served as a director of Goldpac Datacard Solutions Company
Limited and Goldpac Limited respectively, since 2011. He has
also served as a director of seven subsidiaries of the Company,
including as a director of Goldpac Fintech Private Limited since
2016, and a director of Goldpac Technology Service Limited
(Henggin), SecureTech Holdings Limited and Goldpac Fintech
Hong Kong Limited, the Company’s subsidiaries, since 2018, a
director of Goldpac Fintech (Zhuhai) Limited Company and UMV
Technology Limited (Zhuhai) since 2020, and also a director of
Zhirong Financial Services Technology (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd. (through
the VIE Agreements, Zhirong Financial Services has been an
indirect subsidiary of the Company as 100% of its equity interest is
attributed to the Company indirectly) since 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. HOU was the head of credit card
centre at Deutsche Bank (China) Co., Ltd, and was seconded to
Huaxia Bank as chief executive officer of the credit card centre
from 2006 to 2011. Mr. HOU served various positions at Bank of
China group and subsequently, BOC Credit Card (International)
Limited since 1999, including as deputy general manager of BOC
Credit Card (International) Limited in Hong Kong from 1999 to
2004. Mr. HOU received a Master of Business Administration
degree from the Hong Kong Baptist University in December 2003.
Save as disclosed herein, Mr. HOU had not been a director of any
other listed companies in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three
years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EERSHNEEE @)

Mr. LU Runyi (E814), aged 67, is an executive Director and a
senior vice president of the Company, and joined the Group in
1995. He was first appointed as a Director in December 2004, and
was designated as an executive Director with effect from November
2013. He is primarily responsible for the management of the sales
department of the Group. Mr. LU Runyi, has almost 30 years of
experience in the security payment industry. He has been a senior
vice president of the Group since 2004 and has been the director
of GIHL from June 2006 to March 2021, and has been director of
Goldpac Datacard Solutions Company Limited and Goldpac Limited
respectively since 2011, and has served as a director of Goldpac
Technology Service Limited (Henggin) since 2018, and has also
served as a director of Goldpac Fintech (Zhuhai) Limited Company
since 2020. Mr. LU Runyi had not been a director of any other
listed companies in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. LU Runyi is the younger brother of Chairman LU, and is the
uncle of Mr. LU Wai Lim, who is an executive Director of the
Company.

Mr. WU Sigiang (R B 3&), aged 52, is an executive Director
and the chief operating officer of the Company, and joined the
Group in 2001. Mr. WU is primarily responsible for the overall
operation of the Group, he was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 18 May 2017, and has more than 20
years of experience in the security payment industry. Mr. Wu
was a manager of the production division, vice general manager
of the operation division, general manager of the production
management division of Goldpac Limited from 2001 to 2011
successively, and has been the chief operating officer of
Goldpac Limited since 2011. Mr. WU served as a manager of the
procurement division of Goldpac Limited from 2004 to January
2021, and has been the general manager and legal representative
since February 2021. Mr. WU has also served as a director of
Goldpac Technology Service Limited (Henggin) since 2018. Mr. WU
had not been a director of any other listed companies in Hong
Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. WU graduated from the Guangdong Mechanics University
(E M 2T ) (now part of Guangdong University of Technology
(BRI % AZ)) with a Bachelor of Mechatronics degree in July
1993.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. LU Wai Lim (E & B) (formerly known as Mr. Wai Lim
(B BE), Mr. LING Wai Lim (V£ & B&) and Mr. LING Wai Lim (
= B B&) ), aged 38, is an executive Director and the senior
vice president of the Company, and joined the Company as
non-executive Director in May 2017. He was re-designated as
an executive Director in March 2019 and was appointed as
senior vice president of the Company in January 2021. Mr. LU
has over 6 years of experience in payments industry and has
over 10 years of experience in biomedical research and research
project management. Mr. LU has also served as a director of six
subsidiaries of the Company, including as a director of Goldpac
Technology Service Limited (Henggin) since 2018, a director of
UMV Technology Limited (Zhuhai) since 2020 and also a director
of Zhirong Financial Services Technology (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd. since
2021, a director of Goldpac Fintech Hong Kong Limited since 6
July 2022, a director of SecureTech Holdings Limited since 22 July
2022, and a director of Goldpac Fintech Private Limited since 27
November 2022.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. LU was a project analyst, a project
manager and the senior scientific advisor, respectively, of China
Regenerative Medicine International Limited (Stock Code: 8158),
a company listed on GEM operated by The Stock Exchange, from
June 2015 to December 2018. Mr. LU was a research assistant
of The University of Hong Kong, Department of Paediatrics and
Adolescent Medicine, from December 2010 to May 2012. Mr. LU
had not been a Director of any other listed Companies in Hong
Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. LU received the Bachelor of Science (Biotechnology) from The
University of Hong Kong in 2008, the Master of Philosophy in
Microbiology from the University of Hong Kong in 2010, and also
the Doctor of Philosophy in Immunology from The University of
Hong Kong in 2015.

Mr. LU is the son of Chairman LU. He is also the nephew of Mr. LU
Runyi, who is an executive Director and senior vice president of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Ms. LI Yijin (Z53#), aged 54, is an executive Director and the
chief audit executive of the Company, and joined the Group in
2001 and was appointed as an executive Director with effective
from 18 May 2020. She has nearly 30 years of experience in the
accounting, auditing and financial reporting matters. Ms. LI was
the financial controller of the Company from 2004 to 2012, and
was the chief financial officer of the Company from 2012 to April
2019, and has been designated as the chief audit executive of the
Company since May 2019. Ms. LI has also served as supervisors
of three subsidiaries of the Company, supervisors of Goldpac
Fintech (Zhuhai) Limited Company and UMV Technology Limited
(Zhuhai) since 2020, and a supervisor of Zhirong Financial Services
Technology (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd. since 2021.

Ms. LI received an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree from the Hong Kong University of Science & Technology
in November 2012. Ms. LI has been a member of CPA (Certified
Public Accountants) Australia since October 2004, a Fellow of CPA
Australia (FCPA) since May 2020, and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since May 2013. Ms. LI had not been
a director of any other listed companies in Hong Kong or overseas
in the past three years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Li (¥ B ), aged 61, joined the Company as
independent non-executive Director on 21 May 2024. Mr. JIANG
has been teaching in various universities over 30 years, and
lecturing on the topics of corporate finance, investments,
international finance, financial statement analysis and business
valuation. Mr. JIANG served as a lecturer at Concordia University
from September 1991 to August 1994, a financial analyst at BCA
Research in Montreal, Canada from January 1995 to June 1995,
an assistant professor at the Schulich School of Business of York
University from September 1995 to August 1996, an assistant
professor at the School of Business of Hong Kong Baptist University
from September 1996 to August 1999, an assistant professor
from September 1999 to March 2003 and an associate professor
from April 2003 to August 2023 at the School of Accounting and
Finance of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and has been
a Professor of Practice (Finance) at the School of Accounting and
Finance of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University since August
2023. Mr. JIANG has extensive expertise in finance and accounting
aspects from his academic background and substantial experience
in studying and analysing real-life scenarios and performances of
public companies.

Mr. JIANG graduated from Nankai University with a Bachelor
of Mathematics in 1984, received the Master of Business
Administration in Finance from York University in 1986 and also
the Doctor in Finance from Concordia University in 1995. Save as
disclosed herein, Mr. JIANG had not been a director of any other
listed companies in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EENGNEERE @)

Ms. YE Lu (E ), aged 62, is an independent non-executive
Director. She joined the Group on 18 May 2017 when she was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director.

Ms. YE Lu has more than 30 years of experience in cross border
commercial dispute resolution. Ms. YE joined King & Wood
Mallesons in 2004, and is currently a partner of King & Wood
Mallesons. Ms. YE used to be a Court member and Board member
of Singapore Court of International Arbitration and a Court
member of London Court of International Arbitration.

Ms. YE received the Bachelor of Laws from the Law School of
Peking University in June 1983, and received the Master of Laws
from the Law School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences
in June 1986, and also received the Master of Laws from the
Harvard Law School in June 1994. Ms. YE is qualified as a lawyer
in the People's Republic of China and has passed New York State
Bar Exam. Ms. YE had not been a director of any other listed
companies in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. LAl Tung Kwok (2 # Bl), aged 73, is an independent
non-executive Director, and joined the Company as independent
non-executive Director in May 2022. He was awarded GBS (Golden
Bauhinia Star), SBS (Silver Bauhinia Star), IDSM (Immigration
Distinguished Service Medals), JP (Justice of the Peace), former
Secretary for Security of Hong Kong, the Executive Vice Chairman of
the New People’s Party.

Mr. LAl joined the Immigration Department as Assistant Immigration
Officer in 1973. He was appointed by the Central People’s
Government as Director of Immigration from 2002 to 2008, by the
Chief Executive as Under Secretary of Security of Hong Kong from
2009 to 2012 and by the Central People’s Government as Secretary
of Security of Hong Kong from 2012 to 2017. Mr. LAl has been the
executive Vice Chairman of the New People’s Party since 2018 and
has been a Legislative Council member (Election Committee) of the
HKSAR since 1 January 2022.

Mr. LAl Tung Kwok received Bachelor of Laws (Honours) from
University of London (External) in 1989. Mr. LAl had not been a
director of any other listed companies in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EREEE

Name Gender Age Position

## =] F iR %%

LI Yingjie Male 43 Chief Financial Officer
M R ES BREMBE

LI Yijin Female 54 Chief Audit Executive
F5H o8 EitR

Mr. LI Yingjie (RIEEZ), aged 43, is the chief financial officer
of the Company, and joined the Group in 2014. He is primarily
responsible for the management of the accounting and finance
departments of the Group. Mr. LI has more than 15 years of
experience in accounting and auditing. He was the director of
internal audit of the Company from September 2014 to April
2019, and has served as the chief financial officer of the Company
since May 2019.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. LI worked as the manager of
internal audit in Galaxy Entertainment Group Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 27) from 2010 to 2014,
and acted as senior auditor in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from
2005 to 2010. He graduated from Sun Yat-sen University and
received a bachelor of arts in 2005. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. LI had not
been a director of any other listed companies in Hong Kong or
overseas in the past three years.

Ms. LI Yijin (Z253#), aged 54, is the chief audit executive of the
Company, and joined the Group in 2001. She is responsible for the
internal control matters of the Group.

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Directors and Senior

Management — Executive Directors” above for the biography of
Ms. LI.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. HUNAG Minjie (E#8(2€), aged 47, is the company secretary
of the Company, and joined the Group in May 2006. She was
appointed as the company secretary on 23 April 2024 and is
responsible for the secretarial matters of the Group. She has
nearly 20 years of working experience in the field of legal and
compliance and is an associate with the designations of Chartered
Secretary and Chartered Governance Professional in The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute. She graduated from
Shenzhen University in 2000 with a Bachelor’s Degree in Laws,
specialising in International Economic Law. She graduated from
the University of Paris X, specialising in International and European
Commercial Litigation, and the University of Paris Xll, specialising
in Trade and International Affairs, with a Master’s Degree in Laws
and a Master’s Degree in Trade and International Affairs in 2003
and 2004, respectively. She also obtained a Master’'s Degree in
Corporate Governance from Hong Kong Metropolitan University in
2021.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

During the year and up to the date of this report, there is no
changes in information of Directors required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ABOUT THE REPORT

Introduction

The Group (or we) prepared and released the Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG"”) Report 2024 (“Report”), which is in
compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out in Appendix C2
of the Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) and is based on the Group’s actual
conditions. The Report presents the Group’s environmental and
social policies, strategies, practices and performance in 2024. For
more information on corporate governance, please refer to the
“Corporate Governance Report” of the annual report.

Reporting Period and Scope

This Report supplements the remaining parts of the Group’s annual
report and discloses performance and progress on sustainable
development from 1 January to 31 December 2024. The scope of
this Report covers the Company and its major subsidiaries. The
information stated in this Report was obtained from the Group's
various reports and records of daily operations.

Reporting Principles

Materiality: We conduct stakeholder communication and materiality
assessments annually to identify significant environmental,
social and governance issues. For more details, please refer to
“Stakeholder Communication and Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” sections.

Quantitative: The standards, methodologies and source of
conversion factors used in calculating the data are disclosed in due
course.

Consistency: This Report has been prepared in a consistent manner
with previous years in order to enhance coherence and provide
a meaningful comparison with previous years’ performance.
Appropriate disclosure and explanation will be provided for any
changes in methodologies.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE #HE2REBRE @)

Feedback

The Group considers sustainable development as its imperative
long-term goal. We would highly appreciate any comments on
improving the content and information delivery of this Report. If
you have any queries or suggestions, please feel free to contact us.

Contacts
Goldpac Group Limited

Address: Room 1301, 13th Floor,

Bank of East Asia, Harbour View Centre,

No. 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2838 6202

Fax: (852) 2834 6759
Email: goldpac@goldpac.com

SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT
Governance Structure

As one of the major suppliers in offering smart secure payment
total solutions in the world, the Group upholds the mission of
“Making Transactions More Secure and Convenient” and the
vision of “Becoming a Trustworthy Provider for Fintech Products
and Services” to deliver quality products and services for customers
across the world.

The Board understands the importance of sustainable development
for the community and the Group itself, actively integrates
ESG (including climate-related) factors into important business
decisions and is committed to being a responsible leader in the
industry. The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s ESG
(including climate-related) issues and the Board acknowledges its
responsibility to ensure the integrity of the Report and to the best
of its knowledge that this Report addresses all material issues and
fairly presents the Group’s ESG performance. The Board confirms
that it has reviewed and approved this Report.

We are concurrently in possession of certificates from Visa,
MasterCard, American Express, China UnionPay, JCB and Diners
Club. Ensuring product quality and customer data security are
defined as our top priorities. At the same time, we endeavour to
explore and investigate suitable corporate operational processes to
cohere with the Group’s sustainability development pattern. We
have been recognised in the field of ESG and won some awards
for ESG in recent years.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

o Wind ESG Rating — A

o SA8000 Social Responsibility Management System
Certification

° 2022 CLSeESG ZhiYuan Award — Social (S) Pioneer Enterprise
Award

. 2023 CLSeESG ZhiYuan Award — Governance (G) Pioneer
Enterprise Award

. 2024 CLSeESG ZhiYuan Award — Governance (G) Pioneer
Enterprise Award

° 2024 KPMG China Corporate Governance Pioneers Award

° 2024 China Business Law Journal In-House Counsel Awards:
In-house Impact Award

. 2024 China Business Law Journal In-House Counsel Awards:
In-house Innovation Award

The Group is committed to integrating its businesses with the
development of environment and society, pursuing a sustainable
development. We have established an effective ESG governance
structure.
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During the year, we continued to promote the collection and
reporting of environmental and social performance information
through collaboration among various departments, e.g. internal
control department, human resource department, administration
department, engineering department and etc. Staff at all levels
fully cooperated with sustainability management work to
implement the concept of sustainable development into practice.

The Board oversees the overall management of the Group’s risks,
continually monitoring the Group’s risk management and internal
control system and reviewing their effectiveness through Audit
Committee. The Group has in place a risk management framework,
which enables the Group to adopt a proactive and systematic
approach to identify risks (including ESG and climate-related risks
and opportunities), evaluate severity and likelihood of occurrence,
and formulate relevant response measures to effectively manage
the risks based on the evaluation result.

In order to manage sustainable development better, we
continuously communicate with stakeholders, assess and prioritise
the identified ESG issues based on their materiality, and set up
key goals and work plans. For goals and measures, please refer to
“Environmental Management” section.

In pursuit of environmental sustainability, the Group complies
with all related environmental laws, regulations (Appendix 1) and
standards. With the energy saving, emission reduction and waste
management as key aspects, we established a series of internal
procedures and systems to help our employees properly handle the
wastes generated in the operation process. As a result, we are able
to enhance operation efficiency, reduce the negative impact on the
environment, and fully shoulder the responsibility of environmental
protection.

The Group not only abides by relevant laws and regulations relating
to employment and safety (Appendix 1), but also pays considerable
attention to employee welfare and safety. We established the
Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Policy to create an inclusive, fair,
safe, healthy, and pleasant work environment for our staff.
Moreover, through well-established management procedures and
comprehensive training programs, we offer employees ample room
for development, to realise the talent sustainable development.

Appendix 1 presents the list including but not limited to laws and
regulations relating to ESG issues and with significant impacts on
the Group.

We are grateful to every stakeholder for their support on our
growth and improvement. In order to lay a solid foundation for
the success of our sustainable development, we have made great
efforts to understand opinions suggested by stakeholders, e.g.
investors, customers, suppliers, employees, community. We have
established multiple communication channels for stakeholders to
deliver their comments on our ESG performance and future policies
to us.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BiE HE2REB/BHRE @)

Stakeholders Areas of concern Communication and engagement channels
FEABS BEiEEE BERSHERE
Investors e Financial performance e Annual general meeting
e Business strategies e Regular disclosure on financial and operational
e Operation compliance and corporate information
governance e Investor relations management
e Sustainable development and risk control e The Group’s website
e Social media, e.g. WeChat official account
BEE . BEER . BEAE
C XBRE e . THEBYBEERELES
- SRlsEmpgEL c BAEHRER
e AINBERERARER . ﬁ%@,ﬁ\ﬁ s -
o HAREEE  WMEIEE T AR
Customers e Product and service quality e Customer service specialist
e (Client information security e Customer satisfaction survey
e Business ethics e The Group's website
e Social media, e.g. WeChat official account
EF - ERREHEE - EERBIA
- BPfEER2 « REREEAT
. BEET o REEEG
o MRER  WMEEFARN
Suppliers e Fair competition and dealing e Supplier site visit
e Mutual benefit and long-term cooperation e Regular assessments
e Business ethics e Continuous direct communications
frER o RYWFUEXH J T F’%Fﬁiﬁiﬁiﬁﬁ
- DRABERSBAE o AT
N EE S . ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ%@
Employees e Training and development e Management mailbox
e Remuneration and welfare policies e Performance assessments
e QOccupational health and safety e Employee trainings
e Equal opportunities and culture inclusion ¢ Internal exchange forum
BT o EUMBE . EREREHE
o B RAEFIRE o EXEHE
c BERBERS o BTSN
e FERBHEBER o NEBRIMEHAE
Community e Fair employment and opportunities e Regular communications about society issues
e Environmental protection and neighborhood
e Support community development e Social Media, e.g. WeChat Official Account
e Community activities
#HE s RNIBEHKS e THER BIMERE
. iﬁiﬁﬁ%a% o (ERIREE - MEMEE AR
o ZHHEHERE e HEEY
Government e Operation compliance e Forums, thematic meetings, trainings
e Business strategies and sustainability e Visiting relevant government departments
e Regular compliance reports
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE #HE2REBRE @)

We believe that proactive two-way communications with
stakeholders can better align business strategies with their
expectations and requirements. It enhances risk forecasting,
strengthens key relationships, and jointly achieves sustainable
development in economies, society and environment.

Materiality Assessment

We identified 26 ESG issues with reference to industry-related laws
and regulations, the important topics identified by global industry
peers, the business scope of the Group, ESG risks identified,
macro policies and hot topics. Questionnaires and interviews
were conducted to understand the views of management and
stakeholders on these issues, and to assess the materiality of these
issues. The results serve as an important basis for the preparation
of this Report and the enhancement of future sustainable
development efforts. The assessment result has been reviewed and
approved by the Board.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRI HE2RER/HRE (@)

Environment Protection BiE {7 &

1. Usage and recycling of materials 7.  Wasted water discharge and reduction measures
R 2 B K B B A AR B R B 7K BE BN R HE B 5

2. Energy consumption and saving measures 8.  R&D on clean technologies and green products ;
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3. Usage of water resources and saving measures 9.  Compliance with environmental laws and f_
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4.  Greenhouse gas emissions and reduction measures
B RSP R B R B 10. Protection of biodiversity
REEMZ KM
5. Wastes and their disposal
BEMNEENREE 11. Concerns for and responses to climate change
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6.  Air pollutant emissions and reduction measures %
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Employee and Community ET R & é
12. Talent management policies and status 16. Anti-Child and Anti-Forced labour =
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15. Internal communications
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE #HE2REBRE @)

Looking ahead, we will interact with stakeholders and review
our performance as always. We persist in fulfilling the social
and environmental responsibilities, fine-tuning our sustainability
initiatives and integrating our business with environmental
management and social impact to stimulate business growth.

INFORMATION SECURITY AND DATA
PROTECTION

The Group believes that information security is the primary
prerequisite for creating secure and quality financial technology
services, and we have always attached a strategic importance
on the application of information security technologies and the
protection of information security.

The Group strictly complies with applicable laws and regulations
and adheres to information security and data protection. The
compliance risk of newly issued laws, regulations and regulatory
requirements is also a key concern. As one of the global leaders
in total solutions in the field of smart and secure payments,
the Group has established its management system regarding
to information security and data protection in strict compliance
with the 1ISO27001 information security management system and
the PCI (Payment Card Industry) card production requirements.
The Group has also passed the Security Accreditation Scheme
of GSMA, the Global System for Mobile Communications
Association. Our R&D environment has also passed on-site
testing for security certification by the International Chip Card
Standardisation Organisation (EMVCo). The Group engages
third-party organisations to conduct system compliance inspections
annually, which can effectively ensure the reliability of the
Group’s management system of information security and data
protection. Meanwhile, the Information Security Management
System Manual and its subordinate documents were issued to all
the staffs within the Group, which comprehensively defines the
security management structure and information security objectives
and planning, and specifies the specific security requirements for
information processing.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Based on the nature of technological innovation in the Group,
we have continuously increased our investment in digital
transformation and platform building, proactively using information
technologies to identify and control risks with a comprehensive
upgrade of the information security system software and hardware.
The Group was granted by the certifications of 1ISO/IEC20000
Information Technology Service Management System in 2020,
CMMI Maturity Level 5 — Optimisation Level (the highest level
internationally used to evaluate the maturity of an enterprise’s
software development capabilities) in 2021, and ITSS (Information
Technology Service Standards) Information Technology Operation
and Maintenance Service Capability Maturity Level 3 in 2022. The
development of Internet technologies increases the risk of hacking
attacks, which are continuous and constantly changing. The
Group’s top management has authorised the Information Security
Management Team to formulate information security policies,
taking into account the internal and external circumstances of the
Group. We consistently adhere to the information security policy of
“full participation, prevention-oriented, risk control and continuous
improvement”, doing a comprehensive job in all-oriented
information security control and data protection, and aiming to
provide a safer, more convenient and more accurate services to our
customers.
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The Group places a strong emphasis on cultivating information
security risk awareness among its employees. With “integrity”
as the core of our corporate culture and values and rooted in
personnel management, we prevent security issues through
efficient implementation of security systems and comprehensive
internal oversight checks. The Group permeates the management
of information security in all aspects of its operations. Through
security awareness training, all staff to be equipped with risk
awareness, actively participate in the security management
process, and assume the corresponding security responsibilities.
When signing employment contracts, employees are required to
sign a Non-Disclosure Agreement. We also insist on doing annual
information security training for all staff to heighten employees’
risk perception, and continuously refine the security system
through risk assessment. In daily work, the Group reinforces the
security awareness of employees. The Group forbids employees to
send information to unauthorised colleagues or outsiders, or copy
any confidential information and/or sensitive information.

Apart from fostering information security management within
the Group, the Group also assists local community to promote
anti-fraud training to raise public awareness of protecting sensitive
information. We are also subject to security checks by industry
regulators, card organisations, customers and professional bodies
at all times. We successfully passed the annual certification audit
and flight inspection of China UnionPay, as well as the industry
management on-site audit and regulatory assessment of over 200
customers, which again ensured the reliability of our services and
achieved high standards of security management.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

Our commitment to upholding the highest level of business ethics
and integrity connects to what we do and we believe, and which is
also our competitive advantage.

Product and Service Quality

Following the quality policy “All for better meeting customer
requirements, exceeding customer expectations and improving
customer satisfaction!”, the Group pursues to achieve operational
excellence in line with the value of “Customer-oriented”. Guided
by such policy, the Group has established a quality management
system supported by a set of policy documents, e.g. Quality
Manual for Payment Products, Quality Manual for Data Processing
Services and subordinate documents. The Group has successfully
renewed the 1SO9001 Quality Management System Certificate in
2024 (valid until 2027). With the joint efforts of all departments,
our products and services are subject to strict security standards
and comply with the requirements of relevant laws and regulations.
The Group has been granted certifications by the six global credit
card organisations.

Regarding product quality, we have established quality
management department, which is in charge of carrying out
quality check during the operating process for raw materials,
goods in progress and finished goods, in accordance with quality
management system and industry requirements. Unqualified
products will be analysed and reviewed, adjusted, improved,
re-manufactured or even disposed according to the Unqualified
Products Control Procedure. If the products need to be recalled,
we will arrange the logistics provider to pick up and return the
products, and quality management department will be responsible
for the return inspection of the products. Those products will
be adjusted, improved or re-manufactured based on the specific
situations, and then re-deliver to customers. In 2024, there was no
occurrence of any recall of the Group’s products sold or delivered
due to safety and health concerns.
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In terms of customer service, we dedicate in offering high quality
services to our customers. The Group leverages the new generation
of information technologies such as Al and cloud computing to
build a digital UMV platform, which provides customers with
one-stop and digitally-integrated services. Meanwhile, the Group
also has professional sales staff, technicians and customer service
staff who are responsible for order tracking and servicing. Both
our product quality and services and communication have received
a high appraisal from customers with customer satisfaction above
95% in the past 5 years. Our Customer Complaint Management
Procedure defines the measures and procedures in dealing with
customer complaints, by which we effectively enhance our internal
management, assist customers to solve problems and drive
continuous improvements in customer satisfaction according to
customer suggestions. We also built a special team to record,
internally coordinate and summarise customer complaints for
future reference. In 2024, the Group received 35 complaints (28
cases in 2023). After receiving customer complaints, we put them
on record, verified the details, informed relevant departments to
investigate, worked out solutions and fed back to customers. We
followed up customers’ opinions after implementing the solutions.
For customer complaints received during the year, we provided
feedback to customers within two working days, and most of
the complaints were closed in the same month or the following
month. During 2024, we did not find any cases about privacy leak
or significant accidents that have material effects on the Group in
terms of product quality and services.

The Group has data processing centres in Zhuhai and Shanghai,
and has established a comprehensive disaster preparedness
emergency plan, with all departments on standby at all times to
continuously improve business capability with quick response and
efficient resolution of customer problems, so as to bring convenient
and satisfactory services to customers. During emergencies such as
the Covid epidemic, we utilised the advantage of mutual backup of
data processing centres to ensure daily production operation and
timely delivery of orders, providing reliable services and support to
financial institution customers, and received thank-you letters from
many customers.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

After winning the Best Support Award in 2023, we were awarded
the Excellent Service Award by the China Guangfa Bank Credit
Card Centre in 2024, which is an affirmation of our exceptional
service quality and sincere service attitude.

The Group attaches importance to the protection of intellectual
property and has established a comprehensive intellectual property
management system through the Intellectual Property Management
Manual and other relevant management documents to regulate
the management of intellectual property such as patents,
trademarks and copyrights. We have renewed the Intellectual
Property Compliance Management System Certification (valid until
2028). The Group is acutely aware of the risks stemming from
intellectual property laws and regulations. We identify, gather
and update applicable intellectual property legal information
and other requirements in a timely manner and communicate
them to employees. And for the intellectual property risks which
may be encountered in the R&D activities, we have established
the mechanism of patent search, including searching before
the establishment of the R&D projects, then tracking during the
developing process, and managing after we finalise the output, so
as to avoid the duplication of R&D projects, and protect the R&D
results. We do application checks before starting the application of
patents. And we established a sound patent monitoring mechanism
to ensure the patent always presents an available state. We clarify
the rights and obligations of intellectual property for both parties
in the procurement contracts, in order to avoid patent infringement
risk and minimise the patent infringement liability. We also monitor
our intellectual property rights in the product market, timely track
and investigate if our intellectual property rights are infringed, and
actively take measures to protect our rights. During the year, we
invited a lawyer who specialised in intellectual property rights to
conduct training on copyright and common infringement risks and
prevention for relevant personnel.

The Group also adheres to relevant laws and business ethics in
advertising and marketing. All product brochures we provide are
reviewed to ensure the completeness and accuracy of information.
Product design and use of product logo are strictly in accordance
with the requirements of credit card organisations. In 2024,
the Group was not aware of any material breaches of laws and
regulations relating to privacy, health and safety, advertising,
labelling and the products and services provided.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE #HE2REBRE @)

Product Innovation

The Group has been upholding the core values of “Virtue,
Innovation, Efficiency and Cooperation”, keeping pace with market
development and customer needs, and continuously strengthening
technological innovation to forge superior quality. We continue
to promote the innovative development of payment diversification
and accelerate our digital and platform-based development
strategy to build an innovative ecosystem of secure payment
value chain. The Group not only launches its independent and
controllable embedded software and products to satisfy the needs
of the Chinese market, but also introduces embedded software
and secure payment products that comply with the technical
specifications required by international markets and meet the
diverse needs of various countries through localised development.

Collaborating with the Agricultural Bank of China, we launched
a digital RMB hardware wallet, small size but with powerful
functions. It integrates a number of advanced technologies and
has the advantages of “Touchable, Visible and Scannable”.
“Touchable” refers to the NFC function, which allows users to
complete payments or check balances simply by tapping the
device. "Visible” means that the hardware wallet is equipped
with high-definition e-ink screen, enabling users to clearly
see transaction information and wallet balance at a glance.
“Scannable” refers to the function of displaying dynamic payment
QR code, and users can directly scan the code to pay, which
greatly improves the convenience of using the hardware wallet in
small businesses and other scenarios. In addition, the battery life
of this digital RMB hardware wallet can last up to 6 months, and
it is equipped with magnetic charging function, alleviating users
concerns about power outages.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

In 2024, we were honoured with the Silver Award in the
“Stationery and Office Material Printing: Others” category of
the 35th Hong Kong Print Awards with our financial IC metal
card, which highlighted our leading advantages in card design
and printing technology. Building on our expertise in advanced
printing techniques, we also integrate cutting-edge AIGC (Artificial
Intelligence Generated Content) technology into our metal card
customisation services. Customers can freely choose card images
and switch to Al styles, which meets the personalised consumption
demands of modern consumers and creates truly unique metal card
products.
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Silver Award in the “Stationery and Office Material Printing: Others” category of the 35th Hong Kong Print Awards
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Based on years of experience in the field of financial secure
payments, the Group continues to advance the integration and
application of security authentication technologies and solutions
across multiple domains. We have launched a range of SIM card
products that meets the requirements of international operators,
including traditional SIM cards, l1oT SIM cards and 5G SIM cards.
These products are designed to support the transformation and
development of industries such as telecommunications, the Internet
of Things (loT) and the Internet of Vehicles (loV).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE #HE2REBRE @)

Green Product

As an excellent technology enterprise, the Group actively
undertakes corporate social responsibility, takes the lead in
practicing green and low-carbon development, and dedicates to
being a green and low-carbon practitioner in the Fintech industry.

Through years of technological iterations and breakthroughs in
environmental protection, the Group has developed a series of
low-carbon and eco-friendly card products, manufactured by
degradable materials, recyclable materials and bio-based modified
plastics, etc., with special processes and equipment suitable
for eco-friendly card products. The Group’s eco-friendly card
products manufactured by raw materials certified by Underwriters
Laboratories (“UL") and INTERTEK have obtained a number of
patents on environmental protection.

The Group strives to innovative eco-friendly materials, and
has also developed a variety of card products with non-PVC
materials, including metal, porcelain, aluminum materials, etc.
Cards manufactured by innovative eco-friendly materials have the
advantages of high-end texture and long service life, which are
favoured by global banking customers. The Group’'s eco-friendly
card products can effectively reduce the impact on the ecological
environment during its whole product life cycle, contributing to
reducing plastic usage and carbon emission with technological
strength.

54 Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

We have won nearly 50 ICMA Elan Awards since 2004,
continuously driving the development of the financial payment
industry through technological innovation and high-quality services.
This year, we became the finalist of “Feature: Environmentally
Friendly Cards” with the new energy vehicle-themed card that
we launched in collaboration with Bank of Shanghai. The card is
made of degradable PETG material, and its design fully embodies
the green concepts. It encourages users to support the new energy
vehicle industry through their daily consumption behaviours,
reducing the pollution emissions from traditional fuel vehicles.

At Seamless Europe 2024, we co-branded with Kafer to offer an
interactive DIY photocard issuance experience for Seamless visitors.
Guests can try an instantly issued eco-photocard made with
repurposed coffee grounds.
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Eco-photocard made with repurposed coffee grounds
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According to Anti-Corruption Programme — A Guide for Listed
Companies released by the Hong Kong Independent Commission
Against Corruption, and in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations, the Group established Corruption Prevention System
in 2022, firmly stated the Group’s zero-tolerance of corruption,
further ensured the awareness of the roles and responsibilities
of each staff under the anti-corruption programme, upheld
the integrity requirements for directors and staff as well as the
corruption prevention requirements for all stakeholders. At the
same time, the Group also established Code of Conduct to set
out the basic standard of conduct expected of all directors and
staff, and the Group’s policy on acceptance of advantage and
declaration of conflict of interest when dealing with the Group’s
business.

Moreover, the Group’s Staff Manual explicitly outlines a
comprehensive code of conduct about anti-corruption measures
to enhance self-discipline among employees. Our Anti-Fraud
Reporting Management System strictly manages our businesses
with all business partners, including our customers, suppliers,
creditors, debtors and etc. We encourage stakeholders reporting
on any suspected behaviours against policies and protect the
whistleblowers against any punishment due to his/her accurate
report. The whistleblowers’ identities are strictly kept confidential
unless it is necessary for investigation, malicious reporting or
required by relevant laws and regulations. We fight against fraud
and bribery in any forms such as cash or gifts seriously.

Whistleblowers can report to the Chairman of the Group’s audit
committee or to the Chairman of the Board. Materials will be
forwarded to the other audit committee members for internal
investigation or to other department for investigations if it is in
line with the best interests of the Group. Regular reviews on our
management system ensure the compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations and their effectiveness.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

To prevent misconducts (such as bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering), the Group has adopted a series of preventive measures
and methods, such as prior monitoring, checks and balances
through segregation of duties, staff rotation, mandatory leave,
review and team strategies; reducing human intervention through
information-based financial system; conducting due diligence on
business partners and including integrity pledges and corruption
prevention clauses in relevant contracts. The Group conducts
training on business ethics including anti-corruption topics for
all directors and staff, such as special training on anti-corruption
systems and legal classes to popularise relevant legal knowledge and
cases among staff, so as to boost their legal compliance education.

We are the recipient of China Business Law Journal In-house Impact
Award 2024 for the Corruption Prevention System we created.
The China Business Law Journal is an influential legal and business
magazine in the Asia-Pacific region. The comprehensiveness,
representativeness, and authority of its awards have garnered
attention and recognition from the industry. The award we won
highlights our outstanding performance in legal compliance, risk
management, and business support.

During 2024, the Group did not notice any issues relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering or any other
misconduct which may have a material impact on the Group. And
there were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees.

Supply Chain Management

The Group believes that effective management on suppliers and
good cooperation with suppliers will help us reduce costs and
cooperation risks, improve the quality of products and services,
and build up an excellent brand. As such, we have developed
Supplier Evaluation and Control Procedures to ensure that the
Group's suppliers possess adequate capacity and maintain suitable
and reliable quality.
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We also maintain regular communication with suppliers to ensure
that both sides are well prepared to forecast capacity (mainly
monthly and quarterly) and supply. Where feasible, we will
prepare multiple suppliers so that, in addition to maintaining the
supply cost advantage, the Group has standby suppliers. Under
this mechanism, when a supplier is at risk in its supply chain, we
can quickly switch to another supplier to ensure that the product
can be completed on time. The Group maintains three or more
suppliers for major materials (financial chips, key base material
for cards, etc.) and smart kiosks. In addition to reasonable prices,
environmental and health considerations are also taken into
account in the procurement review. The Group will sign contracts
with suppliers based on a reasonable account period and payment
method, and suppliers are required to sign an Anti-Corruption
Commitment to emphasise the requirement of honest cooperation
between both sides. Moreover, the Group will cooperate with
suppliers to jointly explore the market, so as to promote long-term
cooperation and achieve win-win results.

During the year, the Group has 198 suppliers, 187 of which are
in the Chinese mainland and 11 in other regions. We evaluate our
suppliers annually, which are assessed from different perspectives
including application of new technologies, quality, delivery, cost,
environment, safety management and etc. Meanwhile, we track
the daily supply and service quality of our suppliers to form
monthly statistics, which serve as an important basis for the annual
review. According to 2024 annual supplier evaluation, 98% of
suppliers assessed as satisfactory (including 60% as of excellent
suppliers) and 2% are in need of continuous communication and
improvement. After each assessment, we issue the corresponding
evaluation report and update the list of qualified suppliers, so as to
provide reference for screening suppliers. We keep building healthy
relationships with supplies, achieving mutual benefits and growth.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

On the other hand, according to Risk Management Procedures, the
Group regularly conducts supply chain risks assessment, evaluates
the possibility and severity of related environmental and social risk
events, keeps communication with suppliers and formulates and
implements management measures to proactively control related
risks.

The Group was qualified the 1SO28000 Supply Chain Security
Management System Certification(valid until 2026) in 2023. As the
first batch of enterprises in the field of smart secure payment to
acquire the 1SO28000 certification, we always pay close attention
to supply chain security management to ensure the entire process
(from the procurement, production, services, warehousing to
delivery) to stay safe and controllable.

Increasing the proportion of eco-friendly products or renewable
materials is a key strategy of the Group’s long-term development.
We actively promote green procurement practice, and during
supplier assessment, suppliers are required to ensure that their
products comply with 1SO14001 and HSF (Hazardous Substance
Free), and will not contain the materials that are harmful to the
environment and human body and are prohibited by Chinese
standards and EU RoHS (Restriction of Hazardous Substances).
For products using eco-friendly materials, we will evaluate and
record the supplier's environment-related certifications, including
UL safety certification and Forest Stewardship Council (FSC)
certification for the supplier's products and supply chain. In
the meantime, the Group reviews suppliers regularly to check
whether the relevant production control procedures conducive to
environmental protection are properly managed and implemented,
and continuously introduces biodegradable or recycled raw
materials to improve the sustainability of the products. Moreover,
along with the industry’s acceptance and maturity of eco-friendly
products, we will look for new suppliers and run product testing
in advance to gradually increase the proportion of eco-friendly
products.
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Within the year, we actively participated in industry exchanges,
such as the Innovative Applications of Security Chips Forum
organised by Tongxin Micro and the 2024 Identity Recognition
Technology Summit. We also hosted the workshops about how
Fintech outsourcing to facilitate the digital transformation of the
banks, where we explored the optimal pathways for bank digital
transformation with our esteemed guests. These events attracted
numerous authoritative experts and industry elites, who collectively
discussed the cutting-edge developments in industry technologies
and how to promote innovation and development across the entire
industry. By close collaboration with partners throughout the
upstream and downstream of the industry chain, we jointly explore
new opportunities in the bank card industry to achieve win-win
development.

A4 4 Goldpac
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Accomplishing Bank Digital Transformation through Fintech Outsourcing Workshop
EEFIBI OB RITEFENEETFE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

Our main principles in environmental sustainability are to
diminish consumption of materials and energy and optimise
waste management, achieving the “energy saving and
emission reduction” goal, and to reduce negative influence on
eco-environment, creating an eco-friendly enterprise.

As a comparatively low-energy consuming enterprise (at average
around 11 MWh/RMB million revenue), the Group still pays high
attention to environmental management. The Group’s major
impacts to the environment were mainly resulted from the energy
consumption and emission caused by daily operations such as
electricity, water, and transportation. Through risk control and
measures on minimising resource usage, we continue to monitor

the impacts on the human being and the environment. The &EEIETHRE AN - FEUEKE QG T s .
Group has strictly abided by all relevant environmental laws and  FEH AR IRIZ AR AR « R2024F A » 3 ®
regulations in the Chinese mainland, Hong Kong and other regions AREBCETEMBEE KL= REIM - i
where the Group's subsidiaries locate. In 2024, we complied with \/KE THEEES BEREBEEHEEYH £
the relevant laws and regulations relating to air and greenhouse EAZUHAEERFSAZENHABLAER g
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation #R7F - R AW EMEHIRE kAR ER 2
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste which had a significant EEEBEMEAREBEKREAFLENITA ° 5
impact on the Group, and we did not find any practices or issues Sem
caused by environmental problems that may significantly influence 2 %fm
the environment or the Group. IS §;L

Guided by standards under the ISO 14001 Environmental
Management System and referring to environmental factors, the
Group has established an environmental management system
in which Environment and Occupational Health and Safety
Management Manual provides the general guidelines and other
subordinate documents describe the implementation details, in
order to make best utilisation of raw materials and resources
and to reduce pollution, eventually realising the sustainable
development goal. In addition, management designates
environmental management representative to communicate
with stakeholders and understand their opinions, to confirm
environmental management plans and internal approval, and
to report to the CEO to ensure the environmental management
system functions well.
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To maximise the value of stakeholders, the Group integrates
environmental protection concepts with its business to realise
the vision of eco-friendly and a harmonious development mode
between economy and environment.

The Group’s energy consumptions are mainly due to electricity
usage in operation facilities and office activities, and fuels used
by vehicles. We have strengthened the management of resource
usage by a series of management procedures, such as Energy
and Resource Consumption Control Procedures, Regulations on
Electricity Consumption, and Regulations on Automobile Safety.
We make timely adjustments to the supply and usage of electricity
including lighting system, air conditioning system, ventilating and
operation facilities. We analyse the energy efficiency based on the
collected data and computed statistics. If any exceptions are noted,
necessary improvements will be carried out. We actively implement
the concept of “energy saving and emission reduction” and adopt
a series of control measures to improve energy efficiency:

o Electrical engineers should be qualified to guarantee an
effective allocation and management of electricity to avoid
waste;

o Electrical facilities shall be switched on and off at the right
time and shall be at closed state when off duty or when
people leave the offices;

o Carrying out energy saving projects, such as air pressure
system improvement, installation of central dust collection
system, using energy-saving lamps in the workshop and
offices;

o Automatic modification of central air conditioning in office
area to achieve smart control;

o Regular maintenance of air conditioning equipment to ensure
cooling effect;

o Considering energy-saving equipment when purchasing new
equipment;

o Regular vehicle inspections and maintenance to maintain
engine efficiency and reduce fuel waste;

o Planning driving routes in advance to optimise fuel
consumption.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRI HE2RER/HRE (@)

Energy consumption figures are summarised as follows: BERHRLERERBEBMAT - -
2024 53
Resource type Unit 2023  Unit 2023 Target _
2024 @
HRESR B B REFEE 2
Unleaded petrol Litre 8,868 9,563 MWh 86 93 Py
o 5 K LS 3iK
Diesel oil Litre 9,135 7,945  MWh 98 85 Rsg
e F K L B =R
Electricity (total) kWh 12,368,185 13,322,495 MWh 12,368 13,322
B (A5 T FL B JK L
Power grid kWh 11,841,437 13,322,495 MWh 11,841 13,322
BH TR KR
Photovoltaic power kWh 526,748 - MWh 527 - s
HREE TR K FL B 536
Total energy consumption MWh 12,552 13,500 @?q&
BREEGE YK ELBS g o
Energy intensity MWh/RMB 11 10 10 goH
BEREE million =
revenue 5
SKEE Sow
AR E %L
HEUWA £ 54
)
Notes: #EiT - s
1. The above consumption figures’ calculation methods and relevant conversion 1. A reeREEENtE s RAEEBRATFD ‘ gsﬁ
factors refer to How to Prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting DREBT TN AEFIRE e REE B, o8
guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange and Energy Ha&—fitr = BRI AEVIEIEERIES| YA éﬁ;g
Statistics Manual — Annex 3 Units and Conversion Equivalents issued by the LB RBHMOCGERSBEFM—HiE=8 é § éfl_ﬂ:
International Energy Agency. R REBREE) - E = é!;
2. In 2024, the Group's revenue was approximately RMB1,095 million (2023: 2. H2024%F - REFEHW AL ARKET,0958 87T -
approximately RMB1,417 million). This figure is also used to calculate other (20235 - HARB1,417EET) - 2 EHA o
intensity data. R EH 2 E e - Sk=
o Qdu
3. Rrooftop photovoltaic power in Zhuhai Tech Park was put into operation in 3. HKEBERPEENREILR2024F ERIRAGE gé;
2024. B o
The Group’s total energy consumption in 2024 decreased as ZANEBE2024F LR EREALRSE2023F B F é o
compared to 2023, but affected by the decline in revenue, the T - BFU A THEEE  KEFE20245E 8w
Group's energy intensity in 2024 was 11 MWh/RMB million gRZE BIIKEE AREHEKA - igi;'ﬁ
revenue, which was unable to achieve its target for 2024. The KEEEIRH2024FHFEZTEEE - KEH § .

Group will continue to implement various measures to enhance [JEEBZERNTTIRA BRI ZEE K &
energy efficiency and endeavour to achieve its 2025 energy S EIR2025F R BEEZREEBEE11K R
consumption intensity target of 11 MWh/RMB million revenue. BOAREBSERA -

Financial
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IRE ﬁé&”ﬁﬁ%ﬁ>

In terms of water consumption, our operation activities do
not involve massive water usage. Our water consumption is
mainly from daily office and life activities. Our water source is
municipal water supply and we do not face any problem or risk
in accessing sufficient water source. Administration department
and engineering department are responsible for daily management
and control of water consumption, collecting and analysing
monthly consumption figures. We are committed to reducing
water consumption and saving water by taking measures such
as water meters installed at key water nodes to monitor changes
in water usage. This allows us to promptly detect and address
any anomalies. We also advocate water-saving information
to employees to improve their water-saving awareness and
encourage them to develop a habit of conscious water use. Water
consumption figures are listed below:

KERERFTE BMNELBETEFRL
RERKHIF TEKERBEEBET
HEHQ  £FH  RMOBUKKIRA
K - 7N E B Sk EUE f KR 77 E A E
BRER -THHRIEHBATEHKER
HEETAEBEEES st MEAE
FEER - RO ABDFEK - BLHORAK:
RERMEBARKEGEERKETEEX
EREERKESL I RFERIER
EE MEILSEHEHHKEESE ReE8
THHEHR SEEIERMHNAKNE
B AKRERERBHBMDOT :

Resource type Unit 2023 2024 Target
ERER By 2024 7KW B 1R
Total water consumption Tonne 53, 595 68,906
BIRKBE i
Water efficiency Tonne/RMB 49 49 50
million revenue
K & WE, AR
BERKRA

The Group successfully achieved its water efficiency target for
2024. The Group will continue to implement various measures
to conserve water and endeavour to achieve the water efficiency
target of 50 tonnes/RMB million revenue in 2025.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Zhuhai Fintech Center has verified in the green building project
and the “Sponge city” project. Its green area rate has up to
30.11%, and it is designed with “sponge” facilities such as sunken
green areas and rain gardens, which can effectively reuse rainwater
and other resources, aiming to build a green park.

In addition, the Group also established OA system to promote
paperless office, achieving paperless operation of office processes
such as document release and process approval. Double-sided
or multi-page printing is encouraged to reduce paper waste. We
post warning signs around printers and copiers to remind staff not
to over-print to avoid unnecessary paper waste. The Group also
advocates the “Clean your plate” initiative to reduce food waste.

Emissions Reduction

In order to effectively reduce the emission of various pollutants,
the Group strictly complies with applicable laws and regulations
and have formulated specific pollution preventing procedures to
standardise pollutant emission processes from business operations
and office activities, and to control the discharge and release of
exhaust air, greenhouse gas, sewage and noise.

Each department is responsible for the control and prevention of
the possible water, air and noise pollutions generated during their
operation and office activities. Engineering department takes the
responsibility of regular maintenance and management of the
equipment. Quality management department works together with
qualified testing organisations to monitor pollutions. They will
compare the testing results with standards set by relevant laws
and regulations and report to the environmental management
representative. Once any inconformity is noted, departments
involved have to investigate and solve the issue in accordance with
Corrective and Preventive Measures Control Procedures, and then
propose improvement measures.

BiE HE2REB/BHRE @)
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“EIBERESRTRRBY B K
E5030.11% @ AHEBRKLEE - FMR
GHBEBRE ERERRKSERA
A SETEREER -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE #HE2REBRE @)

In 2024, independent testing organisation has tested the quality
of noise, sewage and exhaust air in Goldpac Tech Park located in
Zhuhai. It indicates a qualified result when comparing with relevant
national standards or local standards in Guangdong Province.

The main sources of the Group’s exhaust air emission come from
fuel combustion, vehicle exhaust and volatile organic compounds
("VOCs") during operating processes. Based on the Group's
records on fuel and vehicles usage, we calculate and convert the
amount of air pollutant emissions as presented below:

MR2024F - REBKEEE KRB RAIR
RS BORB R ETT W - BEKFIREE
RESBETRR FRETIKEREEFSG
B RS ERE T HERIE S o

AEBRERFBREZRMAE 7=
ERMEZLBEPELENEELEERY
(VOCGs) - iRIBA L BRF REWMOERB
o MERBERSRAMPERENT

Air pollutants Unit 2024 Target
BRSEY B 2023 2024HEBZ
Sulfur oxides (SOx) KG 0.3 0.3 0.3
W& k¥ (SOx) NI
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) KG 144 124 124
A&/t (NOx) NI
Particulate matter (PM) KG 7 6 6
FERLY) (PM) NS

Note: The above emission figures’ calculation methods and relevant emission factors
refer to How to Prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting guidance on
Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange.

Due to the increase in kilometres travelled by trucks, the emissions
in 2024 have increased compared with that of 2023. The Group
will continue to monitor vehicle usage, regularly inspect and
maintain vehicles, reduce fuel waste and optimise fuel consumption
in an effort to achieve the 2025 emissions target which should be
essentially the same level of emissions as in 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Group's operation and office activities, such as fuel
combustion, vehicle fuel usage and electricity consumption,
lead to both direct and indirect carbon emissions. We dedicate
to integrating the concept of environmental protection into our
corporate culture and encourage low-carbon office activities.

BiE HE2REB/BHRE @)
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During daily operation, we actively advocate employees’ awareness
of environmental protection through documents, slogans,
training, publicity boards and etc. Environmental and occupational
health and safety training is not only a mandatory item for new
employees, but also a regular item for all employees every year.
The emissions of greenhouse gases are presented as below:

2024
Major Events
2024F KFiL

Scope of greenhouse

gas (CO,e) emissions  Unit 2023 Intensity Unit 2023 2024 Target

BERE

(CEtREE) 2024 5

FRER By REEQ HME R éj

Scope [: direct emission  Tonne 49 47 Tonne/RMB 0.045 0.033 0.1 g ;%i
million revenue %;;

BE—EERK W LYIN:S h
BEKA s

Scope II: indirect Tonne 6,357 10,350  Tonne/RMB 6 7 8 ; ES\BH

emission million revenue 2 %Ei

BEZCBEER W LYIN:L: g B%

EL LN iz

Note: The above emission figures’ calculation methods and relevant emission factors
refer to How to Prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting guidance
on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange. The calculation of
2023 figures refers to Baseline emission factors of China’s regional power
grids for emission reduction projects in 2021, while the calculation for 2024
figures refers to Announcement on the release of carbon dioxide emission
factor for electricity in 2022 published by the Chinese Ministry of Ecology
and Environment and Sustainability Report 2023 released by HK Electric
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Investments. w o4
s S
The major sources of the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions AEER SRR A E M hE A §§i}
are direct greenhouse gases emission from fuel consumption HEEERERE R (BE—) RYES S
(Scope 1) and indirect greenhouse gases emission from electricity EAENEEREREEN(BE ) c As g
consumption (Scope II). The Group achieved 2024 emission BRI B 20244 8 =R AL & E — & E g :
intensity targets. We will endeavour to achieve the 2025 Scope  —yrpymnyg B 4= o 3 ] 125 45 B 120 55 & 1) 354
I 'and Scope Il emission intensity targets 0.1 tonne/RMB Million /& m 1w iHRG A5 AL+ 36 - %2 ) B I8 20254E & %éﬁ
revenue and 6 tonnes/RMB Million revenue, respectively, through & —fasE — woHE i & 2 & B 12010 A § <

monitoring the use of vehicles and energy saving measures.

REBEBWRAROH, ARBEBRA -
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In order to meet the emission standards of exhaust air and reduce
carbon emissions, we have developed a series of control measures:

o Upgrading VOCs exhaust gas processing system, the
processing efficiency increase by 40%. Specifically, the device
has the capacity to filter tiny PMs and VOCs are absorbed by
activated carbon. After desorption and catalytic combustion,
VOCs are finally decomposed into non-hazardous gases
and water, and then discharged into the atmosphere. The
desorbed adsorption material can be reused for adsorption
after cooling, which can largely reduce the replacement
frequency of activated carbon;

o Gradually replacing the high-VOCs printing ink by eco-friendly
UV ink;

o Adopting advanced technologies and processes to reduce
errors and wastes, and improve efficiencies;

o After entering the Tech Park, vehicles must stop and turn off
the engine to reduce exhaust emissions;

o Encouraging employees to choose public transportation;

o Using teleconferencing instead of business travel whenever
possible;

o Provision of rooftop to the green energy strategic partner of
SanXi T.1.0 City to invest in rooftop photovoltaic power.

The Group has been treating sewage and effluent according to
wastewater treatment plan made in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, to mitigate the impacts on the environment.
Zhuhai Fintech Center focuses on R&D-based projects, therefore
there is no discharge of wastewater from factories. The wastewater
treatment facilities, which can handle wastewater including
domestic sewage, can be used to monitor whether the discharge
standards are met.

Waste management is another key focus for the Group’s
environmental management. Under the requirements set out
in relevant laws and regulations, we published Waste Disposal
Control Procedures which manages the generation, storage,
marking and disposal of wastes, to pursue wastes deduction in
operation activities and to prevent and lower the negative impacts
on environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

We compile a detailed list of wastes annually to conduct a
comprehensive review on the waste production and treatment
and submit it to environmental management representative for
approval. Wastes are classified into non-hazardous wastes and
hazardous wastes, while the non-hazardous wastes are further
classified into non-recyclable non-hazardous wastes and recyclable
non-hazardous wastes. Through collaboration among departments,
specific waste management is designed to each type of wastes
according to their classifications. Departments where the wastes
are generated account for collection and storage. Administration
department is responsible to contact qualified waste management
contractors for treatment and final disposal of recyclable
non-hazardous wastes and hazardous wastes. For non-recyclable
non-hazardous wastes, they are disposed with the assistance of
the municipal sanitation department contacted by administration
department.

BE d2REAHRE @

BMEBFERHIBEENEE 2HEEER
MREEMEEBR  KARFEEERR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE #HE2REBRE @)

During reporting period, the Group’s wastes are mainly recyclable
non-hazardous wastes, e.g. leftover materials, wasted packaging
materials, wasted paper and etc. Hazardous wastes, mainly from
printing process, account for only a small part of total wastes.
Our waste management system, following the five principle of
“Optimisation, Replace, Reuse, Recycle and Reduction”, allows
most of the materials to be recycled so that environmental impacts
were significantly reduced. Wastes-related figures are presented as
below:

RABERA  REEEEHETEZ LA M
W—RERY TEZREMAE AR BE
ENEEYE BRORAAE -BRER
MRAIEBEEDEEN— /A  TERA
EmER - L PNEERYELE RS BRI
BERTHMEER BKRER  BEYF
A RRER - RADERIAKRA - EX
BOYHGABRMNA - BEHEEHIR

BNAEETE - NEEMAEREURS R

N
Waste type Unit 2023 Intensity Unit 2023 2024
Target
BENER B BEEM 2024
BiF
Hazardous wastes ~ Wasted ink Tonne 10 13 KG/RMB million revenue 9 9
EREREY & 2 i AT/ AREEERA
Developer/fixative  Tonne 4 12 KG/RMB million revenue 4 8
solution
B/ EXER W AT/ AREBERA
Wasted rags and ~ Tonne 19 18  KG/RMB million revenue 17 12
gloves with ink
BHMBEEKM . W AT/ AREBERA
FE
Wasted empty Tonne 5 5 KG/RMB million revenue 4 4
barrel
=R i AT/ AREEERA
Others (e.g. Used  Tonne 4 3 KG/RMB million revenue 4 2
activated carbon)
B (B RSE) B AT/ AREEERA
Total hazardous wastes Tonne 42 50 KG/RMB million revenue 38 35 35
ERERNEE W AT/ AREEERA
Non-hazardous Recyclable Tonne 177 228  KG/RMB million revenue 161 161
wastes ] [B] 4% i D/ AREGBERA
— R EEEY) Non-recyclable Tonne 58 57  KG/RMB million revenue 53 40
AR Eg i AT/ AREEERA
Total non-hazardous wastes Tonne 235 285  KG/RMB million revenue 214 201 201
—REENEE W DT/ AREBERA

Note:  Non-recyclable non-hazardous waste mainly includes green waste disposed of
nearby, and waste coming from takeaway meal leftovers and packaging.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Group’s total wastes in 2024 decreased compared with that
in 2023. However, affected by the decrease in revenue, the Group
was unable to achieve both its 2024 hazardous waste density
target and non-hazardous waste density target. The Group will
continue to implement waste disposal control procedures, properly
dispose of waste, and reduce waste by improving technologies.
The control target for hazardous waste in 2025 is 38 KG/RMB
million revenue, and the control target for non-hazardous waste in
2025 is 214 KG/RMB million revenue.

In our operation process, packaging materials are mainly composed
of paper boxes, paper carton boxes, tags, tapes and fillers. These
materials are necessary to prevent the smart secure payment
products and smart kiosks from damage. Due to the change of
product packaging method requested by customers, our usage of
tags and fillers increased this year. Packing materials are strictly
forbidden to be discarded randomly, and are regularly recycled by
professional companies.

BRI g RER®ME (8)

NEBE2024F BEE Y B EE2023F H T
T BRRATHREE  KEEREE
RRO24F B EEM N —MEEYEE B
e AEBEBIFTENTTEZYRIE LG E
Fro ZERIBEZY  UHITSRERDE
BYMESE - 2025F R EZMHITE B
EARISAT / ARBEEBHRA  —HEZE
MEE B R4 S AREBE K
)\o

HMELBRTPRANBEYHEIZERE
e BE RH BT EXRWEF B
RREEELEXNEMMBEERBLR
BENVERRY BEFPERNEEM
BEIN AFERENERYNERE
BLET - BRYHBEEESER  9H
EXRNRETEMRIWERE

Packaging type Unit 2023 Intensity Unit 2023
SEMBER By BEEN

Paper box Unit 1,113,004 1,230,176 Unit/RMB Million revenue 1,016 868
w= & B/ AREEEKRA

Paper carton box Unit 124,333 157,494  Unit/RMB Million revenue 114 111
A & |/ AREEEKRA

Tag Piece 5,230,700 4,705,800 Piece/RMB Million revenue 4,777 3,321
TH B ®OARBEERA

Tape Roll 27,307 30,180 Roll/RMB Million revenue 25 21
B4 & B/ AREEBRA

Filler Piece 391,610 333,000 Piece/RMB Million revenue 358 235
) B ®OARBEERA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

S HERERHRE @

Concerns for and Responses to Climate Change

We have integrated climate-related risks into the Group's
overall risk management framework. This enables us to manage
the entire process, which includes identifying climate-related
risks and opportunities, assessing the impacts of such risks
and opportunities, conducting scenario analyses for them, and
formulating appropriate responses. When analysing various risks,
such as strategic, compliance, financial, and operational risks, we
also take into full account the factors of climate-related risks and
opportunities, so as to develop relevant countermeasures and
enrich and improve our comprehensive risk management.

We have categorised the time horizons into “short term (up to
2030)", "medium term (up to 2050)”, and “long term (up to
2080)". When defining the relevant time horizons, factors such
as international agreements (such as the Paris Agreement’ and
the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals), national and
government policies (such as China’s dual carbon goals), and the
Group’s the business plans have been taken into consideration.

Effects on
Business Model
and Value Chain

HEREAN
EEEHNTE

Description of
Risks/Opportunities

Categories of
Risks/Opportunities

BR/HEHR

BB/ BERR

BEEREHRRSZL

BMERESREZECAALREENERE
Hﬁﬁéﬁ SR BRI E RS
Al R R B S R AT AR B S
%ﬁ*ﬁ J—LM/\% fhéfmi\mﬁiaf@"

EDWEEE - 548 B7% EXER
BB e H E’ﬂ)\ﬁﬂwﬂtﬂmﬁ%LI
= LA%IJ;&*H%%FE;T%EM YEEEE2M
EBREEER -

FMEREEESZ S AR B (22030
F£)] - [hEf(£20505F) ] - [RHI(E2080
)] - REMBEEBERZSETBEE R

#(ERBE)  BERAUKEERE
%)~ BRMBABEE (e B8R ER)
AEBBERISHAE -

Time

Financial Impacts Horizons

RHye HEGE

It may affect the stability of

operations and supply chain,

Increase in capital

Extreme events (such as cause damage to fixed assets expenditure and Short to
Acute risk super typhoons, floods, in coastal areas, and have a o Zratin costs medium
pandemics, etc.) negative impact on the labour dEcreasegin revénue term
force in aspects like safety and
health.
. TEESNREEREY i | ——
i N &R - i b= CER _
L skER LA ENATEERS HamhE oL R ey g
Physical risks K RITRE) e Ei AR
WERR EEEFE(PNRE  BRS)
- It will drive up the demand for
el e Increase in capital Medium
. . within our data processing .
Chronic risk Chronic heat waves . expenditure and to long
centres, which may cause the operating costs o
current equipment to become perating
obsolete ahead of schedule.
SEBEERAAMEERTRL _
" S e . ’ CER
SHER pEEE HEARAURRNER T Lo RN apgg
HERERRBRPRE
1 The long-term goal of the Paris Agreement is to hold the increase in the global 1 (BRBEINRPERRSAELEERFHR

average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and pursue
efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BE dSkERRE @

Effects on e
Categories of Description of Business Model Time ggiﬁ
Risks/Opportunities Risks/Opportunities and Value Chain Financial Impacts Horizons Sg4
HEBEAA o
R/ HBER R/ BEHE BEENYE BBEE RE#EE §§g
e sl Fa||ur§ to promptly respond to and ' ' e
. . . satisfy regulatory demands may  Increase in operating/ Short to
Policy and legal risk regulation and mandatory . .
expose Us to operational and compliance costs long term

disclosure requirements . .
compliance risks.

ERBOREEENEFEE ERERBEEENAREER L

2024
Major Events

2024 KFiD

L VALY & \ o B /AN i/ ;/ - Rt
ﬂﬁ&/ﬁéﬂﬁﬁ g;_k %Em@%&éfﬁmﬂﬁ @E/nﬁﬂi$iﬂ' F@ E@ —
In the case of unsuccessful 52
iy atempts to.develop o emplloy Increase in R&D Medium 53
. Transition to low-carbon more eco-friendly technologies, .
Technology risk . expenditure, decrease to long
technology there is likelihood that our . s
L . in revenue term 2 =
competitive edge will be gu®
eroded. S
X X - iz
MRARERDRE A ERERRN §pm
L R iR Rl TRBRAMBRENT  WERALA WATE HH-RE g
: -
Consumers willingness to 5 m
engage in green consumption 4 éfﬁ
is growing and they tend to e
Transition : 5 S
o ' Shifting market preferences to pur;hase green products and : Medium o =k
risks Market risk low-carbon products services. If we fail to keep up Decrease in revenue to long 5 o
HERk P with the pace of changes in term
market demand, our market %ﬁ
competitiveness will be Eo8p
undermined. £ o=
FFORERREREE BAT £957
. RESEERNRE  pRT SR
7R R R Tk (R (L R . 5 - Rt i
Ak Rk 82 BT EE R RS WA T hH-RH
G BEGEIEE R 5 i
Failure to proactively address B8t
climate change challenges = O 4
. . could result in the erosion Decrease in revenue,
. . Proactively tackle the climate . . . . g
Reputational risk . of client and societal trust, increase in labour Long term =
change issue ; . 2 4
thereby adversely impacting our costs g %
product marketing, workforce ©Su
management and planning. s U
ERMTHRERERRS AR 8
. . ReRERFMLEMRT :
2 b EREHRIRE L ER s o e NEN I _ 2
22 BREHREZ(EE HESEE 4B EENE WATE - ANBALR  RE 352
HENERYE 228
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BE #HE2RELAHRSE @

Effects on
Categories of Description of Business Model Time
Risks/Opportunities Risks/Opportunities and Value Chain Financial Impacts Horizons

HEBEAN

Bl HBER Rk BEHL BEENY g2 KEEE
Proactively developing sustainable

products to meet the evolving

Product upgrade Low-carbon products demands of banking and retail ~ Increase in revenue Me|d|um 0
clients will strengthen our ong term
market leadership.

BREEREER meRTRT
AR ER&EEER EXPNEL BRPREM WAL - R
RAMIS AL
Offering digital platform services
to banks and customers will .
, , o Medium
- Business . . reinforce our competitive .
%{;gortumtles diversification Digital platform services advantage while cultivating an increase In revenue Izrlzng

innovative ecosystem within the
Fintech industry.
RBONEPREZFTARE
L3 S | é gFiL T ek RABTRAZMOZESE S BAED - R
BRERMRITEMAN LR

Our internal digital transformation

N : . Medium
iy - . will optimise our process Decrease in operating
Resource efficiency  Digital operation : to long
management and operational costs
y term
efficiency.
BRASNT(AE - BlRiE
R B R v RREg T EY MR T _
ERME BFLEs BAE L BENATR - R
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE HE2RERBRE (@

Drawing on the climate scenarios proposed by institutions such as 2% K fFE G2 (L =PI E 8 €(IPCC) -
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), International B EERZB(IEA) - RITHEEHELZ B S
Energy Agency (IEA), and Central Banks and Supervisors Network R4 ESINGF)SHBIRENRIEFEBR S &
for Greening the Financial System (NGFS), we have constructed i@ T1.5Cl52 (FA(ERBTIBES)
two climate scenarios, 1.5°C scenario (which is in line with the FI3°ClEE (#EBHRBES)MERFEBS -

Paris Agreement scenario) and 3°C scenario (representing a
business-as-usual scenario).

Scenarios Description of Scenario

CESE (Esipe

J Temperature rise is kept within 1.5° C;

. Climate targets and policies get strengthened in all
countries, with multiple countries achieving net-zero
emissions by mid-century (2050);

. Accelerated deployment of low-carbon technologies;

J Global electricity systems dominated by renewable energy
sources;

. Heightened demand for carbon-transparent products and
sustainable consumption practices.

o REASEHIEISCAR

s RERBMEBRENREKEHEMER ZEBRKDE
20505 2 R ERFTHEMN

o RERRMTEA MR

s ERWRERBFRENREINENZSR:

s HEERENMIERMREE FHEEESHER-

1.5°C scenario
1.5°C 5=

Scenario of Reference
ZEER

IPCC—Shared Socioeconomic
Pathways (SSP1-1.9)
NGFS—Net Zero 2050
IEA—Net Zero Emissions by
2050 Scenario (NZE)

IPCC— £ A& ERKL1-1.9
NGFS—2050F ZHEMIE &=
IEA—2050F ZH B =

. Temperature rise is kept within 3°C;

. Climate policies and targets adopted by countries remain
the same as the current situation, and carbon emissions
continue to rise;

o The transition to low-carbon technologies is slow, and
insufficient motivation for the supply chain to cut carbon
emissions;

o Global energy transition is sluggish, and clean electricity
fails to become the main source of power;

. No significant enhancement in sustainable consumption.

o REAREHIEICAR

o  BRERMEBEMBREFRM  BMEEREFELM:

o EHMERMEREE HEEARHNOTRE

s EHRERRE BREEBNREXR/EIZTNER

s HEEUREHEERRAABRIES -

3°C scenario
CER

IPCC—Shared Socioeconomic
Pathways (SSP2-4.5)
NGFS—Current Policies

|IEA —Stated Policies Scenario
(STEPS)

IPCC— R @& K 1E2-4.5
NGFS— iR #1515 =
EA-BEEBERBS
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BE #HE2RELAHRSE @

Our climate scenario analyses consider both physical and transition FHFINREBEDITEE 7 WIEE B L&
risks. We assess the extent to which the Group’s businesses are AU M &7 E @ WP A EBEEET
exposed to each risk and opportunity over different time horizons. RIEBESEEAN TS @R K BEBZEHN
This enables us to develop a more forward-looking and flexible risk 2/ - #t Ml E £ A TIE M BB M &9 RS

management strategy that enhances our climate resilience. BIRRE R BPREEE -
* ST-Short term; MT-Medium term; LT-Long term
* L-Low; M-Moderate; H-High

1.5°C scenario 3°C scenario
15°CEETHERE P(ERTHERE

ST MT LT ST MT )

Categories of Risks/Opportunities Relevance and Assumptions
R/ HEEY HE % RRR B +8 RE EH TE RY

Acute risk-Extreme events  We assessed how the extreme weather and chronic L L L L M M
aiER—ERS heat waves may affect the Group’s major fixed £ £ £ £ t th

Physical risks Chronic risk-Chronic heat assets and data processing centre locations

NERR Waves (Zhuhai, Shanghai). L L L L M M

BRARNRER RN EAEETEETE

BER-HER ENGETLHEL (RS L) - & & & £ il i

Policy and legal risk- More
stringent and mandatory
disclosure requirements

BRREERR - ERR

We assessed how the upcoming stringent regulatory
requirements may affect our operating costs.

ERBMEERLRENAYERANEEREK. [ G G & & &

MEEEX
Transition risks Technoloay risk- We assessed how the development of low-carbon
BRER o9 technologies may affect R&D investment and how
Transition to low-carbon . L M M L L M
market share and revenues may be affected if
technology

technology development failed.
ERBEHREReNTYERFHNFERA MR
RfiER-EREGEY  BWREARSENAYEAMNTSRLRE & i i & & G
AD
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BE d2REAHRE @

1.5°C scenario 3°C scenario
15°CEETHERE P(EETHERE
ST MT LT ST MT LT

Categories of Risks/Opportunities Relevance and Assumptions
R/ #EEY REEERR BE +8 RE ER H  RE
We assessed how the failure of providing green
products and services and unsuccessful to satisfy
customers may affect our market share and

Market risk-Shifting
market preferences to
low-carbon products

revenue.
msER - ERESF MRELRGRREPHREERNRER WA ¢ @ ¢ i i o
a8 FEAMNT B RKA - :

Transition risks

BRER Reputational risk-
Proactively tackle the
climate change issue

We assessed how the market position and
revenue may be affected if our climate-related
performance did not meet the expectations of
stakeholders, including customers and society.

PREMERGRBORATERREPNLES

BRER-RERERR cemromssenmysapesEety £ & 0+ & 0 &

2lLiEa

WA
Product upgrade-
Low-carbon products We expected how providing green products and M H H L M H
EOAE - AREEES digital platform services to meet customer i z 5 £ & =
Business diversificat preferences and needs may enhance our market
DL.JS,'tniSSl l\f/em cation- position and increase revenue. M H H L M H
VOSPRLOM SEVCES e R ENRTLTERE  RREFRER
T RESTA-BFTE B REWARARMODEMLREMMA. . 2 2 g w2
HRHE E ]

We expected how the Group's digital
Resource efficiency-Digital ~ transformation may optimise process
operation management and operational efficiency to reduce
our operating costs.

SENRFBERENARLAREENELN

ARRE-BFLEE "oy prpmnmenk -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE #EkERERE @

Categories of Risks/Opportunities Strategies and Decisions

Rk HBER JE ¥ 5% B BER 3R

o Formulate Emergency Response Plan for Emergencies and Business
Continuity Management Procedure, and continuously update the emergency
response plan for natural disasters and infectious diseases as well as the
business continuity plan, so as to facilitate prompt response, minimise losses
and ensure the business can continue to operate;

Acute risk-Extreme
events

» o Prepare proper insurance to ensure receiving the compensation in time to
- AR — i % ff minimise financial losses in the event of a disaster;
Physical risks _ e Keep monitoring the energy consumption indicators and do the regular
NERR Chronic risk-Chronic check and maintenance for those facilities that may be faced with the risk
heat waves of damage.
BERR— S ES
B s HE(RBEMESRRDDM(EBHELERER)  HETHHHERK
ENEAROESRENEB KBNS UEARRE  BERBL  #R
EBRABELE
s BHEBERR BREPELEZLRRERN BILBERX:
. SEEEERREER  HAREREENOREETEREMEE -
o Enhance the monitoring of carbon emission data, and continue to pay
Policy and legal risk- attention to climate related trends, policies and regulations;
More stringent and Provision of rooftop to the green energy strategic partner of SanXi
mandatory disclosure T.1.0 City to invest in rooftop photovoltaic power;
requirements 3 Give priority to the procurement of new energy vehicles for

purchasing company cars.
o INETRBEMBBEN - HEMIREEEBBE  BERMER

N —— Eﬁz:ﬁ%&iﬁﬁﬁhﬁﬁ—\ J EﬂE?;%ﬂélliﬁ%fz@ﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁ%éf’E%ﬁTﬁf#\ETﬁ&’éE?&EE%ﬁ%

P EHRBONEEER ufb

s HBEAREWR  BEARBHERE -

3 Increase investment in R&D to enhance capabilities in environmental
technology and digital operations;

3 Communicate technology exchanges and co-operate among supply
chain, and jointly promote the technological transformation of the
industrial chain.

Ak —EiRE o MAHMBERA BReERFAEN BF(CELHHBE

oy = %ith FRH-EESMXAMAIE  HABEEXERMER -

Technology risk-
Transition to
low-carbon
technology

78 Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BE dSkERRE @

Categories of Risks/Opportunities Strategies and Decisions
Rk HEER PE# SR B BRI

Market risk-
Shifting market
preferences

to low-carbon
products
MHER-—THE ¢ BAKEZRRBOBAEXKES FHEMEHERTELIE:

Transition risks [P s . @ (0 &= B B 2 o
wE AR Emﬁﬂgx | FEEIRR A HFENE®RNRE
Reputational risk-

Proactively tackle

the climate change
issue

BERR-BIGE o  THIBHMESGHRYE - BEBRBESGKRE - 2MESGA
HRIEZLEE o FEITHREEARBRNES -

Product upgrade-

Low-carbon

products

ﬁﬂ%ﬁ'g&_ﬁﬁﬁﬁ o Keep innovating and provide customers with a diversified range
BEm of products and services such as eco-friendly series of products,
Business low-carbon secure payment solutions and digital UMV platform.
diversification- e HERFH REFPRHUHRRRIER ZREXNEWMBRIR &
0pportunities Dlgltal platform ?{KUMV:F@%%%{EE%&HEA_{% ©

Heig services
¥%Z it —8F
b & R
Resource
efficiency-Digital
operation
BRME—#F

Corporate
Information
GRER

o Integrate the concept of sustainable development into business
operations and continue to promote energy conservation and
emission reduction;

o Develop more eco-friendly and sustainable products and services.

@
2

Financial
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2024
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20244 K FEiE

3 Regularly publish ESG reports, disclose ESG performance on an
ongoing basis, participate in ESG ratings;
o Continuous assessment of climate-related risks and opportunities.
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Employees are critical support to our on-going development. We
treat our people well to bring mutual advancement. The Group’s
operations also need to cooperate with the community. Thus, we
proactively contribute to the community and endeavour for mutual
prosperity.

The Group regularly reviews Human Resource Management
Procedure and Staff Manual, which specify the Group’s
requirements and procedures for employment, including
recruitment, dismissal, promotion, remuneration, working hours,
rest periods, diversity and other benefits. Under the principle
of being open, fair and just and merit-based selection, we
treat every candidate equally regardless of their race, ethnicity,
colour, religion, gender, age, region, marital status or disability.
However, child labour is strictly prohibited. We will verify the
age of candidates to avoid child labour. Once we discover that
individuals below the legal working age are hired, the Group will
take immediate action to rectify the situation. The Group also
forbids any form of coercion, debt bondage, or forced labour, and
no employee will be required to surrender original identification
documents or lodge deposits as a condition of employment.
Candidates need to pass rigorous written tests and interviews
in order to obtain the offer. Besides specific professional skills
and working capabilities, candidates should be honest, possess a
correct working attitude and a high professional dedication and
comply with laws, regulations and ethics. The Group has released
its Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Policy, dedicated to creating
a diverse, inclusive, egalitarian and collaborative workplace for
its employees and protecting them from discrimination and
harassment. Any employee who is intimidated, humiliated,
bullied, harassed (including sexual harassment) or discriminated
in any way can report to human resources department or internal
control department or file complaints directly to the management
representative or CEO. Upon receiving the above complaints,
human resources department will cooperate with relevant
departments to investigate, and the relevant personnel will be
seriously dealt with if the complaint is true. Similarly, procedures
for termination or cancellation of employment also follow the
requirements and procedures stated in the above documents and
comply with the statutory requirements of the place of operation.
Human resources department will also conduct exit interviews
with employees in conjunction with employees’ department to
gain insight on employees’ opinions and suggestions to ensure
the implementation of relevant policies. The Group treasures every
staff, pays attention to staff movement and takes action to retain
talents as early as possible.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE - #HEREBME (8

The Group’s employment policies comply with all relevant labour  ZN& B (B (B 1R F & ~T 2 15 & & FT £ 1 45
laws and regulations at each operation location. In 2024, there & B AR IABM BN - W2024%F - KEH
were no child labour or forced labour cases in the Group. WEERTARAE TaHL THIBN -

Corporate
Information
BHEER

As at 31 December 2024 - employee-related figures are as follows:  72024F 128310 - EEBBEHEWOT
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Total number of active employees 1,282 1,507 < E“HP\
EHREEAH g .
By gender =R
gk zE 5%y
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S
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Z s .
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REMEZES Sta
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AIARRT Bom
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JFRIERT -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE #HE2REBRE @)

Employee turnover rate
BERKE

By gender
Qe E by

Male

B

Female

Eegid

By age group
RERARE D
Under 30 years old

L H305%

30 to 50 years old
30E5073%

Over 50 years old
505% A

By geographical region
&t EE 5

The Chinese mainland
B A

Other regions

H b 1 [
Note:

1. The turnover rate of age group over 50 years old includes employees retired at
statutory retirement age.

2. In 2024, the Group proceeded with its digital transformation and optimised
its organisational structure in line with changes in the market and business to
enhance operational efficiency.

Employee Benefits

The progress and development of the economy and society, and
the change of industrial policies and talent policies increase the
possibility that the human resources policies not achieving their
objectives during the formulation and implementation process.
The loss of talent and the shortage of highly skilled personnel in
line with business development are the main aspects of human
resources risk management and control. Therefore, the Group
offers competitive compensation and provides a platform for talent
development as well as comprehensive and continuous training
programmes.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Remunerations are determined and adjusted based on factors
including economic conditions, personal experience, performance
assessment and operational results of the Group. To motivate
employees at every level to fully reach their potentials, in addition
to basic salaries, we also offer bonuses, allowances, shares award
schemes and other benefits. Employees are entitled to paid leaves,
including but not limited to annual leave, overtime leave, marital
leave and maternity leave, as stated in applicable laws of their
working places. Working hours also complies with local laws
and regulation, as well as the industry norms. Forced labour is
prevented within the Group and we do not encourage employees
to work overtime under normal circumstances, while legal and
reasonable subsidies will be provided to suitable voluntary overtime
and special positions. Through the cultivation of the talent team
in each department and increasing internal training opportunities,
we strive to enhance the job satisfaction of our staff, and create a
pleasant working environment.

According to Management Method of Performance Appraisal,
employees are assessed on a regular basis, that is, performance
appraisal, to review their work progress, quality and effectiveness,
so as to set further improvement plans and better goals in the
future. Performance appraisals are carried out monthly, quarterly
and annually and its contents should be specific and quantified.
The results serve as a vital reference in deciding salary, promotion
and training opportunities, as well as a platform to strengthen
communications between department and employees. In order to
enhance the overall quality and competitiveness of employees, we
continue to improve our Management Method of Performance
Appraisal and promotion process, and a broader platform is
provided to employees through comprehensive assessments under
the principles of being open, fair and just. The Group becomes
energetic with positive competitions which also lay a good
foundation of greater progresses in the future.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE #HE2REBRE @)

Statutory benefits are offered to employees under the requirements
of local laws and regulations. Such benefits include insurances and/
or paying entity’s section of accumulation funds on time. In order
to help employees of the Chinese mainland solve the problems
of children’s education and settlement of residency for fresh
graduates, the Group companies promptly conveyed the settlement
policy and actively assisted employees in settling their residency, so
as to solve their worries. The Group has been providing humanistic
care to its staff by granting female staff half-day holidays for
Women's Day, conducting thematic talks on female care from time
to time to help female staff achieve a work-life balance, paying
attention to the health of female staff and enhancing the medical
check-up programme for female staff in the annual physical
examination, and setting up a separate mother’s hut (mother and
baby room) in the office building to provide special care to female
staff during breastfeeding.

Development and Training

To effectively enhance employees’ comprehensive quality,
strengthen professional skills, expand career development horizons,
while cultivating a team of excellent lecturers, progressively
building a learning-oriented organisation and creating an
integrated career development platform that combines learning,
communication, and interaction, the Group adheres to internal
lecturer cultivation and continuously improves their teaching
capabilities, ultimately elevating individual competencies and
reinforcing the Group’s core competitiveness to achieve mutual
development.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Data on employee training in 2024 are as follows:

Percentage of employees trained

ZHEEES

2023

BiE HE2REB/BHRE @)

2024F EEFINIEEHEEWT -

Average training hours (hours)

19 % A B B (/B )

99%

Total

wES

By gender
b4 k-
Male

B4

Female

4

By employment type
REEERE S
Direct labour
AIARE T
Indirect labour
JERIHRET

99%

99%

98%

100%

The Group has always attached importance to staff training and
development, and is committed to enhancing the professional
skills and professionalism of its staff. The development of staff is
also an important factor in assessing the sustainable development
of a company. The management capability of human resources
should match the needs of the new business model and control
model, and should support the Group’s strategic planning. We
have developed an effective Training Management System to
provide comprehensive internal and external training and a
comprehensive and effective evaluation system for our employees.
Internal training includes mandatory induction training, job skills
training, on-the-job improvement training and information security
training, etc. External training includes conferences and training
courses organised by various organisations, for which the Group
will provide appropriate allowances as appropriate. At the end of
the training, the trained staffs are required to participate in the
evaluation to ensure the effectiveness of the training. To inherit
the corporate culture of innovation and progress, build and spread
the brand story, deepen the staff’'s understanding of the Group’s
culture, history and business, and reinforce training outcomes
through competitions, a series of training competitions, such as
Mini — Video Creation Competition, PPT presentation contest, and
the Golden Messenger Competition, were successfully organised in
this year with a variety of ways, both online and offline. This not
only fostered a vivid, harmonious corporate culture and a positive
working atmosphere but also provided employees with a platform
to perform themselves, thus enhancing their comprehensive quality
and corporate culture.

87%

87%

85%

83%

89%

2023
13.22 13.25
12.96 13.19
13.56 13.32
14.59 14.01
13.01 12.57
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Employee health and safety is a key aspect of human resource risk
management and control. The Group is committed to continuous
investment in occupational health and safety and attaches great
importance to the issue of employee health and safety, through
the introduction of a series of health policy measures, including
travel control, pedestrian flow management in the Tech Parks,
continuous operation assurance, environmental cleaning and
disinfection, emergency dormitory allocation, emergency response
and other aspects, which strongly guarantee the efficient and
continuous operation of the Tech Parks. The Group has obtained
OHSAS18001 (upgraded to 1SO45001) Occupational Health and
Safety Management System Certificate since 2012, and has
successfully renewed the certificate. The Group issued Environment
and Occupational Health and Safety Management Manual as a
general policy, together with other subordinated documents as
specific procedures. Our occupational health and safety related
policy complies with all applicable laws, regulations and standards,
aiming to improve the Group’s management on occupational
health and safety, manage risks and mitigate the operational
impacts on employees and create a safe and harmonious
environment.

We encourage employees to engage in the management of
occupational health and safety and work together to establish
a safe workplace. The Group has appointed the management
representative to implement the management of occupational
health and safety. Employee representatives are also selected
to act as a communication bridge with management to reflect
employees’ opinions about matters related to occupational
health and safety. In addition, there are regular internal monitors
organised by quality management department to ensure the
effectiveness and compliance of the health and safety management
system, operational controls and emergency preparation control
procedures. The Group strictly implements employee safety training
to enhance the awareness of occupational health and safety.
During the year, we organised a series of occupational safety
training such as fire drill and safety production. In order to further
care for the staff’s life, health and safety, enhance the awareness
of life safety and first-aid, improve the ability of emergency
evacuation and self-rescue and mutual rescue, we invited the Red
Cross to carry out first-aid knowledge and skills training activities
in 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

There was no work-related fatality occurred in the past 3 years.
There were 936 lost hours due to work injury (equivalent to 117
lost working days) recorded during the year, at approximately
0.024% of the Group’s total working time (2023: 1,272 lost
hours due to work injury, equivalent to 159 lost working days,
at 0.025% of the Group’s total working time). There were 7
cases of work-related injuries reported in 2024 (2023: 6 cases),
which were caused by accidental abrasions, slips and falls, and
accidental collisions during their way home. In order to ensure that
our employees make a full recovery, we have provided adequate
medical treatment and subsequent rehabilitation periods for our
injured employees. We have also conducted in-depth analysis of
each accident to identify the causes and potential safety hazards,
and carried out appropriate measures to rectify the situation.
Meanwhile, we have actively placed staff training and guidance on
avoiding accidents in workplace to prevent recurrence of similar
accidents. In 2024, the Group complied with the relevant laws
and regulations relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards which had a
significant impact on the Group.
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The Group is committed to growing together with the community.
We understand the importance of community engagement and
encourage our employees to participate in community activities to
strengthen our relationship with the local community. As a Fintech
company, the Group is also actively taking social responsibilities
while providing quality services and products. Our smart secure
payment products and services not only serve for people’s
livelihood in public services including social security, healthcare,
transportation, etc., but also promote the sustainable development
of charity and philanthropy and spread positive energy. The Group
has participated in charity and donations many times to grow
and progress with the society. Over the years, we have actively
engaged in poverty alleviation, education assistance, anti-epidemic
relief, public facilities construction, voluntary services, etc., to
practice social responsibilities and promote social development.

In addition, the Group has always attached great importance to
the cooperation between industry, university and research, fully
tapping the resources of scientific research teams, promoting
the commercialisation of scientific research achievements, and
realising cutting-edge technologies and talent reserve. We have
established partnerships with colleges and universities on projects
and talent trainings, including joint laboratory of Internet of Things
with Wuhan University, talent training programmes with Zhaoging
Science and Technology School, Zhuhai New Thinking Secondary
Vocational School and Zhongshan Torch Polytechnic, teaching and
practice base for Jinan University, Beijing Normal University Zhuhai
Campus and others. Over the years, the Group has also proactively
carried out activities to promote the employment of people with
disabilities, providing stable employment for them by combining
the characteristics of the enterprise.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE - #HEREBME (8

The Group has also played an important role in the development of HEZLEMHOER 2K KNEBEBEIET
inclusive finance. We have provided a number of small and micro EZHE - KM ATHZRIBITIREHT %
enterprise cards to a number of banks in China to promote the F/NHEFR RE/NHMOCEER KRBT
long-term sustainable development of small and micro enterprises. 5% %R o K1/ AT B &+ RBITIRH
We also provide rural revitalisation cards to dozens of banks in  #B#f 4R B~ o 4548 IR 81~ 2 B iR Bt B &
China. The rural revitalisation card is a series of special bank cards EER/T BHRENMWEBFEZETT AR
issued by China UnionPay in conjunction with commercial banks E¥4EEAFTZEEENECIRTRENE
for users in rural areas for use in scenarios such as agricultural @ ZES@REBHTIRELIZAEN S
production and living, to implement financial services for rural g AR % K K K o

revitalisation and to enhance the efficiency and level of rural

financial services.
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The Group assisted the community in carrying out publicity activities such as for Anti-Drug Day,
financial fraud prevention, anti-telecom fraud, and ethnic unity.
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By leveraging our experience and expertise, we offer supports in  HfIERFZ2ENKBRINER @ T ¥ K%
a wide range of areas in infrastructure construction, technology RE®WREE A E@EEREHEERX B
development, education, and etc., fostering the development of %R - #HEZE zEEIEHEHNER -
the community and giving back to our society. —AEREdENERE  BROgte -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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ESG CONTENT INDEX

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BEHERE

ESGHREARREGI

Section/Remarks

B #E

Governance Structure
56 DR i

Reporting Principles
E R A
Reporting Boundary
EREE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

FTEHR B —REBERBEEARER

Governance Structure
r: e nA
Stakeholder Communication and
Engagement
N EY il b S EpN ey
Materiality Assessment

E BT
Reporting Principles
ERR A
Reporting Period and Scope
s AR R EE

Section/Remarks

BEHBE

A. Environment

ARER
Aspect A1 Emissions
EEA1 298]
General Disclosure Information on: Environmental Management
(a) the policies ; and Emissions Reduction
(b) compliance with relevant laws and Waste Reduction and Recycling
regulations that have a significant impact  Appendix 1
on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— MR FRERMABERBYN KR THOHS - REERE
FENBEBEREMNELESH A BE
(@ HE: K TBIRBEE
(b) EBTFHBETABEAZENHBEEZEZRE M
Blen & xL e
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions  Emissions Reduction

data.
PERR ) & 8 K AR 8 BE IR EUE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRI HE2RER/HRE (@)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TEER EEH —REBERBEEERER

Section/Remarks

- P

KPI A1.2

KPI'A1.3

KPI'A1.4

KPI'A1.5

KPI'A1.6

Aspect A2
B A2

General Disclosure

—RIWE

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (HE) ke RERE (SHE2) EEREHRE
(AgsrE) R (ER) ZE (WASES B -
FEREE E) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FEEEEEEYRE AMAE) R (Em)
ZmE(WAEBEEEN  BERMAE) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FEAREEEYEE AEAE) R (ER)
mE(WANEEEEN §ERKXMAE) -

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

R FAET B AR N RED B LB RAK
HRE 28R

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of
reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

HAREEEREEEEMON L - RIEMATET
VEBEEERAERELEZARNMA SR -

Use of Resources

BERER

Policies on the efficient use of resources including
energy, water and other raw materials.
BERERER(BEER  KREMRERME) 8K
% o

EHEREEZRERAT

Emissions Reduction

B HE R

Waste Reduction and Recycling

GE VT

Waste Reduction and Recycling

TRIR R R

Emissions Reduction

B HE R

Waste Reduction and Recycling

ERARE

Resources Consumption

BIRER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
RE #HE2RERTRE @)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHEE EFEH —REBEREREXER

REPORT (CONTINUED)

Section/Remarks

- D

KPI' A2.1

KPI A2.2

KPI A2.3

KPI A2.4

KPI'A2.5

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in
'000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

RENEASHEEZER REZER(WE - Fk
H)EEE (UNTHETFRERAE) REE (MAE
ESBA  BERMTHE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.qg.
per unit of production volume, per facility).
BERERKERTE (WASESEN  BERME

= <]
Ft

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

RPTEI L WREREM MR BE R REDELR
TR P EREREY 2P BR:

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

fie 3t SR EE B /KR £ AT A ] - A KPR AT 32
BVRK S B R R AESE L B IRATERIEY T 5R -

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

R mABEEMENEE (UEFE) & (1nE
R)BEESBMHLE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRI HE2RER/HRE (@)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHEE EFEH —RERBERERERER

Section/Remarks

- P

Aspect A3
[BHA3

General Disclosure

—RIWE

KPI A3.1

Aspect A4
B A4

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI A4.1

The Environment and Natural Resources

BRERRXARER

Policies on minimising the issuers’ significant
impacts on the environment and natural
resources.
MEBETAHRRERRAEREREATENK
= o

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and
the actions taken to manage them.

M EBEHHRERRARERNEAZERD
KREREREHETENTE -

Climate Change
RIxE 1L

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
BRILEEHER LA GHETAELARENE
ARIRAEEEEERBR

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.

BB AR AT HEITAEEZENERAIR
HEEE  REHTH -

EHEREEZRERAT

Environmental Management
Resources Consumption
Emissions Reduction
RIREE

BRfER

A BE

Environmental Management
Resources Consumption
Emissions Reduction
RIREE

ERfER

B BE R

Concerns for and Responses to

Climate Change

BE NS R ARE

Concerns for and Responses to
Climate Change

BE S RARE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
RE #HE2RERTRE @)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHEE EFEH —REBEREREXER

REPORT (CONTINUED)

Section/Remarks

- D

B. Social
B.iE
Employment and Labour Practices
BEREIER
Aspect B1 Employment
fE EB1 (A
General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies i and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
— MR EE BRAH N ARE BN  TIERS - RE -
TE#KE  Zulk REBUAREMEERET
) -
(@ HER: R
by EBEBFHBETAREATZENHEBEZLR
{5189 & # o
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type
(for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.
BRI ERAL (MR RsHEE)  Ficdn R
EE S EB B -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group

and geographical region.

B FRANMREDNWEERKLE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE - #HEREBME (8

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TEER EEH —REBERBEEERER

Section/Remarks

- P

Aspect B2
B mB2

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI B2.1

KPI B2.2

KPI B2.3

Health and Safety
REHEZ2

Information on:

(a) the policies ; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment

and protecting employees from occupational

hazards.

FHRHLZ2IHERBAREREEBEBENLRE

EH

(@ HXR: Rk

(b) EBFHBETABEATZENHEBEEZLR
fIE)E# o

Number and rate of work-related fatalities
occurred in each of the past three years including
the reporting year.

BEZF (BRERFE)SFAITHNAREK
L o

Lost days due to work injury.

AIBEEATIERS -

Description of occupational health and
safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

R PR ER M B R R R e 2 5 - A RABB R
TRERITE -

EHREHREERERAT —B-NFFR 95

Occupational Health and Safety
Appendix 1

BERRELE
B £ 1

Occupational Health and Safety

BERERZE

Occupational Health and Safety

BERRZE

Occupational Health and Safety

BEEmLe

Corporate
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Management Discussion
and Analysis
BRE®RAI

Directors and Senior
Management
EERERERE

A
=

L
A
Hon
=

&
=

-
i
o
5]
el

2
© o
—_ v
T <
T ®
S <
) @
>
o
G}

s

<
3
=
(7]
£
c
o
=
>
=
fiv}

B\

Directors

Report of
EREgWE

PETIPESVA
~ B RS

Corporate Governance
Report




Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHEE EFEH —REBEREREXER

Aspect B3
[EmEB3

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI B3.1

KPI B3.2

Aspect B4
2 EB4

General Disclosure

— AR 4% 5R

KPI B4.1

KPI B4.2

Development and Training

B K%

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description
of training activities.

BRARTHE B BT TIERE &) M R B AE I IBUR -
MBS

The percentage of employees trained by gender
and employee category (e.g. senior management,
middle management).

MBI REERMN(NERERERE hREEE)
SomXillEER S -

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.
mMRIREBERNE S  FEREETKIINF
RFE -

Labour Standards

B TRA

Information on:

(a) the policies ; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to preventing child or forced labour.

BB IEZE T34 T -

(a) WK K

(b) BEBFHEHBETAGEATZENHEBEZLR
{519 & # o

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
f ittt st M E DI AR R E T RORHS T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.
e IR E R B AR HR B ISR ERE &

B o
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Development and Training
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BRI HE2RER/HRE (@)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Section/Remarks
TEHRE EFEH —REERBEERER BERE
Operating Practices
EEEH
Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management
[E EB5 ftEEEE
236
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social ~ Supply Chain Management gak
risks of the supply chain. - 2%5:
— MR E ERHEENRERTSRARBE - HEREE R -
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
mrEEASNHEEHHAE - HEREE R
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging  Supply Chain Management g =
suppliers, number of suppliers where the 2_&;&;
practices are being implemented, and how they §§f
are implemented and monitored. gem
Ml EAERHEHNED - MERTABIED HERER éﬁ
MHEREE  ARMBERTRERTE-
S m
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supply Chain Management 5“?5%“1
environmental and social risks along the supply Eé?é
chain, and how they are implemented and §§§
monitored. S
M EEENEEEGEARGONRERLERAR HERER
BB - ARMEERITRERTE - -
A
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote  Supply Chain Management g
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHEE EFEH —REBEREREXER

Aspect B6
[EEB6

General Disclosure

— AR I 5E

KPI B6.1

KPI B6.2

KPI B6.3

KPI B6.4

KPI B6.5

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Information on:

(a) the policies ; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising,

labelling and privacy matters relating to products

and services provided and methods of redress.

ERAMREERNBRENRERLS  EE 8

BKRLEEEURBERA AR

(@ BER:RK

by BTHETABREAZENHBEEZLR
Bl B #L -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEHACERERBETRAL T BEREHMA
B H B 5L ©

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt with.

BEEBRERNMRBORFEE AREHTTE

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
Rt R g R RBE MBI ERBANER -

Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.
it E B T AR N E m m AR e

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.

i 8 B & BB RIS MALBBUOR - A RBBRTT
NEERITE -
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Section/Remarks

- D

Product and Service Quality
Information Security and Data
Protection

Appendix 1

EmkREEE
FE R R HEBURRE
P 851

Product and Service Quality

EmkREEE

Product and Service Quality
EmMREEE
Product and Service Quality
EmMREEE
Product and Service Quality
EmMREEE

Information Security and Data
Protection

EEREHBURRE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE - #HEREBME (8

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TEER EEH —REBERBEEERER

Section/Remarks

- P

Aspect B7
BmB7

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI B7.1

KPI B7.2

KPI B7.3

Anti-corruption

K&ES

Information on:

(a) the policies ; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
BRAILERRR $R - MEFFREREN
(@ HMR: &

(b) BTHETABEAZENHEBEIRZLMR
e E #t -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RERPAHBTASIHEERLVEEENE
ERAARMTEEE RFRER -

Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.
Ry S R B BET - ARMBBERITRER
T0E °

Description of anti-corruption training provided
to directors and staff.
HtmEERETRENREFE -

EHEREEZRERAT

Anti-corruption
Appendix 1
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REB
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE #HE2REBRE @)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHEE EFEH —REBEREREXER

Section/Remarks

BH#E

Community
HE
Aspect B8
[E HB8

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI B8.1

KPI B8.2

Community Investment

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
BRENHES2ERTHEEMEHLETEMBER
HEBKEHGE R RN BE -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

BEFERERE (MHE BREFH LIF K-
fEpE - b - 88F) o

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

EEIHRBEMBAER (WEERERH) -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

APPENDIX 1
LIST OF LAWS AND REGULATIONS WITH
SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON THE GROUP

The following table presents the list including but not limited to
the laws and regulations relating to ESG issues and with significant
impacts on the Group.

GENERAL

Constitution of the PRC

Civil Code of the PRC

Criminal Law of the PRC

Company Law of the PRC

Tariff Law of the PRC

PRC tax laws

The Basic Law of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the PRC

Companies Ordinance (Hong Kong)

Inland Revenue Ordinance (Hong Kong)

LISTING

Listing Rules (Hong Kong)

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Hong Kong)

Securities and Futures (Stock Market Listing) Rules
(Hong Kong)

OPERATION ISSUES

Information security

Measures for the Regulation of Risks in the Information Technology
Outsourcing by Banking and Insurance Institutions

Cybersecurity Law of the PRC

Data Security Law of the PRC

Personal Information Protection Law of the PRC

Regulation on Network Data Security Management

Patent Law of the PRC

Copyright Law of the PRC

Trademark Law of the PRC

Regulations of the PRC on Customs Protection of Intellectual
Property Rights

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Hong Kong)

RiR -8 RERME (®)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE #HE2REBRE @)

Card organisation

Rules and guidelines for the qualifications and certifications,
quality control certifications, security management for product
manufacturing and personalisation enterprises

PCI Card Production Physical Security Requirements

PCI Card Production Logical Security Requirements

Product and service quality

Law of the PRC on Work Safety

Product Quality Law of the PRC

Regulation of the PRC on the Administration of
Production License for Industrial Products

Regulation on the Administration of Commercial Cipher Codes

Advertisement Law of the PRC

Regulation on the Administration of Outdoor Advertising Facilities
and Signboard Installations in Special Economic Zone of Zhuhai

Specification for Identification Code and Card Number of Bank
Card Issuer

Specification for Format and Use of Bank Card Magnetic Stripe
Information

Anti-corruption

Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC

Anti-Monopoly Law of the PRC

The Bidding Law of the PRC

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Hong Kong)

Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC

Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance
(Hong Kong)

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ISSUES

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC

Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes

Energy Conservation Law of the PRC

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution

Law of the PRC on Noise Pollution Prevention and Control

National Catalogue of Hazardous Waste
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEE AND COMMUNITY ISSUES

Labour Law of the PRC

Labour Contract Law of the PRC

Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of Infectious
Diseases

Social Insurance Law of the PRC

Decision of the Standing Committee of the National People’s

Congress on Implementing the Gradual Raising of the Statutory
Retirement Age

Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour

Provisions of the State Council on Working Hours of Workers and
Staff

Labour Relations Ordinance (Hong Kong)

Employment Ordinance (Hong Kong)

Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Hong Kong)

Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Hong Kong)

Minimum Wage Ordinance (Hong Kong)

BiE HE2REB/BHRE @)

ETIRTEZRZENRE

(PEARKNBELEZE)
(PEARKNBELEHE RE)
(TERBRIEG)D
(PEARKMBEBERDAE)

(PEARKMBEERBAE)

(PEARANMBE M S REIE)
(ERARRRAREEBRZESHANER
3 U B A FE RN R HOORTE)

(BLEEREIRE)
(BT AR BT TERREARE)
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The Board hereby presents this Annual Report together with the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024.

The Group is specialised in delivering embedded software, secure
payment products and smart financial self-service kiosks for
global customers and leveraging innovative Fintech to provide
date processing, system platforms and other total solutions for
customers in a wide business range including finance, retails,
public services including social security, healthcare, transportation,
etc. The Group is certified by six of the world-leading credit card
organisations including Visa, MasterCard, American Express, China
UnionPay, JCB and Diners Club. As one of the global leading
secure payment total solutions suppliers, the Group is actively
involved in drafting and formulating industrial standards and
criterion. Driven by customers’ diversified demands and evolving
technologies in innovation, the Group watches the cutting-edge
technological trends with the closest interests, covering digital
currencies, Al, security authentication, loT, to reinforce the
Group’s leading industrial position and boost the whole industry’s
evolution. Motivated by the strong R&D aptitudes and rich practical
experiences, the Group was not only actively involved in numerous
significant industrial events and projects, including the first EMV
(Europay, MasterCard and Visa) projects in Hong Kong and the
Chinese mainland, the first provincial social security card project,
the first financial social security card project, the first citizen
card project and the first healthcare card project in the Chinese
mainland, but also successfully provided secure payment products
in compliance with the specifications of the local requirements for
more than 30 countries and regions around the world. Adhering
to the spirit of “Virtue, Innovation, Efficiency and Cooperation”
and leveraging its leading technologies, preeminent qualities and
premium services, the Group is fully engaged in promoting a wider
and in-depth Fintech applications. At the same time, the Group is
now continuously extending its superior solutions and services to
a wider geographical area and delivering convenient, secure and
easy payment experiences to people around the globe.

The principal activities of the Group for the year 2024 are set out

in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 228 to
page 237 of this Annual Report.
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The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income on pages 195 and 196 of this Annual
Report.

A final dividend of HK5.5 cents (2023: HK10.0 cents) per ordinary
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 has been
proposed by the Board.

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the
year 2024, the material factors underlying its results and financial
position and details of the Group’s principal activities are provided
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
page 11 to page 25 of this Annual Report.

In order to be eligible for attending and voting at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday,
22 May 2025, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
by 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 16 May 2025. The register of members
of the Company will be closed from Monday, 19 May 2025 to
Thursday, 22 May 2025, both days inclusive, during which period,
no transfer of shares will be registered.

In order to determine who are entitled to the proposed final
dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration by
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 30 May 2025. The register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 2 June 2025 to Wednesday,
4 June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered. Subject to shareholders’ approval of
the proposed dividend at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to be held on Thursday, 22 May 2025, the
dividend will be paid on Friday, 27 June 2025 to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on Wednesday, 4 June 2025.
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A number of factors may affect the results and business operations RNEBHEBENEKLCESZHEAREZNE
of the Group, some of which are inherent to the payment solutions £ ZEF+ A NHBAARITEES &
business and some are from external sources. Major risks are  FAIFREAINA « FERBEMAOT o
summarised below.

As the Group relies on financial institutions, and public
sectors (such as social security, public transportation and
health sectors) and other organisations that issue financial
payment cards and procure digital equipment as its
customers or potential customers, the financial performance
of the Group depends on the future growth of the consumer
financial services industry and trends in that industry
towards greater outsourcing of certain functions such as the
production of financial payment products, digital equipment
and data processing. The consumer financial services industry
is characterised by rapid launches of new products and
services, continuous technological advancement, evolving
industry standards and changing customer needs, all of which
make new products and services not having long life cycles.
Organisations that issue financial cards or other relevant
products, such as the Group’s customers, may face difficulty
in anticipating changes in consumer tastes, preferences and
requirements and designing financial products to meet such
changes, which could lead to a lower demand for financial
payment products and in turn decrease these organisations’
demand for the products and services, which may adversely
affect the financial results of the Group.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(ii) As a supplier to financial institutions and

public sectors, the Group is subject to
applicable laws and regulations and/or
industry standards

Many of the industry organisations, government regulatory
agencies and other bodies to which the Group’s customers
belong or are subject to have issued their own sets of
standards, laws and regulations and criteria relating to the
facilities and products of payment solutions providers, which
the Group must satisfy in order to be eligible to supply
products and services to these customers. For example, as
required by the Group’s financial institution customers, the
Group has obtained certifications from all six of the leading
worldwide payment card organisations (Visa, MasterCard,
American Express, China UnionPay, JCB, and Diners Club)
with respect to the Group’s card manufacturing and
personalisation services. To maintain such certifications, the
Group is subject to rigorous periodic audits by these payment
card organisations to review the Group’s compliance with
their standards and criteria. The Group makes significant
investments in order to meet these standards and criteria,
which vary depending on the organisation or body, including
investments required to satisfy changes adopted from time
to time by these organisations and bodies in their respective
standards and criteria. Further investments to meet these
standards and criteria may be costly, and if the Group is
unable to continue to meet these standards and criteria,
the Group may become ineligible to provide products and
services that have constituted in the past an important part
of the Group’s revenue and profitability.

(iii) The Group faces significant competition in

each of the markets in which it operates,
which could affect its profitability

The Group’s market position depends upon its ability to
anticipate and proactively deal with changes in economic and
market conditions and evolving industry trends, as well as the
following factors: introduction of new or superior products
and services or more advanced technologies, adoption of
more flexible pricing strategies by the Group’s competitors
and changes in customers’ needs and preferences. The Group
cannot assure that its current or potential competitors will
not produce the same or similar products or products of a
better quality and/or provide similar or higher quality services
at the same or lower prices than the prices at which the
Group's products and services are provided.
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The Group's competitors may also react more quickly to
new or emerging technologies or changes in customer
preferences. In addition, the Group may face greater than
expected downward pricing pressure as a result of possible
price competition by competitors seeking to stimulate
demand in order to maintain or increase market share. Such
competition could adversely affect the Group’s results of
operations and business prospects. Any adverse changes in
the Group’s competitive environment could cause a reduction
in the sales quantity, its market share, or the sales price of
its products, which would lower the Group’s profitability.
As one of the suppliers to the major financial institutions
around the world, the Group’s performance and profitability
may be adversely affected if its customers, when faced with
operational difficulties and decreasing profit margins, seek
to demand more favourable trading terms from the Group in
relation to price and credit period. The Group's performance
and profitability will also be adversely affected if any of its
customers faces cost control or cash flow problems due to
such operational difficulties.

The Group's sales and growth are dependent on consumer
spending and consumer banking, which in turn depend
on continued improvement of macroeconomic conditions,
around the globe generally but in the Chinese mainland
in particular. There are many factors affecting the level
of consumer spending and consumer banking, including
but not limited to, interest rates, currency exchange rates,
recession, inflation, deflation, political uncertainty, taxation,
stock market performance, unemployment levels and general
consumer confidence. In addition, the Group believes that
the Group’s historical growth rates were largely dependent
on the general growth of the global economy. The Group can
provide no assurance that the global economy will continue
to grow at historical rates, or that it will not grow at all,
and any slowdowns or declines in economy or consumer
spending or consumer banking may adversely affect the
Group's business, financial condition, results of operations
and growth prospects.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(v) Changes in economic, political and social

conditions as well as policies around the
globe may adversely affect the Group

The risk of material adverse changes to the Group’s business
performance, development prospects and/or ability to deliver
its objectives and strategic goals, caused by changes in the
business, economic, regulatory or political environments in
which the Group operates, may in turn affect and diminish
the competitiveness of the Group and its potential for
business development. The impact of geopolitical turmoil may
lead to changes in trade, investment and other policies and
markets, and may also lead to disruptions in the supply of
certain key raw materials or components. This may exposes
the Group to the risk of rising raw material costs and price
volatility. In addition, changes in the international social
situations may bring about changes in policies and regulations
across the globe, which may impact the development of
different industries in various regions.

The Group will adopt an agile and adaptive mindset in
the changing global economic environment to respond to
challenges such as geopolitical turmoil through strategic
planning and operational adjustments. The Group will
also pay close attention to movements of policies and
markets in order to react in a timely manner and maintain
competitiveness.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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(vi) Natural disasters, health epidemics such

as COVID-19, social disruption and other
outbreaks could significantly disrupt the
Group’s operations

The Group may be vulnerable to social and natural
catastrophic and public health events that are beyond the
Group’s control, such as natural disasters, health epidemics,
and other catastrophes, which may materially and adversely
affect the Group’s business. Natural disasters may give rise
to water supply disruption, electricity disruption, transport
disruption, server interruption and system failures, which
could adversely affect the Group’s operation. For example,
the outbreak of COVID-19 has severely impacted China and
the rest of the world. There is no assurance that outbreak of
epidemic diseases such as COVID-19 will not further escalate
with new variant cases entailing different restrictive measures
in various countries which may in turn have a material
adverse effect on the Group's operations. Consequently, if
any natural disasters, health epidemics or other public safety
concerns were to affect the Group, the Group’s operations
may experience material disruptions, which may materially
and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial conditions
and results.

(vii)Data security risk may adversely affect the

110

Group

The Group attaches great importance on protecting and
safeguarding data of the customers and itself, and continues
to pay attention to the changes and updates of the laws
and policies related to privacy and data protection in various
countries and regions. As all countries and regions continue
to strengthen their regulation over data security and personal
privacy, the Group is fully aware that any loss or leakage
of such data could have a significant negative impact on
customers, which may cause adverse effect to the Group's
business.
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As one of the global leaders in total solutions in the field
of smart and secure payments, the Group has established
its information and data security management system in
strict compliance with the 1SO27001 information security
management system and the PCl (Payment Card Industry)
card production requirements. The Group has also passed
the Security Accreditation Scheme of GSMA, the Global
System for Mobile Communications Association. The Group’s
research and development environment has passed on-site
testing for security certification by the International Chip
Card Standardization Organisation (EMVCo). The Group
engages third-party organisations to conduct system
compliance inspections annually, which can effectively ensure
the reliability of the Group’s information and data security
management system.

In the provision of data processing services, the Group
follows the principle of data confidentiality and adopts a
self-developed automated processing system to encrypt and
process data to ensure the confidentiality, integrity and
security of customer data and production data. The Group
strictly controls and implements data security specifications
in accordance with the PCI security standards and the
requirements of regulatory authorities, throughout the data
lifecycle of data transmission, receiving, management, usage,
monitoring and destruction, and has successfully passed
the security compliance audits by international credit card
organisations for more than 25 consecutive years.

In addition, the Group’s secure payment products comply
with the data security norms and standards of international
credit card organisations including Visa, MasterCard,
American Express, JCB, Diners Club and China UnionPay, and
have successfully passed the security tests and anti-attack
tests conducted by the global leading laboratories such
as Applus Services, S.A. in Europe. The Group constantly
conducts regular tests to ensure the security of the products.

The Group has always taken the protection of data and
information security as its primary responsibility. The Group
has strengthened its daily business supervision and control,
and will continue to invest in research and development
of information and data security technologies in order to
maintain its position as an industry leader.
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(viii) The Group’s business may be adversely
affected by the introduction of new
payment technologies

The Group faces competition from new payment
technologies, which could reduce the demand for financial
cards as a payment method or the use of digital equipment.
If there are any new payment technologies which reduce
the demand for financial card products, digital equipment
or other new products the Group may introduce from time
to time, including new products arising from the Group’s
research and development activities, the Group may
experience material and adverse effects on its business,
financial condition and results of operations.

(ix) The Group’s adoption of contract-based
arrangements and/or structures in certain
lines of businesses brings about certain
risks

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Risks relating to
the Contractual Arrangement” under the section headed
“Information on the Contractual Arrangement” in the Report
of Directors.

INFORMATION ON THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENT

As disclosed in the announcement of the Group dated 8
February 2021, UMV Technology Limited (Zhuhai) (the “WFOE")
entered into the VIE Agreements with Zhirong Financial Services
Technology (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd. (the “OPCO") and/or Mr. Xian
Jun (the “PRC Equity Owner”) on 8 February 2021. Through
the following agreements (the “VIE Agreements”), the Group
was able to exercise 100% control over the OPCO in substance
notwithstanding the absence of legal ownership of the company.
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Particulars of the OPCO and its registered
owners and the WFOE

The OPCO is a limited liability company established and
subsisting under the laws of the PRC. Pursuant to the
VIE Agreements entered into between the OPCO, its
registered shareholders, namely the PRC Equity Owner,
and the WFOE, the WFOE was allowed to exercise
control of and enjoy economic benefits generated from
the OPCO.

The PRC Equity Owner is a nephew of each of Mr. Lu
Run Ting and Mr. Lu Runyi. Mr. Lu Run Ting is the
Chairman, an executive Director and the controlling
shareholder of the Company and Mr. Lu Runyi is an
executive Director of the Company, and therefore, the
PRC Equity Owner is a deemed connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

The WFOE is a wholly owned enterprise established
and subsisting under the laws of the PRC. The WFOE
is principally engaged in technical services, technical
development, technical consultation, technology
exchange, technology transfer and technology
promotion. As at 31 December 2024, the entire equity
interest of the WFOE was owned by the Company.

Description of OPCO’s business

The OPCO is principally engaged in (i) computer
software and hardware, (ii) research and development
in network technology, and (iii) information service
platform for online data processing and transactions
processing services as well as information service
businesses (the “Restricted Business”, and
collectively, the “Subject Business”). The OPCO
has the qualification to obtain the Value-added
Telecommunication Business Operation Licence (“VAT
Licence”) under the applicable laws and regulations in
the PRC to operate the Restricted Business.
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Summary of the major terms of the underlying
contracts of the Contractual Arrangement (the
“VIE Agreements”)

A summary of the terms of the VIE Agreements is set
out below.

(1) The Exclusive Technological Consultation and
Services Agreement

Date: 8 February 2021
Parties: (i)  the WFOE; and

(i) the OPCO.

Duration: From 8 February 2021 up until all of the
PRC Equity Owner’s equity interest in the OPCO
is transferred to the WFOE and/or its designated
nominee in accordance with the Exclusive Purchase
Right Agreement. The WFOE may at any time
terminate the Exclusive Technological Consultation
and Services Agreement by giving thirty (30) days’
advance written notice to the OPCO and the PRC
Equity Owner. The OPCO has no right to terminate
the Exclusive Technological Consultation and
Services Agreement on its own initiative.

Major terms: The OPCO shall engage the WFOE
on an exclusive basis to provide technological
consultation and services, including but not limited
to consulting services on company management
and business strategy; website design, design,
installation, debugging and maintenance services
for computer network systems; system integration,
system maintenance, server maintenance,
database support and software services; and other
related services at the OPCO’s request.
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Fee determination: The service fee shall be paid
on an annual basis and calculated by deducting
all costs and expenses approved by the WFOE
from the revenue generated by the OPCO for
the relevant financial year. Furthermore, the
WEFOE shall be entitled to adjust the service fee,
taking into account the scope of services as well
as the operating conditions and development
needs of the OPCO, without the OPCO’s consent.
The WEFOE shall fix the service fee taking into
account the complexity and difficulty of the
services provided by the WFOE, the time incurred
by the WFOE's employees for the provision of
the services, the actual services and commercial
value of the services provided by the WFOE, and
the prevailing market rates for the same type of
services.

Intellectual property rights: The WFOE shall enjoy
exclusively the rights, interests and intellectual
property arising from the performance of
the Exclusive Technological Consultation and
Services Agreement, including but not limited
to copyrights, trademarks, patents, technology
secrets and trade secrets, irrespective of whether
they are developed by the WFOE or the OPCO,
unless the relevant government authority requires
such rights to be held by the OPCO or if such
rights are the prerequisites for the OPCO to renew
its operating licence and permit.
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(2) The Exclusive Business Co-operation

Agreement
Date: 8 February 2021
Parties: (i)  the WFOE;
(i)  the OPCO; and
(iii)  the PRC Equity Owner.

Duration: From 8 February 2021 up until the
OPCO is dissolved in accordance with the PRC
laws. The WFOE may extend the term of the
Exclusive Business Co-operation Agreement before
expiry. The OPCO and the PRC Equity Owner shall
have no right to terminate the Exclusive Business
Co-operation Agreement before expiry. The WFOE
may at any time terminate the Exclusive Business
Co-operation Agreement by giving thirty (30) days’
advance written notice to the OPCO and the PRC
Equity Owner.

Major terms: Unless prior written consent has
been obtained from the WFOE or its designated
nominee(s), the OPCO shall not carry on any
transaction or conduct any act that may materially
adversely affect the assets, business, personnel,
obligations, rights or operation of the OPCO,
including but not limited to: (i) carrying out or
conducting any activities or operating the OPCO
in a manner that is beyond the OPCO’s usual
and ordinary scope of business; (ii) selling to,
acquiring from or otherwise disposing to any
third party any assets or rights (including but not
limited to any intellectual property) worth more
than RMB100,000; and (iii) assigning any rights
and obligations of the OPCO under the Exclusive
Business Co-operation Agreement to any third

party.
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The OPCO and the PRC Equity Owner shall accept
and strictly implement the suggestions and
instructions provided by the WFOE from time to
time on matters such as employment and dismissal
of employees, daily operation and management,
and the financial management system of the
OPCO. The OPCO and the PRC Equity Owner
shall elect or appoint persons designated by the
WFOE to serve as directors (or executive directors)
and supervisors of the OPCO in accordance with
the procedures prescribed by laws, regulations
and the OPCO’s articles of association, and shall
procure the election and appointment of such
persons designated by the WFOE as the chairman
(if there is a board of directors), general manager,
chief financial officer and other members of
the senior management of the OPCO. The PRC
Equity Owner shall sign a power of attorney to
irrevocably authorise the WFOE to exercise all his
shareholder’s rights in the OPCO on his behalf (the
“lIrrevocable Power of Attorney”). The WFOE
may in its sole discretion designate a nominee to
exercise such shareholders’ rights granted under
the Irrevocable Power of Attorney.
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(3)

The Exclusive Purchase Right Agreement
Date: 8 February 2021

Parties: (i)  the WFOE;

(i) the PRC Equity Owner; and

(iii) the OPCO.

Duration: From 8 February 2021 up until all of the
PRC Equity Owner’s equity interest in the OPCO
is transferred to the WFOE and/or its designated
nominee in accordance with the Exclusive Purchase
Right Agreement. Notwithstanding, the WFOE
may at any time terminate the Exclusive Purchase
Right Agreement by giving thirty (30) days’
advance written notice to the PRC Equity Owner
and the OPCO. Neither the PRC Equity Owner nor
the OPCO shall have the right to terminate the
Exclusive Purchase Right Agreement on his/its own
initiative.

Major terms: The PRC Equity Owner unconditionally
and irrevocably granted the WFOE an exclusive
right to, to the extent permissible under the PRC
laws, purchase or nominate any third party to
purchase, on one or more occasions, all or part
of the PRC Equity Owner's equity interest in the
OPCO. The purchase price shall be the lower of: (i)
the actual amount contributed by the PRC Equity
Owner to acquire the registered capital of the
OPCO; or (ii) the lowest price permissible under
the PRC laws (the “Permissible Minimum Price”)
(Note 1).
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Unless with the prior written consent of the
WFOE, neither the PRC Equity Owner nor the
OPCO shall assign or transfer any of his/its rights
and obligations under the Exclusive Purchase Right
Agreement. The obligations under the Exclusive
Purchase Right Agreement shall be binding on the
PRC Equity Owner, the OPCO and any of his/its
successors, assignees and transferees. Upon prior
written notice given to the PRC Equity Owner,
the WFOE may, to the extent permissible under
the PRC laws, assign all or any of its rights and
obligations under the Exclusive Purchase Right
Agreement to any third party.

Note 1: As advised by Jincheng Tongda & Neal (the “PRC Legal
Advisers”), under the PRC laws, there is no legal requirement
on the value of the Permissible Minimum Price. The Permissible
Minimum Price is to be agreed between the parties, and for
illustration purpose, it can be as low as RMB1. Nevertheless,
if the Group is to acquire all the equity interest in the OPCO
(assuming there is no restriction on foreign investment) and if
the consideration/equity transfer income for the equity interest
of the OPCO received by the PRC Equity Owner is regarded as
too low and without any reasonable ground, pursuant to the
Measures for the Administration of Individual Income Tax on
Equity Transfer Income (for Trial Implementation)* (A% # 2 %
FriSEARTS B E B J1% (F117))), the tax authority may assess
such equity transfer income and charge 20% tax thereof.
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Undertaking and covenants: The PRC Equity
Owner undertook (inter alia) that, prior to the
exercise of the exclusive purchase right by the
WFOE or its designated nominee to acquire all
of the equity interest in the OPCO, he shall not,
without prior written consent from the WFOE or
its designated nominee: (i) increase or reduce the
OPCOQO'’s registered capital or otherwise change
the registered capital structure of the OPCO;
(ii) procure the OPCO to enter into or carry on
any transactions or actions that will materially
adversely affect the assets, responsibilities,
operations, equity, and other legal rights of the
OPCO (except those which are in its usual and
ordinary course of business or those disclosed to
and with the prior written consent of the WFOE);
(iii) sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose
of any legal or beneficial interest in the OPCO’s
equity, or allow any other security interest to
be placed on it, or procure the shareholders’
meetings of the OPCO to approve these acts.

In addition, the PRC Equity Owner and the OPCO
jointly and severally undertook that, prior to
the exercise of the exclusive purchase right and
acquisition of all of the equity interest in the
OPCO by the WFOE or its designated nominee,
the OPCO shall not, without written consent from
the WFOE or its designated nominee commit
certain acts, including but not limited to (i)
entering into any transaction that will or may have
a material adverse effect on the OPCO’s assets,
responsibilities, operations, equity and other legal
rights (other than in its usual and ordinary course
of business, or prior disclosure has been made and
written consent has been given by the WFOE); (ii)
distributing dividends or equity entitlements in
any form to its shareholders; and (iii) dissolving
or liquidating (unless mandatorily required by the
PRC laws).
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(4) The Equity Pledge Agreement

Date: 8 February 2021
Parties: (i)  the WFOE;

(i) the PRC Equity Owner; and

(iii) the OPCO.

Duration: Effective upon the Equity Pledge
Agreement being duly executed and registered
by the relevant administrative authority and
shall remain binding until the WFOE’s written
confirmation of the discharge by the PRC Equity
Owner and the OPCO of all their obligations
under the Exclusive Technological Consultation
and Services Agreement, the Exclusive Business
Co-operation Agreement, the Loan Agreement,
the Exclusive Purchase Right Agreement and the
Irrevocable Power of Attorney (the “Contractual
Obligations”).

Major terms: The PRC Equity Owner agreed to
pledge all of his equity interest in the OPCO
and any interests arising therefrom during the
term of the Equity Pledge Agreement in favour
of the WFOE to secure the due performance of
the Contractual Obligations and as guarantee
for all the representations, undertakings and/
or warranties made to the WFOE by the PRC
Equity Owner or the OPCO under the Exclusive
Technological Consultation and Services
Agreement, the Exclusive Business Co-operation
Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Exclusive
Purchase Right Agreement and the Irrevocable
Power of Attorney.
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(5) The Spousal Consent Letter
Date: 8 February 2021

Parties:  Ms. Zhao (the spouse of the PRC Equity
Owner)

Major terms: Ms. Zhao unconditionally and
irrevocably agreed, confirmed and undertook that:

(i) she does not possess any rights or
entitlements to the equity interest of the
OPCO;

(i) all the equity interest held by the PRC Equity
Owner in the OPCO and all the benefits
derived therefrom shall not form part of the
matrimonial property between her and the
PRC Equity Owner;

(iii)  the performance, amendments, termination
and execution by the PRC Equity Owner of
the Equity Pledge Agreement, the Exclusive
Business Co-operation Agreement, the
Irrevocable Power of Attorney and the
Exclusive Purchase Right Agreement (the
“Transaction Documents”) did not require
her authorisation or consent;

(iv) she shall sign all necessary documents and
take all necessary actions to ensure the due
performance of the Transaction Documents
(as amended from time to time); and

(v) if she shall acquire any equity interest in the
OPCO for any reason, she shall be bound by
and comply with the Transaction Documents
(as amended from time to time), and upon
the WFOE's request, she shall sign a series
of documents essentially with the same form
and content as the Transaction Documents
(as amended from time to time).
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(6) The Loan Agreement

Date: 8 February 2021
Parties: (i)  the WFOE; and

(i) the PRC Equity Owner.

Duration: The term of the loan granted under the
Loan Agreement shall commence from the date of
the Loan Agreement for five years, which shall be
automatically renewed for another five years and
a further five years after expiration of each period
of automatic renewal.

Major terms: The WFOE shall provide to the PRC
Equity Owner a non-interest bearing loan in the
sum of RMB10,000,000, and the PRC Equity
Owner shall accept such loan in accordance with
the Loan Agreement. Such loans will be used
for the PRC Equity Owner’s contribution to the
paid-up capital of the OPCO. The loan will become
due and payable upon the WFOE's demand under
any of the following circumstances:

(i)  the PRC Equity Owner is dead, or has limited
or no civil capacity;

(i)  the PRC Equity Owner engages in any
criminal acts or is involved in any criminal
activities;

(iii) failure of the PRC Equity Owner to repay
any debts owed by him or taking up of any
material personal debts which may affect
his ability to repay the loans under the Loan
Agreement; or
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(iv) the WFOE gives written notice to the PRC
Equity Owner in accordance with the Loan
Agreement to exercise its right to purchase
the equity interest in the OPCO to the extent
permissible under the PRC laws.

Dispute resolution clauses

The VIE Agreements are governed by and will be
construed in accordance with the PRC laws. Any dispute
arising from the VIE Agreements between the parties
should first be resolved through negotiation. In case the
dispute cannot be resolved within 30 days, any party
may submit the said dispute to the Zhuhai Arbitration
Commission* (/8 {H & Z & €)in accordance with its
arbitration rules. The arbitrators may award remedies
over the equity interest or assets of the OPCO, grant
injunctive relief (e.g. mandatory transfer of assets) and/
or order the winding up of the OPCO. The results of
the arbitration shall be final and binding. When the
arbitral award is granted, any party can apply for its
enforcement in any courts of competent jurisdictions
such as courts in Hong Kong, the PRC and locations
where the principal assets of the WFOE or the OPCO
are located.

Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangement

The consolidated total revenue of the OPCO for the
year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
RMBO million. The consolidated total assets and net
assets of the OPCO as at 31 December 2024 amounted
to approximately RMB11.65 million and approximately
RMB-14.7 million respectively.
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Background and reasons for use of the
Contractual Arrangement

Regulations on foreign-invested telecommunications

According to the Regulations on the Administration
of Foreign-invested Telecommunication Enterprises
(2016 Amended)* (K/NEIREBFREERHRTE (2016
F{&%E7))) (the "FITE Regulations”), (i) the ratio of
investment by a foreign investor in a company providing
value-added telecommunications services shall not
exceed 50%, and (ii) a foreign investor who invests in a
value-added telecommunications services company shall
have a good track record and operational experience in
providing value-added telecommunications business (the
"Qualification Requirement”) in the PRC.

According to the Administrative Measures of Foreign
Investment Admission (Negative List) (2020 Revision)*
(KHIhEmEEEAFREERE(BAEFE) (2020
fFhg))) (the “2020 Negative List"”), value-added
telecommunications businesses are classified as
industries where foreign investments are restricted, and
the proportion of foreign investment shall not exceed
50% (except for e-commerce, domestic multi-party
communication, storage and forward, and call centre
businesses).

Reasons for adopting the Contractual Arrangement

Pursuant to the FITE Regulations and the 2020 Negative
List, (i) the ratio of investment by a foreign investor in
a company providing value-added telecommunications
services shall not exceed 50%; and (ii) a foreign investor
who invests in a value-added telecommunications
services company shall have the Qualification
Requirement in the PRC.
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As advised by the PRC Legal Advisers, there lacks a
clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirement. Furthermore, due to the foreign
ownership restrictions as outlined above and based
on the formal consultation with the officer of the
Guangdong Communications Administration by the
PRC Legal Advisers on 19 November 2020, since the
Group had no operational experience in value-added
telecommunications business in the PRC nor had
it previously acquired any equity interest in a PRC
enterprise engaged in telecommunications business,
the PRC Legal Advisers have taken the view that from a
regulatory perspective, unless it is through Contractual
Arrangement, the Group would not be able to engage
in the value-added telecommunications business in the
PRC directly or hold any equity interest of the OPCO.
In the event that the Group holds any equity interest
in the OPCO, the application to renew the VAT Licence
of the OPCO would not be approved. The PRC Legal
Advisers have confirmed that all possible actions or
steps taken to enable it to reach its legal conclusions
had been taken.

As advised by the PRC Legal Advisers, the Group
has reasonably assessed the requirements under
all applicable rules, committed financial and other
resources and implemented all the PRC Legal Advisers’
recommendations prior to establishing the Contractual
Arrangement.

In view of the above, the VIE Agreements were entered
into among the WFOE, the OPCO and the PRC Equity
Owner. Through the VIE Agreements, the WFOE will
have effective control over the finance and operation of
the OPCO and will enjoy the entire economic interests
and benefits generated by the OPCO despite the lack of
registered equity ownership.
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The Company has discussed with its auditors and
confirms that the financial results of the OPCO has
been and will be consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Group under the prevailing
accounting principles. On the basis of the aforesaid
confirmation and pursuant to Rule 1.01 of the Listing
Rules, the Company further confirms that the OPCO is
an indirect subsidiary of the Company as 100% of its
equity interest is attributable to the Company through
the WFOE.

Commercial Benefits of the Transactions

The Group aims to become the world’s leading supplier
of Fintech products and services and a leader in the
financial payment products. Accordingly, the Group
has been actively looking for opportunities to tap into
the Subject Business, including the Restricted Business.
As outlined above, due to the foreign ownership
restriction, the Group would not be able to engage
in the Restricted Business other than adopting the
Contractual Arrangement (namely, entering into the
VIE Agreements). After in-depth discussion of the
management of the Company, it was decided that the
PRC Equity Owner, who is a deemed connected person
of the Company and a current employee of the Group
and as such whose interest would be more aligned
with that of the Group and the potential conflict of
interest would be mitigated, is a suitable person to
establish the OPCO with the principal business of
offering information service platform for online data
processing and transactions processing services as well
as information service businesses which will then enter
into the Contractual Arrangement with the Group.
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Apart from the regulatory benefits, adopting the
Contractual Arrangement will bring the following
commercial benefits to the Group:

(i) It allows the Group to have effective control over
the finance and operation of the OPCO and to
enjoy the entire economic interests and benefits
granted by the OPCO. By introducing the Subject
Business, the OPCO will create a new business
driver to the Company and generate a long-term
return to the Shareholders.

(i) It enables the Group to obtain the VAT Licence
necessary for providing the value-added
telecommunication services in the PRC and
enhances the competitiveness and adaptability of
the Group in the market.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangement

The Group will bear economic risks which may
arise from financial difficulties in the operation of
the OPCO

As the primary beneficiary of the OPCO, the Group
will bear economic risks which may arise from financial
difficulties in the operation of business of the OPCO.
In such events, the WFOE will have to provide financial
support to the OPCO. Accordingly, the Group’s financial
results and financial position may be adversely affected
by the worsening financial performance of the OPCO
and the need to provide financial support to the OPCO.
As discussed above, none of the VIE Agreements
provides that the WFOE is obliged to share the losses
of the OPCO or provide financial support to the
OPCO. However, since the Group conducts the Subject
Business through the OPCO and the financial results
of the OPCO would be consolidated into the financial
statements of the Group, any losses suffered by the
OPCO would be reflected in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements and the Group’s consolidated
financial position such as the consolidated earnings and
profits would be adversely affected.
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There is no assurance that the VIE Agreements
could comply with future changes in the regulatory
requirements in the PRC and the PRC Government
may determine that the VIE Agreements do not
comply with applicable regulations

Despite there is currently no indication that the VIE
Agreements will be interfered or objected by any PRC
regulatory authorities, the PRC Legal Advisers have
advised that there is a possibility that the relevant PRC
regulatory authorities may have different opinions on
the interpretation of the relevant regulations and would
not agree that the VIE Agreements comply with the
PRC laws, and the authorities may deny the validity,
effectiveness and enforceability of the VIE Agreements.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to
the interpretation and implementation of the
Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact
the viability of the current corporate structure,
corporate governance and business operations

The Foreign Investment Law stipulates certain forms of
foreign investment. However, the Foreign Investment
Law does not explicitly stipulate the contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment.
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As discussed above and advised by the PRC Legal
Advisers, since contractual arrangements are not
specified as investments under the Foreign Investment
Law, and if future laws, administrative regulations and
provisions of the State Council do not incorporate
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign
investment, the Contractual Arrangement as a whole
and each of the VIE Agreements will not be affected.
Notwithstanding the above, the Foreign Investment Law
stipulates that foreign investment includes “foreign
investors invest through any other methods under laws,
administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by
the State Council”. Therefore, there are possibilities
that future laws, administrative regulations or provisions
prescribed by the State Council may regard contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment, and
in such events it would be uncertain whether the
Contractual Arrangement will be recognised as foreign
investment, and whether the Contractual Arrangement
will be deemed to be in violation of the foreign
investment access requirements. Therefore, there is
no guarantee that the Contractual Arrangement and
the business of the OPCO will not be materially and
adversely affected in the future.

The Contractual Arrangement may not be as
effective as direct ownership in providing control
over the OPCO

The Group relies on the Contractual Arrangement to
operate the business of the OPCO. The Contractual
Arrangement may not be as effective in providing the
WEFOE with control over the OPCO as direct ownership.
If the WFOE has direct ownership of the OPCO, it
will be able to exercise its rights as a shareholder to
effect changes in the board of directors of the OPCO,
which in turn could effect changes, subject to any
applicable fiduciary obligations, at the management
level. However, under the VIE Agreements, the Group
relies on the performance by the PRC Equity Owner of
his obligations under the VIE Agreements to exercise
control over the OPCO. Therefore, the VIE Agreements
with the PRC Equity Owner may not be as effective in
ensuring the WFOE’s control over the OPCO as direct
ownership would be.
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The PRC Equity Owner may potentially have a
conflict of interest with the Group

The Group’s control over the OPCO is based on the
Contractual Arrangement. Therefore, conflict of
interests of the PRC Equity Owner will adversely affect
the interests of the Company. Conflict of interests may
occur when the interest of the PRC Equity Owner no
longer align with that of the Group. In such events,
the PRC Equity Owner may breach or cause the OPCO
to breach the VIE Agreements. If the Group fails to
resolve this internally, it may have to resort to dispute
resolution, other legal means, or ultimately removing
and replacing the PRC Equity Owner, which might affect
the WFOE's business, prospects or results of operation
and the investors’ confidence in the Contractual
Arrangement.

Certain terms of the VIE Agreements may not be
enforceable under the PRC laws

The VIE Agreements provide that the arbitration tribunal
of the PRC may award remedies over the equity interest
or assets of the OPCO (e.g. in relation to its conduct
of business, transfer of assets and equity interest) or
winding up of the OPCO. The VIE Agreements also
provide that any party thereto may seek temporary
injunctive relief from the courts in Hong Kong, the
PRC and the location where the principal assets of the
Company or the OPCO are located.

However, the PRC Legal Advisers have taken the view
that pursuant to the PRC laws, the arbitration tribunal
may have no power to grant the aforementioned
remedies or injunctive relief or to order the winding
up of the OPCO. In addition, even though the VIE
Agreements provide that overseas courts (e.g. courts
in Hong Kong) shall have the power to grant certain
relief or remedies, such relief or remedies may not be
recognised or enforced under the PRC laws. As a result,
in the event that the OPCO or any of the PRC Equity
Owner breaches the terms of the VIE Agreements, the
Company may not be able to obtain sufficient remedies
in a timely manner, and its ability to exert effective
control over the OPCO may be materially and adversely
affected.
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Limitations in acquiring ownership in the equity
interest of the OPCO

In case the WFOE exercises its option to acquire all
or part of the equity interest of the OPCO under the
Exclusive Purchase Right Agreement, such acquisition
may only be conducted to the extent permissible
under the PRC laws and will be subject to necessary
approvals and relevant procedures under the PRC
laws. In addition, the aforementioned acquisitions may
be subject to a minimum price limitation (such as an
appraised value for the entire equity interest in the
OPCO) or other limitations as imposed by the applicable
PRC laws. Further, a substantial amount of taxes, other
necessary costs (if any), expenses and time may be
involved in acquiring and transferring the ownership of
the OPCO, which may have a material adverse impact
on the WFOE and/or the OPCQO’s businesses, prospects
and results of operation.

The Company does not have any insurance which
covers the risks relating to the VIE Agreements and
the transactions contemplated thereunder

The insurance of the Group does not cover the risks
relating to the VIE Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder. If any risk arises from the VIE
Agreements in the future, such as those affecting the
enforceability of the VIE Agreements and the operation
of VIE Agreements, the results of the Group may be
adversely affected. To this end, the Group will monitor
the relevant legal and operational environment from
time to time to comply with the applicable laws and
regulations. The Company will continue evaluating
the feasibility, the cost and the benefit of insuring the
transactions contemplated under the VIE Agreements.
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The VIE Agreements may not be subject to scrutiny
of the PRC tax authorities and additional tax may
be imposed

The Group could face adverse tax consequences if the
PRC tax authorities determine that the arrangements
under the VIE Agreements were not entered into
based on arm’s length negotiations, and as such the
tax authorities may adjust income and expenses of
the WFOE and/or the OPCO for the PRC tax purposes,
which could result in higher tax liabilities on the WFOE
and/or the OPCO. The operating and financial results of
the WFOE may be adversely affected if the tax liabilities
of the OPCO or those of the WFOE increase significantly
or if they are required to pay interest on late payments
and other penalties.

Internal control measures implemented by the
Group

With a view to enhancing effective control over and
safeguarding the assets of the OPCO, the Exclusive
Purchase Right Agreement provides that the PRC Equity
Owner shall not sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise
dispose of any of his interests in the OPCO or create
any encumbrances on them without the prior written
consent of the WFOE. Under the Exclusive Purchase
Right Agreement, the WFOE has the right to request
for the OPCO’s financial information to ascertain its
consolidated profit before tax from time to time.

In addition, the Company has also put in place the
following internal control measures:

(i)  the seals, chops, incorporation documents of the
OPCO are kept at the office of the WFOE to the
extent permissible under the PRC laws;

(i)  the WFOE is involved in making corporate
management and strategic planning of the OPCO;
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(iii) the WFOE shall nominate directors, supervisors,
general manager and other senior management
staffs of the OPCO; and

(iv) the WFOE is involved in assessing financial matters
of the OPCO.

Material change

There has not been any material change in the
Contractual Arrangement and/or the circumstances
under which they were adopted during the year ended
31 December 2024.

Termination of Contractual Arrangement

The Company will unwind the Contractual Arrangement
as soon as the PRC laws allow the Restricted Business
to be operated without the Contractual Arrangement,
and the Company or its nominee may acquire the
equity interest in the OPCO held by the PRC Equity
Owner and/or the assets of the OPCO are allocated to
the Subject Business to the extent permissible under
the PRC laws. In the event the WFOE exercises the
right under the Exclusive Purchase Right Agreement to
acquire the equity interest in the OPCO held by the PRC
Equity Owner and/or the assets of the OPCO to unwind
the Contractual Arrangement, each of the PRC Equity
Owner and the OPCO has undertaken to return to the
WEFOE any consideration he/it shall receive.

However, as at 31 December 2024, there has not been
any termination of the Contractual Arrangement.
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Human resources are one of the greatest assets of the Group
and the Group regards the personal development of its
employees as highly important. The Group wants to continue
to be an attractive employer for committed employees.

The Group strives to motivate its employees with a
clear career path and opportunities for advancement
and improvement of their skills. The Group provides
pre-employment and on-the-job training and development
opportunities to its employees. The training programs cover
areas such as managerial skills, R&D capacity, innovative
technologies, sales and production, customer services, quality
control, workplace ethics, information security, compliance
and legal and training of other areas relevant to the industry.
In addition, the Group seriously consider all those valuable
feedback from its employees for enhancing workplace
productivity and harmony.

Generally, a salary review is conducted annually. Aside from
basic remuneration, the Group provides employee with
mandatory social security funds, pensions, work-related injury
insurance, maternity insurance, medical and unemployment
insurance, and full coverage of housing provident fund
contributions in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations of the Chinese mainland. For employees outside
the Chinese mainland, the Group also makes contributions
towards relevant insurance schemes, pension schemes
and provident fund required by applicable local laws and
regulations.
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Meanwhile, the Group adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme (which has expired on 3 December 2019), Share
Option Scheme (which has expired on 4 December 2023)
and Share Award Scheme to recognise and motivate the
contribution of the employees and attract suitable personnel
for the long-term growth and further strategic expansion of
the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2024, no shares
have been granted or agreed to be granted to any selected
participants or eligible employees (2023: Nil) under the Share
Award Scheme.

The Group has developed long-standing relationships with a
number of its suppliers and takes great care to ensure that
they share the Group’s commitment to quality and ethics.
The Group carefully selects its suppliers and requires them
to satisfy certain assessment criteria including track record,
experience, financial strength, reputation, products qualities
and quality control effectiveness. The Group also requires its
suppliers to comply with the Group’s anti-bribery policy and
enter into a supplier integrity undertaking.

The Group is committed to maintain and develop its
diversified clients’ portfolio consisting of public sectors
including social security, transportation, healthcare, etc.,
world-leading financial institutions and multinational
companies. The Group maximizes client value by offering
professional and effective operation model and innovative
and differentiated products and services, to intensify the
interaction and viscosity between clients and the Group and
enhances the client experience.

The Group is listed on the Stock Exchange and various subsidiaries
are located in the Chinese mainland and Hong Kong. The Group’s
operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the Chinese mainland and Hong Kong. During the
year 2024, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations in the Chinese mainland, Hong Kong and other regions
where the Group’s subsidiaries locate.
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Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year 2024 are set out on pages 199 and 200
of this Annual Report and in Note 37 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements on page 284 of this Annual Report respectively.

In February 2017, the Group acquired the 50-year land use right of
a land parcel for new industry related use with RMB26,669,442 in
Zhuhai. The total area is approximately 20,999.56 square meters
situated in the No. 88, Zhiyun Road, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai,
Guangdong Province, China, where the operation of the Group is
located, for the future development of the Group.

In October 2018, with the support of Zhuhai municipal
government, the Group started the construction of “Zhuhai Fintech
Center” on this land parcel, with a total construction area of
approximately 56,000 square meters, which has been constructed
in 2022 and put into use in the 4th quarter of 2022 as the Group's
R&D centre office and as R&D offices for attracting Fintech
enterprises, and no more than 15% of the area of the centre will
be used as commercial rental. The Group’s total investment for the
centre amounted to approximately RMB320.0 million. The Group
will leveraging its own industry resources accumulated over the
years in the field of Fintech to bring together global professionals
in the loT, intelligent security payment, data encryption, integrated
circuits and other industries, and will jointly make forward-looking
technological exploration and technological innovation in areas
such as block chain, A.l,, big data, biometrics and other areas.

In 2016, the Group acquired the property located in 13th Floor,
Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre No. 56 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong for HKD178 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB159.0 million) with a total area of 7857 square
feet. More than half of this property is used as the headquarters
office of the Group, and the remainder is currently leased for
office use by an independent third-party enterprise for 3 years
from 1 March 2022.
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Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year 2024 are set out in Note 15 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 250 and 251 of this
Annual Report.

BANK LOANS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no bank loans (2023:
Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year 2024 are set out in Note 30 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements on page 274 of this Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for the distribution to the
shareholders as at 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
RMB182.4 million (31 December 2023: approximately RMB8.0
million).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL KEY
PERFORMANCE

The business review of the Group for the year 2024 is set out in
the Management Discussion and Analysis of this Annual Report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report. An analysis of the
Group's performance during the year 2024 using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the section headed “Financial
Highlights” on page 5 of this Annual Report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE PAST FIVE
YEARS

The results, assets and liabilities of the past five years of the Group
are set out in the Financial Summary on page 316 of this Annual
Report.
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The share option scheme was conditionally adopted pursuant
to a written resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company on 15 November 2013 (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the primary purpose of recognising and
acknowledging the contributions of any full-time or part-time
employees, executives or officers, any Directors, any advisors,
consultants, suppliers, customers and agents of the Group,
or such other persons who, in the sole opinion of the Board,
will contribute or have contributed to the Group, and the
principle terms are as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the maximum number of shares (i.e. 80,000,000 shares)
in respect of which options may be granted shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue at
the date of listing of the shares of the Company on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange;

the maximum entitlement of each eligible participant in
any 12-month period up to the date of offer to grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the
date of offer to grant;

options granted should be taken up on payment of
HKD1.0 by the grantee on or before the relevant
acceptance date. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors of the Company at their discretion and will not
be lower than the highest of: (a) the closing price of the
ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange at the offer date,
which must be a trading day; (b) the average closing
price of the ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the offer
date; and (c) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
The period during which an option may be exercised will
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion,
except that no option may be exercised more than ten
years after it has been granted; and

there is no definite vesting period under the Share
Option Scheme and the vesting period may be decided
by the Board from time to time. There is no minimum
period for which an option granted must be held before
it can be exercised except otherwise imposed by the
Board.
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The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years from the adoption date. The Share Option
Scheme expired on 4 December 2023. No further options
could be granted under the Share Option Scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no options were
exercised, cancelled or lapsed pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme. As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024,
there was no outstanding option not exercised under the
Share Option Scheme. As at the date of this report, the
total number of shares issuable with respect to the options
granted under Share Option Scheme is nil, representing 0%
of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury
shares of the Company, if any) as at that date.

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 30 November 2015 (the “Adoption
Date”) with a duration of 15 years commencing from 11
December 2015. As at 31 December 2024, the remaining
life of the Share Award Scheme is approximately 6 years.
The objectives of the Share Award Scheme are to (i)
align the interests of any employee, adviser, consultant,
agent, contractor, client or supplier of any member of the
Group whom the Directors in their sole discretion consider
may contribute or have contributed to the Group (the
“Participants”); (ii) recognise and motivate the contribution
of the Participants and to provide incentives in retaining the
Participants for future operation and development of the
Group; and (iii) attract suitable personnel for the long-term
growth and further strategic expansion of the Group, and the
principal terms are as follows:

(i) the Company has engaged BOCI-Prudential Trustee
Limited (the “Trustee”) to administer and hold
the Company’s shares before they are vested and
transferred to the Participants. The Trustee purchases
the Company’s shares being awarded from the open
market at the prevailing market price with funds
provided by the Company by way of contribution;
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(i) the maximum number of restricted shares in respect of
which awards may be granted shall not exceed 10%
of the total number of issued shares of the Company
at the Adoption Date (restricted shares awarded but
cancelled, lapsed and/or not yet vested are all excluded);

(iii) unless specifically approved by the shareholders of the
Company, the aggregate number of new shares to be
granted as restricted shares in each financial year shall
not exceed 3% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company as at the Adoption Date;

(iv) the maximum number of restricted shares which may be
awarded to each Participant under the scheme shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company as at the Adoption Date; and

(v)  there is no restrictions on vesting period, the purchase
price or the amount payable on application or
acceptance of the restricted shares awarded except
otherwise imposed by the Board.

In May 2017, the Group granted 10,374,000 shares under
the Share Award Scheme to the Participants. The shares
awarded shall be vested in three years on each anniversary
of the first vesting date, which is 26 November 2017,
in equal portions. The estimated fair value of the shares
award granted at the grant date were approximately
HKD27,564,000 (equivalent to RMB24,239,000) based on the
market price of the relevant shares at the grant date.

As at 31 December 2020, all these shares were either vested
or lapsed.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Trustee did
not acquire any ordinary shares of the Company (2023: Nil),
no shares have been granted or agreed to be granted to any
selected participants during 2024 (2023: Nil) under the Share
Award Scheme. The Group did not recognise any expense for
the year ended 31 December 2024 in relation to the share
awards (for year ended 31 December 2023: Nil).
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As at each of 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, there
were no unvested shares under the Share Award Scheme.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no shares of the
Company were vested, cancelled or lapsed under the Share
Award Scheme. As at 31 December 2024, 8,146,000 shares
of the Company under the Share Award Scheme were held
by the Trustee (As at 31 December 2023: 8,146,000 shares).

Under the Share Award Scheme, the maximum number of
new shares available for issue shall be 24,990,900 shares
of the Company (excluding treasury share, if any) in each
financial year, representing approximately 3.1% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date of
this Annual Report.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the total
number of shares of the Company available for grant under
the Share Award Scheme were both 72,929,000 shares.

In any event, any grant of the share awards under the Share
Award Scheme shall comply with Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules taking effect from 1 January 2023.

The Directors of the Company during the year 2024 and up to the
date of this Annual Report were:

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
. LIYijin

LU Run Ting (Chairman)
HOU Ping
LU Runyi

WU Sigiang

LU Wai Lim
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Li
Ms. YE Lu
Mr. LAl Tung Kwok

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Details of the Directors’ profiles are set out in the “Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 26 to 37 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries
of the Company during the year 2024 and up to the date of this
Annual Report are as follows:

Goldpac Limited

Mr. LU Run Ting

Mr. HOU Ping (resigned on 21 February 2025)
Mr. LU Runyi (resigned on 21 February 2025)

Goldpac Technology Service Limited (Hengqin)
Mr. HOU Ping

Mr. LU Runyi

Mr. LU Wai Lim

Mr. WU Sigiang

Ms. HUANG Minjie

Goldpac Datacard Solutions Company Limited
Mr. LU Run Ting

Mr. HOU Ping

Mr. LU Runyi

Goldpac Investment Limited
Mr. LU Run Ting

Goldpac Innovation Limited
Mr. LU Run Ting

SecureTech Holdings Limited
Mr. HOU Ping

Mr. HUI Oliver Siu-Pang

Mr. LU Wai Lim
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Goldpac Fintech Private Limited
Mr. HOU Ping

Mr. HUI Oliver Siu-Pang

Mr. YAP Mung Hong

Ms. HUANG Minjie

Mr. LU Wai Lim

Goldpac Fintech Hong Kong Limited (in voluntary
winding up)

Mr. HOU Ping

Mr. HUI Oliver Siu-Pang

Mr. LU Wai Lim

Goldpac Fintech Philippines Limited Inc.
(deregistration on 28 November 2024)

Mr. Marcos Joao Fernandes

Mr. Marvin Pico

Goldpac Fintech (Zhuhai) Limited Company
Mr. LU Run Ting

Mr. HOU Ping (resigned on 24 February 2025)
Mr. LU Runyi (resigned on 24 February 2025)

UMV International Holding Limited
Mr. LU Run Ting

UMV Technology Limited (Zhuhai)
Mr. HOU Ping

Mr. LU Wai Lim

Mr. WU Yixiang

Zhirong Financial Services Technology (Zhuhai) Co.
Mr. HOU Ping

Mr. LU Wai Lim

Mr. WU Yixiang

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years, which
shall be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either the executive Director or the Company.
Each of independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years.
The appointment of each Director is subject to the provisions of
appointment and retirement of directors under the Articles of
Association of the Company.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

Goldpac Fintech Private Limited
&' FE&E

AW RE

YAP Mung Hong4t &

EHSELL

& BLBR ST A&

THESRMNKEBERALT (BEEFEY)

m ¥t
OB A
ERELEE

Goldpac Fintech Philippines Limited Inc.
(R2024F 11 H28H F#5)

Marcos Joao Fernandes?t 4

Marvin Pico%t &

BKETESHECHIMRREERAT
' A (R2025%F2 H24H 8 1F)
G 5 A (R20254E2 H24 H B (F)

ENEREBRERERAA

ETNERME (8 ARLQF
= FEAE
EBRELE
REAEE

ERERME (KB)BRLTF
= FEAE
BRI E
REALE

BUATEFRHEARFTAER/HA=F
MRB AR - WA E R A LBBREA =
BRABELEBMBAUL EREERE - F—
MBI FMTEFHERARAFIERBA=
FHEBE - -MEEENEIPMELHE
SARBOEIRAA



REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. LU
Run Ting, Mr. LAl Tung Kwok and Mr. LU Runyi shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. LU Run Ting and Mr. LAl
Tung Kwok, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-elections
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. LU Runyi has
informed the Company that he will not offer himself for re-election
at the annual general meeting and accordingly will retire as
executive Director upon the conclusion of the annual general
meeting.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM
THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. JIANG Li, Ms. YE Lu
and Mr. LAl Tung Kwok, the confirmation of their respective
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has duly reviewed the confirmation of independence
of each of these Directors. The Company considers that the
independent non-executive Directors had been independent from
the date of their appointment to 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (all within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong (“SFO")), which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3
of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”), were as follows:
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Name of Director

EEns

Mr. LU Run Ting (Chairman)

EREXE (ZE)

Mr. HOU Ping
& FRE

Mr. LU Runyi
EBREE

Mr. WU Sigiang
;DQ/EILE/\ gi?ﬁ E

Mr. LU Wai Lim
ERREE

Ms. LI Yijin
FHERT

Capacity/Nature of Interests

BRME

Founder of a discretionary trust
who can influence how the trustee
exercise his discretion®”
AFEZIRANMITEERNEED
BRI

Beneficial owner?®

g é }\(2)(//')

Beneficial owner”

Z#AY

Beneficial owner®

ZHAY

Beneficial owner®”

2 A

Beneficial owner®

2 A

Beneficial owner”

2N
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Number of securities held”

FiEsEa"

299,759,422 shares (L)

299,759,422 (L)

1,740,000 shares (L)

1,740,000%(L)

12,000,000 shares (L)
12,000,000(%(L)

48,321,000 shares (L)
48,321,0000%(L)

725,004 shares (L)
725,004(%(L)

16,000 shares (L)
16,0000%(L)

2,044,000 shares (L)
2,044,0000%(L)

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

Company (%)®
iR AR ER

BHE D (%)

37.10%

0.22%

1.49%

5.98%

0.09%

0.002%

0.25%



Notes:

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)
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The letter “L” denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares of the
Company.

Mr. LU Run Ting's interests consisted of: (i) 299,759,422 shares held by GIHL.
On 8 November 2022, through allotment of shares and conversion of shares,
the 100% control in GIHL was changed from Chairman LU to Golden Wellness
Investment Limited, a company 100% controlled by GLIL, which was in turn
100% held by Cititrust Private Trust (Cayman) Limited as the trustee of a
family trust set up by Chairman LU. This family trust is a discretionary trust.
As the founder of this discretionary trust, Chairman LU can influence how the
trustee exercises his discretion. Accordingly, Chairman LU was still deemed to
be interested in GIHL's interest in the Company by virtue of the SFO; and (ii)
1,740,000 shares held directly by Mr. LU Run Ting as beneficial owner.

Mr. HOU Ping’s interests consisted of: (i) 300,000 shares issued by options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (this scheme expired on 3
December 2019) and exercised on 25 August 2015; and (ii) 1,200,000 shares
awarded on 26 May 2017 under the Share Award Scheme; and (i) 10,500,000
shares transferred from GIHL on 10 June 2020.

Mr. LU Runyi's interests consisted of: (i) 2,120,000 shares and 45,000,000
shares respectively transferred from GIHL on 20 March 2015 and 10 June
2020; (i) 400,000 shares issued by options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme (this scheme expired on 3 December 2019) and exercised on
25 August 2015; and (iii) 801,000 shares awarded on 26 May 2017 under the
Share Award Scheme.

Mr. WU Sigiang’s interests consisted of: (i) 130,000 shares as beneficial owner;
and (ii) 801,000 shares awarded on 26 May 2017 under the Share Award
Scheme, and because of the expenses caused by this scheme, 205,996 shares
were deducted on 26 November 2019 which was the final vesting date.

Mr. LU Wai Lim holds 16,000 shares as beneficial owner. From 18 March 2024,
Mr. LU no longer has any discloseable interest in the family trust established by
Chairman LU.

Mr. LI Yijin held 2,044,000 shares as beneficial owner.

As at 31 December 2024, the number of issued shares of the Company was
807,928,000 shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024 none of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO), which were required: (a) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which he/she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or (c) pursuant to the Model
Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which
the Company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with any
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2024 or as at 31
December 2024.

DIRECTOR’S RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year ended
31 December 2024 or as at 31 December 2024 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements which enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance had been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders
of the Company or any of their subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2024. There was no contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries
by the controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, for the year ended 31
December 2024, no Director had interests in any business apart
from the Group’s business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.
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The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for the
Directors and Senior Management in respect of certain liabilities
arising out of corporate activities. As required by Section 470(1)
and (2) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), it is
confirmed that the permitted indemnity provision mentioned above
is/was in force for the benefit of the Directors/then Directors of
Company, and the directors/then directors of any of its subsidiaries
when the Directors’ Report prepared by the Directors is approved
in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance;
and has been in force throughout the financial year ended 31
December 2024, respectively. Pursuant to the Company’s Articles
of Association, subject to the provisions of the Companies
Ordinance, every Director or other officer or auditor may be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any liability,
loss or expenditure incurred by him in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or omitted
to be done or alleged to have been done or omitted to be done
by him as an officer or auditor of the Company and in which
judgment is given in his favour or in which he is acquitted, or
incurred in connection with any application in which relief is
granted to him by the court from liability in respect of any such act
or omission.

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in
the section headed “Incentive Schemes” above.

Save as disclosed above, no equity-linked agreement that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing Shares, was entered into by the Company
during the year 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year 2024.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year 2024.

The emoluments of the Directors for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements on pages 241 to 245 of this Annual Report.
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Each of the controlling shareholders has confirmed to the
Company of his/its compliance with the non-compete undertakings
provided to the Company under the Deed of Non-Competition
(as defined in the Prospectus). The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have
been complied with by the controlling shareholders.

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit,
qualifications and competence of individual employees and are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee periodically.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee to the Board and are decided by the
Board, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The share award scheme of the Company remains in force to motivate
and reward its Directors and eligible employees. Details of these
schemes are set out in the paragraph headed “Incentive Schemes”
above and Note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on the
pages 275 to 276 of this Annual Report.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year 2024.

The qualifying employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
Chinese mainland are members of the basic old-age insurance
pension schemes operated by the Ministry of Human Resources
and Social Security of the PRC (MOHRSS) and relevant authorities.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll to the pension schemes to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the pension
schemes is to make the required contributions under the schemes.
The Group participates in Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
schemes for its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under
the rules of MPF schemes, the employer and its employees are
required to contribute 5% of the employee’s salaries, up to a
maximum of HKD1,500 per employee per month. For qualifying
employees in other countries, the local subsidiaries also pays
a certain percentage of their payroll to the legally required
pension contributions in accordance with local laws. The pension
contributions paid above are defined contribution plans, the
Group does not have the right to confiscate the contributions and
therefore has no use of the contributions.

Save for the above contributions, the Group does not have any
other major payment obligation in respect of pension benefits.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

TERRR QARG N EE
R zERZRAXR

As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to the Directors,
the following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company) and entities had interests or short positions in the
Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to

MR2024F12A318 - MEBEBFSHAM - AT
AT (RAREEXESTHRABERIIN K
B REBE(EFLIPEEN) EXVIIE2
NEIDHAETURBELRE(EERTE

%)
i

be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of &) E336{K BN AR A GEENZ T JaK
the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the iR RARQRBRGD RABBEROFHEESN e
Company under section 336 of the SFO: BmokR - =«
Approximate 5 E -
percentage of 5%
interest in co
the Company® c
Name Capacity/Nature of Interests Number of securities held”  FT{i A2 A& 7
e BEUE FEEsga” B E s
Cititrust Private Trust Interest of Controlled Corporation(z’ 299,759,422 shares (L) 37.10% ;,
(Cayman) Limited Tl EEER" 299,759,422%(L) 5
Ms. ZHANG Jian Spouse” 301,499,422 shares (L) 37.32%
Rigw+ [ 301,499,4224(1)
Agende des participations de  Interest of Controlled Corporation(‘” 152,931,181 shares (L) 18.93%

I'Etat ("APE")

Notes:

(1)

ZEHEEEEY

The letter “L" denotes a person’s long position in the shares of the Company.

152,931,181[%(L)
Bat -
(1) TLURRBEEALIRARBROAFETE -

d
ce Report

(2) 299,759,422 shares were held by GIHL. On 8 November 2022, through  (2) & IPEBIE FF#5299,759,4220% « 2022411 5 [
allotment of shares and conversion of shares, the 100% control in GIHL was A8H @ & MEBRBB/IL B KB MR - : i
changed from Chairman LU to Golden Wellness Investment Limited, a company H100% = HIEHEE F F# F AGolden Wellness 2
100% controlled by GLIL, which was in turn 100% held by Cititrust Private Investment Limited * 2 A Al & #1& &100% g7
Trust (Cayman) Limited as the trustee of a family trust set up by Chairman LU. e e It A AE T ERTNRKEE ol
This family trust was a discretionary trust. As the founder of this discretionary #) % FECititrust Private Trust (Cayman) Limited
trust, Chairman LU could influence how the trustee exercises his discretion. 100% 4 H - ZREEEAMEEX - EXHE
Accordingly, Chairman LU was still deemed to be interested in GIHL's interest RBBEEKRILA - AT ERIEANAITEE o 4
in the Company by virtue of the SFO. WIEE - At REBHFLBEHRM EX/F o SF

MBERIERSBERBEABZARRBRETH# 8%‘#
B2 o 2ol

(3) Ms. ZHANG lJian, the spouse of Chairman LU, was deemed to be interested in (3) ERZTAEIFORE BEZHELRPEK

Chairman LU's interests in the Company by virtue of the SFO. Bl WEEREXFEFRENARAATIHZTHS g
B e g 4

(4) The disclosed interest represents the interest in the Company held by (4) FiT 4% 5% # 25 A Gemplus International S.A. S 8
Gemplus International S.A. (“GISA"), which is wholly-owned by Gemalto (TGISA]) FTf A Al - MGISA HGemalto 3&7#
N.V. (“Gemalto”). Based on the disclosure of interests forms filed by Thales, N.V. ([ Gemalto |) 2 & % & - 1B #5 A Thales S 7
Gemalto was owned by Thales as to 85.51% and Thales was owned by APE as 1R P EE S R 8 Thales 3 AGemalto =
to 35.68%. Therefore, APE was deemed to be interested in GISA’s interest in 85.51% M f&n + [RIBF - APE £ 5Thales 35.68% v
the Company by virtue of the SFO. WA o B - IRIRFE S REIE &G - APER AR

TERGISAFTHR Z R AR =P A i -
(5) As at 31 December 2024, the number of issued shares of the Company was (5) 2024128318 A RRIEBITRMHE A

807,928,000 shares.

807,928,0004% °

SHEERZRARAT —S-mEFw /57




Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, so far as the
Directors were aware, no other persons (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) or entities had any interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company,
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company purchased
11,298,000 ordinary shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange
at an aggregate price of approximately HKD 11,834,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB10,854,000). The shares were acquired at
an average price of HKD1.05 per share, with prices ranging from
HKDO0.97 to HKD1.13. Among which, 10,007,000 repurchased
shares were cancelled on 18 November 2024, with the remaining
1,291,000 repurchased shares cancelled on 17 March 2025.

B XX HE A E2024512A318 0 BE
EeA EEMAL (ARFEZTSEK
BITHRABRIN REE  BREGEH KB
BB BXVIBE2RFE3D AT AR E
HIRECEF R E KO 3361 A 8
RARRBEENZEZMA - RAR GG
NIRRT EBESIAR -

RE E2024F12A31BEZFE K&
NAEBEBHARE  LATHBE
11,834,000 (¥ & A R ¥ 4910,854,0007T)
B B AN A 511,298,000 &L @A - B
SEBREBE0I7TLE BB I 13T 2ME
FHERZHERAEE1.050
10,007,000% [ 5 B 17 2 70202411 18
B ®ER1,291,00008 2 202543 A
178 %8 -

The details of the purchase of shares are as follows: R EIEZEIFET -
Aggregate
consideration
Highest price  Lowest price paid
Number of per share per share (HKD)
shares (HKD) (HKD) &5t
Month purchased BREBESE®R SRREEER EXfFHE
A% E BRI EE (B () (B
July 2024 2024%F7 R 5,261,000 1.13 0.98 5,551,862.15
August 2024 2024F8 A 2,074,000 1.06 1 2,130,632.68
September 2024 2024F9 A 2,672,000 1.08 1.02  2,852,478.46
December 2024 2024%F12 R 1,291,000 1.03 0.97 1,298,648.93
Total &5t 11,298,000 11,833,622.22

In addition, the 1,642,000 shares repurchased by the Company
during the period from November to December 2023 were
cancelled on 29 April 2024.
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Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities (including sale of treasury shares, if any) during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

The treasury share regime under the Listing Rules is not yet
available to the Company, being a listed issuer incorporated in
Hong Kong, until the Companies (Amendment) Ordinance 2025
taking effect on 17 April 2025 and accordingly, the disclosure
requirements in respect of treasury shares under the Listing Rules
are not applicable to the Company.

The Directors were of the view that the purchases and subsequent
cancellation of the shares can result in an enhancement of the net
asset value per share and earnings per share and were therefore
beneficial to the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Aggregate sales to the Group’s largest and five largest
customers accounted for approximately 6.5% (2023: 11.4%) and
approximately 26.9% (2023: approximately 34.4%), respectively,
of the Group’s total revenue from continuing operations.

Aggregate purchases from the Group’s largest and five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 18.5% (2023: approximately
20.4%) and approximately 54.8% (2023: approximately 57.5%),
respectively, of the Group’s total purchases from suppliers.

None of the Directors, their close associates or shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the shares of the Company in issue (excluding treasury
shares, if any)) had interests in any of such suppliers and customers
of the Group.
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According to the section headed “Information on the Contractual
Arrangement” disclosed above, certain transactions contemplated
under the VIE Agreements constitute connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2024.

For the transactions contemplated under the Exclusive Purchase
Right Agreement, as the Group has discretion to exercise the right
to purchase all or part of the PRC Equity Owner's equity interest
in the OPCO under the Exclusive Purchase Right Agreement,
the acquisition of the right is classified based on the amount of
premium payable by the Group in accordance to Rule 14A.79(2)
of the Listing Rules. As no premium is payable by the Group under
the Exclusive Purchase Right Agreement, all of the applicable
percentage ratios (other than profits ratio) with reference to the
Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement are less than 0.1%, the
connected transaction contemplated thereunder is fully exempt
under Rule 14A.76(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.

For the transactions contemplated under the Loan Agreement,
as all the applicable percentage ratios (other than profits ratio)
exceed 0.1% but all are less than 5%, the connected transaction
contemplated thereunder is subject to the reporting requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Moreover, the transactions contemplated under the Exclusive

Technological Consultation and Service Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company.
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The Company has applied for, and the Stock Exchange has
granted, a waiver pursuant to Rule 14A.102 of the Listing Rules
from (i) setting a fixed term for each of the VIE Agreements for
a period of not exceeding three years pursuant to Rule 14A.52
of the Listing Rules; and (ii) setting a maximum aggregate annual
cap pursuant to Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules for the services
fees payable by the OPCO to the WFOE under the Exclusive
Technological Consultation and Services Agreement.

The independent non-executive Directors noted that the
transaction amount of the continuing connected transactions was
nil for the year ended 31 December 2024, and accordingly:

(i)  no services have been provided by the Group to the OPCO
under the Exclusive Technological Consultation and Service
Agreement during the year ended 31 December 2024 and no
profit was generated by the OPCO for the year;

(i) no dividends or other distributions were made by the OPCO
to its equity owner, which were not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group; and

(iii) no new contract was entered into, renewed nor reproduced
between the Group and the OPCO during the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, was engaged
to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions for
the year ended 31 December 2024 in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagement Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued a letter to
the Directors confirming that they have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangement and confirmed that no transaction amount had
been incurred under the Exclusive Technological Consultation and
Service Agreement during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that there have been any transactions which (i) have not received
the approval of the Directors; (ii) have not been entered into in
accordance with the relevant VIE Agreements; or (iii) any dividends
or distributions which have been made by the OPCO to the
PRC Equity Owner which have not been otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
BEESHRE @)

Please also refer to the details set out in the section headed
“Information on the Contractual Arrangement” above and the
announcement of the Company dated 8 February 2021.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions
and Continuing Connected Transactions” in this report, none
of the related party transactions as disclosed in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction”
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are subject to annual
review, reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements sunder Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has fully complied with the disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF THE PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that was publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had
maintained the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
permitted under the Listing Rules since the listing of the shares of
the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange until the
date of this Annual Report.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” in this Annual Report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No material events occurred subsequent to 31 December 2024 and
up to the date of this Annual Report.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting on 22 May
2025.

There has been no change in auditor of the Company in the
preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
LU Run Ting
Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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The Board of the Company is committed to achieving good
corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard
the interests of shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the code provisions (“Code
Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year under review,
the Company has complied with all the applicable Code Provisions
as set out in the CG Code.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions.

Specific enquiry was made with all the Directors and the
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has also established written guidelines as stringent
as the Model Code for securities transactions of employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information
of the Company (the “"Employees Written Guidelines”). No
incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines
by the employees was noted by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises nine members, consisting of six
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Below is the list of Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. LU Run Ting (Chairman and Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and Member of the Remuneration Committee)

Mr. HOU Ping (Chief Executive Officer and Member of the
Nomination Committee)

Mr. LU Runyi (Senior Vice President)

Mr. WU Sigiang (Chief Operating Officer)

Mr. LU Wai Lim (Senior Vice President)

Ms. LI Yijin (Chief Audit Executive)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. MAK Wing Sum (Chairman of the Audit Committee and
Member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee) (retired on 21 May 2024)

Mr. JIANG Li (Chairman of the Audit Committee and Member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee)
(appointed on 21 May 2024)

Ms. YE Lu (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee)

Mr. LAl Tung Kwok (Member of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 26
to 37 of this Annual Report.

The relationships between the members of the Board are disclosed
under “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 26 to 37 of
this Annual Report.

Mr. JIANG Li was appointed as independent non-executive Director
on 21 May 2024. He obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 3 May 2024 and confirmed that he
understood his obligations as a director of the Company.
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The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held
by Mr. LU Run Ting and Mr. HOU Ping respectively. The Chairman
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning
and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses
on the Company’s business development and daily management
and operations generally.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all times
had complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Code Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Each of
the Directors is appointed for a term of three years and is subject
to retirement in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or if their number is not three of a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

The Company's Articles of Association also provides that all
Directors appointed by the Directors, either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an additional director, shall retire at the next following
annual general meeting and shall be eligible for re-election.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions
of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The
Board takes decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to
the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating
to corporate culture, policy matters, strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management, environmental and social
responsibilities, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep themselves abreast of responsibilities as Directors
of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

Every newly-appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on his or her first appointment to the
Board to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, each of Mr. LU Run
Ting (Chairman), Mr. HOU Ping, Mr. LU Runyi, Mr. WU Sigiang,
Mr. LU Wai Lim, Ms. LI Yijin, Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Mr. JIANG
Li, Ms. YE Lu and Mr. LAl Tung Kwok has read books/journals
and attended relevant training to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.

In addition, relevant reading materials including legal and
regulatory update have been provided to the Directors for their
reference and studying. Continuing briefing and professional
development for Directors will be arranged where necessary.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the board
committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each board committee of the
Company are independent non-executive Directors and the list of
the Chairman and members of each board committee is set out
under “Corporate Information” on pages 2 to 4 of this Annual
Report.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, internal
control procedures and risk management system, audit plan and
relationship with external auditors, and arrangements to enable
employees of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters of the Company.

The Board has also delegated the corporate governance duties to
the Audit Committee for performing the functions set out in the
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s annual results and
Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings to review
the annual financial results and the annual report in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2023, the interim results and the
interim report in respect of the six months ended 30 June 2024
and significant issues on the financial reporting and compliance
procedures, internal control and risk management systems, scope of
work and appointment of external auditors, connected transactions,
arrangements for employees to raise concerns about possible
improprieties, the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and Employees Written Guidelines,
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report. Currently the Audit Committee
comprises three members, namely, Mr. JIANG Li (Chairman of
Audit Committee), Ms. YE Lu and Mr. LAl Tung Kwok (all being
independent non-executive Directors).

The Audit Committee also met with the external Auditor twice
without the presence of the executive Directors.

Remuneration of the Senior Management

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration of the
senior management (other than the Directors) is listed as below by
band:

B 48 5

Band of remuneration
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Further details of the remuneration of Directors, Chief Executive
and Employees are set out in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements on the pages 241 to 245 of this Annual Report.
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The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration adjustment principle of all employees as a whole,
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, the remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management; and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure
to ensure that no Director or any of his associates will participate
in deciding his own remuneration; approve the new grant of share
awards or options, and any changes to terms of the granted share
awards or options.

In determining the remuneration of the Directors and the senior
management, the Remuneration Committee would consider factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors and the senior management,
performance and contributions of the Directors and the senior
management and the change in market conditions.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee met once to review
and make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
adjustment principle of all employees as a whole, the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company, and the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and other related matters.
At the same time, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the share award scheme which is still in effect during the year.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, no shares were granted
or agreed to be granted to any selected participants pursuant to
the Share Award Scheme (2023: Nil). Currently the Remuneration
Committee comprises three members, namely, Ms. YE Lu
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee), Mr. JIANG Li (each being
an independent non-executive Director) and Mr. LU Run Ting (being
an executive Director).

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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In assessing the board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination
Policy into consideration, to ensure that the Board has the
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary. In the case of a candidate for independent
non-executive Director, satisfaction of independent requirements
of the Listing Rules and Policy on Independence of Directors of the
Company is needed. All of these can enhance the effectiveness of
the Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
Nomination Committee should consider the Board Diversity Policy,
including but not limited to character and integrity, qualifications
(including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy
that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy), any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board, independent aspects under the Policy on
Independence of Directors for independent non-executive Director
and whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules, any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence
and gender diversity, and willingness and ability to devote
adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/
or Board committees of the Company.

The Nomination Committee evaluates such candidate (include any
person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a director
at the general meeting of the Company) based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee should rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference
check of each candidate (where applicable), and recommend to the
Board (as applicable).

For the re-election of Director at General Meeting, the Nomination
Committee should review the overall contribution and service to
the Company of the retiring director and the level of participation
and performance on the Board, review and determine whether the
retiring director continues to meet the criteria as set out above,
and make recommendation to shareholders. The Nomination
Committee will conduct regular review on the structure, size and
composition of the Board and this Policy and where appropriate,
make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs.
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At the same time, in assessing the board composition, the
Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects
set out in the Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to
gender, age, race, language, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience. The Nomination Committee would review the
Board Diversity Policy at least annually and discuss and agree on
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

During the year, the Nomination Committee met once to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors, and
to consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing
for re-election and to consider and recommend to the Board on
the appointment of an independent non-executive Director at the
annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee considered
an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is
maintained. The Nomination Committee comprises five members
currently, namely, Mr. LU Run Ting (Chairman of Nomination
Committee), Mr. HOU Ping (each being an executive Director),
Mr. JIANG Li, Ms. YE Lu and Mr. LAl Tung Kwok (each being an
independent non-executive Director).

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. It aims to maintain
an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives that are relevant to
the Company’s business growth.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will review annually the structure, size and composition of
the Board and where appropriate, make recommendations on
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy and to ensure that the Board maintains a balanced
diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board
composition, the Nomination Committee is committed to diversity
at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural background,
educational background, skills, knowledge, industry experience and
professional experience.
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At present, the Board comprises nine members with extensive
experience in the fields of management, banking, law, finance,
sales, operation and public services, which provide favourable
support and protection to ensure the good functioning of the
Board. Among them, there are three independent non-executive
Directors, representing one third of the Board. At the same time,
two members of the Board are women, representing a 7:2 ratio of
men to women. As a result of review, the Nomination Committee
considers that the Board Diversity Policy is effective and will
continue to ensure that there is at least one woman on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. At the same time, the
Company will examine such objectives from time to time to review
their appropriateness and effectiveness, and ensure the progress
made towards achieving those objectives.

The Company has issued a staff diversity policy during 2024.

The Company has always been committed to promote diversity in
the teams, and is able to achieve through a number of measures.
The Company strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations,
and the code of conduct to prevent discrimination or harassment
has been set out in staff manual. The Company also offers
diversity training to new and old staff and applies the principle
of equal opportunity to all policies related to human resources,
remuneration and benefits, to ensure employment opportunities
for people of all kinds. Any discrimination or harassment against
employees owing to their marital status, pregnancy, disability,
family status, race or gender are prohibited. During the year, our
female employees accounted for approximately 42.9% of the total
workforce; the senior management consists of one female member
and one male member.

Going forward, the Company will further diversify the staff team
in various aspects, to enhance the Company’s culture in inclusion.
Recently, the Company is establishing the related policies on
eliminating discrimination to help the Company exercise more
comprehensive consideration and judgment in appointment and
promotion. At the same time, the Company is also formulating
measurable goals and will strive to keep the proportion level of
female employees at 40% or above, and the proportion level of
female members in senior management no less than 20%.

Bl ARBEEEFEREHNE  DHIE
BECIRTAE -MBE - HE EE -
NERBEERAFLELR  HERA
SEEEEREMNETRHET AN
BRI - HAp - U FRITEST =% &
NEEGXEIBNAR - AR EFGHK
B BEMmALE  BRMERILLHIRT2 -
W REZEEAREFENES
TEBRRTZAR ITHEERRESES
ELBE-RLMEKE -

REZESEREZHRNETENES T
LR NERFEFZHR - R K
ARAEETREECHENAGFERR
Wig sl 5 & B R B 2 E A T - TR
REBRELEARTERGER -

RRABM2024FFERBEMTETZ T
BUR -

ARARRBURBAOREZ TIEHNE L
B WiBRAZIEEGEERBEIZEER K
REEHE EBEERETEBENER &
ETFMFBEETHEBANLEERIEE
TAERERELE AFEETH T
Bl e L BEEHERANER
REFBEANER RS EFEE - URE
ERATHREKS  BTIATELRHE
WHAR S iR - R - REM A - BHR -
MR EMZE R REBE - FN - AQF
PRETITHPLZUETIHOHGERZEETITHND
429% MR ERER —RLMKBEN—
HB MR B -

ETR AARBRESTEHE-—FTINKE
TEBENZT/LEE  RARDR X
{EES - BAIARGEIELSEBBRHEER
AR MEEBE - UB AR BEERR
PBRER EERERBAZMERE - FAE -
AARBAEBRENFEER  NFEER
BB TIH40% A ERIKE - AR SE
BEERE P LZMKE R TER20%H) 7K
E oo

EHREHREERERAT —B-NFFR



The Company will review the staff diversity policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness. At the same time, the Company
will examine such objectives from time to time to review their
appropriateness and effectiveness, and ensure the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted the Director Nomination Policy which
sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board succession
planning considerations in relation to nomination and appointment
of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board and
appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing
the suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a
proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

o Character and integrity.

o Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy.

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board.

o Requirement for the Board to have independent directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

o Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity.

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge

duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company.
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o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for
the selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of
Directors at general meetings, details are as follows:

(a) Appointment of new director

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the factors as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(i) If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should rank them by order of preference based
on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable).

(iii) The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship, as applicable.

(iv)  For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should evaluate such candidate based on the
factors as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.
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(b) Re-election of director at general meeting

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
also review and determine whether the retiring
director continues to meet the factors as set out
above.

(iii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of director at the
general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
and the sustainable and healthy development, the Company has
adopted Policy on Independence of Directors which assesses the
independence of the Board, particularly independent non-executive
Directors, and deals clearly with the further appointment of the
independent non-executive Directors served more than nine years
on the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The General Principles of the Policy on Independence of Directors
for evaluating the independence of independent non-executive
Directors are that independent non-executive Directors should
not have any substantive or material interest with the Group,
the management of the Group or the controlling shareholder of
the Company. In assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors, the Policy on Independence of Directors
sets out factors that the Board should take into account, including
but not limited to the following:

o stock ownership relationship;

o employment and compensation relationship;

. business relationship;

o professional service relationship;

° cross-directorships and other links;

o financial dependence relationship; and

o other: notwithstanding the absence of the abovementioned

circumstances, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee will assess the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors in accordance with
the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Policy on Independence of Directors and the
results were satisfactory.

The Board will review Policy on Independence of Directors, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

TEER/RME &)

EEBVMBRRFIGEERELIFNTES
BUMH—RRENR  BIFRTEETDT
EEAEE AEBEHNEEERARAN
ERBERFEEFAERKEE NN R
1% o HERHE B IFAITE FH IR AR -
EEBEVYMBRRILTESTEREENE
= BEEFIRNATEESE:

. Mg R %

. 172 {8 e 3o BN B 1%
. EHRIE

. BEXRRBEE

. HMEREH T ARNESTBFHE
B BRI

. MR ENEERBER: &

. Hif: AMEB L FATEEL T
ALl ER—BERL REZEE
RHEMEZBEGDA2E(LETMRAD
# A 8 #5 51 1F th HI T o

EXRFERN EFERN THARESTEY
HERROATERNERGE  BERS AT

= °

EFefEn e ESHIMEERER A
HREA ML -

SHEERZRARAT —S-mEFg /]

Financial

Highlights

%)

Chairman’s

Directors and Senior

Report of

Corporate Governance

i

Statement

Management

0
)
[}

)

B

+



The Board has adopted terms of reference for corporate
governance functions set out in the CG Code and is responsible
for performing the corporate governance duties set out therein.
The Board has reviewed the Company’'s compliance with the CG
Code for the year ended 31 December 2024 and other legal and
regulatory requirements.

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of
dividends, it aims to provide the Shareholders with stable and
sustainable returns. According to the Dividend Policy, the Company
intends to distribute no less than 20% of its annual net profits
as dividends to its shareholders. In proposing any dividend
payout, the Board will depend on the financial results, cash flow
situation, business conditions and strategies, future operations and
earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, interests of
shareholders, any restrictions on payment of dividends and any
other factors that the Board may consider relevant, to propose and/
or declare dividends during a financial year and any final dividend
for a financial year will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval.

The Company has adopted a policy on disclosure of information
and communication with outsiders which provides a general guide
to the Company’s directors, senior management and relevant
employees in handling confidential information and monitoring
information disclosure. The Company has formulated an inside
information and insider policy and has implemented control
procedures to ensure that the inside information of the Company
is to be disseminated to the public in an equal and timely manner
in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. HUANG Minjie.
Details of the biography of the company secretary of the
Company are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report. Ms. HUANG confirmed that
she took no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
the year ended 31 December 2024 as required by the Listing Rules.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND EERZEEREMHER
COMMITTEE MEMBERS %

Corporate

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and board #EfIE F2MEARAINE£2024F12 731
committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company HIEZFERNRITHESE ZEETEH
held during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the KRR AGHHFLEMNTERMAT

table below:

Financial

Attendance/Number of Meetings Eé f’\’
HERE, B "3
Annual
Nomination Remuneration Audit General L2y
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting E o
EEnS BE=g REZES FMZEES ERERE RREBEFAS S
Executive Directors Z =
HITES E
Mr. LU Run Ting 4/4 11 m N/A 11 g
EEELE 25
Mr. HOU Ping 4/4 11 N/A N/A 11 = .
& T4
Mr. LU Runyi 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11 2
ER kL 7 fi
Mr. WU Sigiang 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11 o 2
REBBEE o3k
Mr. LU Wai Lim 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11 s ®
E@Z%%E I
Ms. LI Yijin 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11 . 5®
é%jﬁﬁi %E §.‘}‘V
Independent Non-executive Directors éé g™
BUFNTES L
Mr. MAK Wing Sum Alvin (Note 1) 3/4 11 m 172 11
AR (3 1) .
Ms. YE Lu 4/4 11 m 2/2 11 §§&
% gkt i
Mr. LAl Tung Kwok 4/4 11 N/A 2/2 11
RIRE & &
Mr. JIANG Li (Note 2) 1/4 N/A N/A 172 N/A

B Brxwia2)

Note 1: Mr. MAK Wing Sum Alvin retired as an Independent Non-executive Director ~ ATaF1 © ZEKFREAEN2024F5A21 B R(EB I IFHIT
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Note 2: Mr. JIANG Li was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director on 21 ATiZ2 © FEIEAER2024F5A21 HEZE BB LI = 2 1
May 2024, so he just attended one Board meeting and one audit committee TES E&(HE/‘ZOMEE.‘:H E—SEEEE 5EL
meeting during the year 2024. FR—SBEREEEE; e
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Apart from regular board meetings, the Chairman also held
meetings with independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of executive Directors during the year 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 192 to 194 of this
Annual Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB1,458,000 and
RMB376,000 respectively.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of audit services
and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set
out below:

BTEENESZEE N2024F EFE T
MBYIFATEETARATRBERTEEH
rﬂfjau#ﬁ°

EERMBHRERNBE

EFEHEREMNBREAR QR EE2024F12
A31ALLZFEHBERENOBE -

EZUTABEMABEBAEESARARN
BREENZIERERNEMHHBERD
ERTHERR -

B B ST AR B B B S R E
MR E RN RN FR 2B LB RE S
192B 1948 -

¥ B4 AT B B

S F AR BIINEZ BRAT S B E E2024F
128318 1L 2 FEOZ BRI & IEZ BUR
w25 Bl A ARE1,458,000T F AR
#376,0007T °

S F ARG INEZEAN R KB g T
BB BB E E2024F 128318 12 4F
[ E AR N I BUR T 2 Bl & &9 5 4T 40
T

Fees Paid/Payable

Service Category BREEE Bt ERER

RMB

ARHE

Audit Services B RS 1,458,000
Non-audit Services FEAZ BAR 75

— Including interim review — BEPEIEE 376,000

1,834,000
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for continually
overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal control
system and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually through
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee assists the Board in
fulfilling its oversight and corporate governance role in the Group's
financial, operational, compliance, risk management and internal
controls and the resourcing of the finance and internal audit
functions.

Risk Management Structure

The Group has established an organisational structure with
defined level of responsibility and reporting procedures. The Board
oversees the overall management of Group’s risks, with assistance
from the Audit Committee on reviewing and monitoring key risks.
Management is responsible for designing and implementing the
risk management and internal control system. Management is
also committed to fostering a risk aware and control conscious
environment. Operating units are responsible for the identification
and management of risks in their operations and a comprehensive
approach is adopted for enterprise-wide risk. Responsibility for risk
management resides at all levels within the Group, from the Board
through the organisation to each manager and employee.

The Group's risk management framework is guided by the Three
Lines of Defence model as shown below:
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The Group has in place a risk management framework to
effectively identify, assess, mitigate and monitor key business,
financial, operational, compliance and environment, social and
governance risks. The framework enables the Group to adopt a
proactive and systematic approach to identifying and managing
risks across the organisation to evaluate risk severity and likelihood
of occurrence. The framework also sets out the procedures of risk
management and clarifies the roles and responsibilities of various
departments in relation to risk management.

The Group has embedded its risk management systems into the
core operating practices of the business. On an ongoing basis,
the respective operating units of the Company review and access
the status of potential risks which may impact on their ability
to achieve their business objectives and/or those of the Group,
determine and implement treatment plans where risk mitigations
are actionable. This review process includes assessment as to
whether the existing internal controls continue to remain relevant,
adequately address potential risks, and/or should be supplemented.
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Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and
established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper
use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations are adhered to
and complied with, reliable financial and accounting records
are maintained in accordance to relevant accounting standards
and regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks that may
impact the Group’s performance are appropriately identified
and managed. The system and internal controls can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss, as they are designed to be managed, rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

A description of the Group’s main risk factors is shown on pages
106 to 134 of this Annual Report. The Group continuously works
to improve its risk management framework in order to keep pace
with the changing business environment.

Internal Control Department conducts independent reviews on the
Group's risk management and internal control system. Internal
Control Department reports directly to the Audit Committee to
ensure identified internal control weaknesses are communicated
and rectified effectively.

Internal Control Department adopts a risk-oriented audit approach.
The annual audit plan covers major activities and processes of
the Group’s compliance, financial, procurement, operations and
environment, social and governance. On a regular basis, Internal
Control Department reports to the Audit Committee the results
of their activities during the preceding period pertaining to the
adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, and follows up the
progress of rectification for control weaknesses.

The Group has established and oversees a whistleblower policy and
a set of comprehensive procedures whereby employees, customers,
suppliers and other concerned parties can report any actual or
suspected occurrence of improper conduct involving the Company,
and for such matters to be investigated and dealt with efficiently
in an appropriate and transparent manner.

The Company formulated the insider information policy and
regularly reminds the Directors and employees about due
compliance with all policies regarding the insider information. The
Company shall prepare or update appropriate guidelines or policies
to ensure the compliance with regulatory requirements.
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The Board reviews annually the Group’s risk management and
internal control system. During the year, the Board conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system of the Group, including the adequacy of resources
of environmental, social and governance performance and report,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function.
The key areas of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems are effectively implemented, thus the Board and the Audit
Committee considered the Group's risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate.

In addition to the review of risk management and internal controls
undertaken within the Group, the external auditor also assessed
the internal controls related to the financial statements audits.

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting.

General meetings may be convened by the Board on requisition
of shareholder(s) of the Company representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to
vote at general meetings or by such shareholder(s) who made
the requisition (as the case may be) pursuant to Sections 566 and
568 respectively of the Companies Ordinance. The general nature
of the business to be dealt with at the meeting must be stated
in the request. Shareholders should follow the requirements and
procedures as set out in the Companies Ordinance for convening a
general meeting.
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Right to Circulate Resolution at Annual
General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance,
shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights
of all shareholders; or at least 50 shareholders (as the case may be)
who have a right to vote at the relevant Annual General Meeting,
may request to circulate a resolution to be moved at an Annual
General Meeting. Shareholders should follow the requirements and
procedures as set out in the Companies Ordinance for circulating a
resolution for annual general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not
normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 1301, 13th Floor

Bank of East Asia, Harbour View Centre

No. 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Company Secretary)
Fax: +852 2834 6759

Email: goldpac@goldpac.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.
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The Company has adopted shareholders’ communications policy
("Shareholders’ Communication Policy”), and commits
to maintain on-going and effective communication with its
shareholders. The Board attaches a high degree of importance to
continuous communication with shareholders, and firmly believes
that effective learning of shareholders’ views and needs will help
the Company to develop and improve its future development
strategy.

In additional to the direct dialogue with shareholders at
the Company’s annual general meeting, the Company also
communicates actively with the investment community in the
forms of meetings, conferences, roadshows, and one-to-one
communication. In the event of public health emergency and
subject to the local restrictive measures, the Company will adjust
the mode of convening the annual general meeting flexibly,
ensuring effective communication with shareholders while
complying with the Companies Ordinance and other applicable
disease prevention regulations as well as the requirements of the
Company’s Articles of Association.

In order that shareholders can have a better understanding of the
agenda items to be discussed at the annual general meeting and to
encourage their active participation so that exchange of views and
communication can be further enhanced, the Company has always
provided detailed information on the annual general meeting
in a circular to shareholders which will include introduction to
the proposed resolutions to be approved at the annual general
meeting, information on the retiring Directors who are eligible
for re-election, as well as information on voting, live webcast (if
applicable) and other issues relating to the annual general meeting
voting.

All the Board members were present at the Company’s 2023
annual general meeting held on 21 May 2024 at Room 1301,
13th Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre, No. 56
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. Representatives of
PricewaterhouseCoopers, being the auditor of the Company, and
Mayer Brown (now known as Johnson Stokes & Master), being the
legal advisor of the Company, were also present at the Company’s
2023 annual general meeting to respond to enquiries raised by
shareholders.
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Apart from the Shareholders’ Communication Policy, the
Company’s investor relations also follows investor relations
management system, and communicates with existing and
potential investors of the Company’s securities, analysts and
securities market professionals in meetings, conferences and
road-shows to enhance their knowledge and understanding of the
Company’s development and strategies, aiming to provide clear
and timely information that is reasonably required for them to
make a fair investment decision. These discussions generally involve
public information, including disclosed financial information and
historical data, markets and product strategies, business strengths
and weaknesses, growth opportunities and threats. Any topic
will be discussed so long as it is not considered to be material
non-public information.

The Shareholders’” Communication Policy will be reviewed by
the Board annually to ensure effectiveness. During the year, the
Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders” Communication Policy by receiving an annual work
report from the Company’s investor relations, and reviewed it with
the internal control department, confirming that the Shareholders’
Communication Policy continues to be effective. For the year
under review, the Board was of the view that such policy remained
sufficient and effective in that:

(i) during the year, the Company conducted briefings via
teleconferences and network broadcast with analysts
and the press to apprise them of the Company's strategy
implementation, operating results, business development
and outlook as well as to answer their questions;

(ii) the Company conducted one-to-one communication with
major institutional shareholders and potential shareholders
via email, teleconferences, and communication software and
platforms; and

(i)  the Company published latest information of the Group
on its official website and financial investment platforms,
including financial results and reports, announcements and
circulars.
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In addition, the Company can collect investors’ opinions,
understand the market expectations and assist in the Company’s
strategic formulation. The consistent innovative practices
and market recognition from the capital market promote the
improvement of investor relations practices. In future, the
Company would improve the multiple communication mechanism,
connect with global investors and keep a good transparency in
information disclosure.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year 2024, the Company has not made any changes to
its Articles of Association. An up to date version of the Company’s
Articles of Association is also available on the Company’s website
and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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To the Shareholders of Goldpac Group Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

The consolidated financial statements of Goldpac Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are
set out on pages 195 to 315, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024;

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

. Write-down of inventories to net realisable values

o Expected credit losses of trade receivables
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

8 M % SLED ¥ E (|)

B ESTEE m)

Write-down of inventories to net realisable values

BEFEZ2HFE

Refer to notes 4(a), 19 and 38.11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FRRGEAMERER W 5F4(), [ 5E19F0 K 7£38.11 »

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the
Group’s inventories amounted to RMB237,645,000
(2023: RMB301,577,000), after net of a write-down of
inventories to net realisable value of RMB60,186,000
(2023: RMB63,915,000).

B ZE2024F12A8310 - ZE#HF ML E A RFER
R B AR ¥60,186,0007T (20234 = A K #63,915,000
T AEEFENRE SRR AKK237,645,0007T
(20234 : AR™301,577,0007T) °

Our procedures in relation to the write-down of
inventories to net realisable values included

—  We obtained an understanding of management’s
internal controls and process of the write-down
of inventories to net realisable values
and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias
or fraud.

— BMTRTERBYHRLFEZANEZRFEN
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— We understood, evaluated and tested key
controls over the write-down of inventories to
net realisable values.

— BMTH FTENARTEEARLEEER
RFEAER RIS

—  We understood the basis of the write-down of
inventories to net realisable values and evaluated
the appropriateness of the basis adopted.

— BMTHRTRARFEEVERFENER I
A TR EEN SR -

CHEABZRERAT —S-mEER /55

Financial

2
[
< >
o~
O
N o
©
=

Management Discussion Chairman’s

Directors and Senior

Environmental
Corporate Governance Report of !

Financial
Statements

Corporate

20245 KE

o4
;«ﬂ
© ig

Report

$ERRE

A

40
&
LS
=




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B M % BEN RS ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EREETEE @

Write-down of inventories to net realisable values
(Continued)
HEFEZWE#RFE ()

Management estimated net realisable values based on
ageing of inventories, current market price and estimated
future market demand. Such estimation required the
use of significant judgments and key assumptions which
take into consideration of expectations for future sales
orders and historical sales records, utilisation records
and inventories ageing. Such judgments were subject
to uncertainties as a result of future changes in market
trends and customer demands.

EREREBEFERE ERMSERMEGRRTEH
REEFAAZEFE CELEAATEEREEZNHENEA
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Our procedures in relation to the write-down
of inventories to net realisable values included:
(Continued)
BMERETFTEENERFECEFEE  (B)

— We tested key assumptions used in the
assessment process, including expectations for
future sales orders and historical sales records by
tracing to the related source documents.

— FHMEFAEBETEANERER (BEYHR
FHERTENEARELHERR) BBME
8 RS IR XX ET R -

— On a sample basis, we examined the utilisation
of inventories whose ageings are over one year
to evaluate the appropriateness of inventory
utilisation.

— HZMWMET —FUELFEENFNAEX  KARAE
SEFAEEENAXNSEM -

—  We tested the accuracy of the inventories ageing
report on a sample basis by tracing to purchase
invoice and receipt documents.

— HMERBERZMAFESETHRERS - LOA
AFERRREMN LRI -

— On a sample basis, we examined the selling
invoices to check if any significant differences
between the estimated selling prices and
historical selling prices.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

B %A HRE (®)

B ESTEE m)

Write-down of inventories to net realisable values
(Continued)
BEFEZWERFE(E)

We focused on this area because of the significance
of the inventories balance in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements and significant judgments were
involved in estimating the net realisable values of
inventories.

mY BESEEGAMBERRTPEFERBELEEA I E
HEAFENRAI SR FES RERHE - B TAERET -

Our procedures in relation to the write-down
of inventories to net realisable values included:
(Continued)
BMERETEEERFE RFEE  (B)

— We assessed the reasonableness and the
accuracy of the estimated costs to completion,
other costs necessary to make the sale and the
related taxes by comparing with the historical
costs to completion, other costs necessary to
make the sale and the related taxes for similar
inventories.

— HMBBEEL AR ETHERFHNHE
R ARARBEUFENEEREETHE @ &7
TG ERKA  ETHEMFTOEMER
KRR BN A B M ERE -

—  We tested the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of the write-down of inventories to
net realisable values.

— %ﬁ%@%‘xwiﬁéﬂﬁﬁéﬂ@ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ@%%

— We evaluated the outcome of prior period
assessment of write-down of inventories to
assess the effectiveness of management’s
estimation process.

— EMFETAIBREFEERCE A R FENTG
BR U EREMTRENE R -

Based on our work performed, we considered the
judgments and estimates made by management in
relation to their write-down of inventories to net
realisable values to be supportable.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B2 E RS (®)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FARETEEw

Expected credit losses of trade receivables

ERERBARFEER

Refer to notes 3.1(b), 4(b), 20 and 38.12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

B2 ABAUERERMEES.(Db) - K 5E4(b) B 522050 B
$£38.12 °

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross trade
receivables of RMB266,525,000 (2023: RMB336,018,000)
against which expected credit loss (“ECL") provision of
RMB4,699,000(2023: RMB5,023,000) were made. ECL
provision for impairment losses on trade receivables was
made using lifetime ECL approach.

R2024F12A31H AEBEHNERERBERARE
266,525,0007T (20234 : A K #336,018,0007T) * f& U
ERNFEREEEERARKL699,0007T (20234F - A
R #5,023,0007T) ~ B E RIA R R EEF & B AT
R ELERE -
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Our procedures in relation to ECL of trade receivables
included:
BMEERKERTEREEEFERECEF B -

—  We obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and assessment process of ECL
of trade receivables and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors, such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

— HEMTMTEEEHRKERNTEREEEE
By A BRI A RT AR - WRBE RMAE T
BEUMEMERRREE (WMERLE T8
M BN XEREXEREIKF) M2
B - HERERBANE SR RAETTGE -

—  We understood, evaluated and tested the key
controls that the Group has implemented over
trade receivables portfolio grouping and the ECL
determination.

— HEMTHR FHEAMAATEEHEKRERAE
DENBHEEEEETE RO BAEZES -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

B %A HRE (®)

B ESTEE m)

Expected credit losses of trade receivables (Continued)

EREREREESE (K

The approach was assessed based on the provision matrix
through grouping of various debtors that have similar
credit risk characteristics, with consideration of their
corresponding estimated default rates and loss rates,
together with the forward-looking information.
SARAERERBHEER  ABBAGHEUGEERRE
BSBEBAE  YEERHEMEENMBTENXNE
KE - ARATIE S SR

Management used estimations and judgments to estimate
default rates and loss rates by making reference to
the credit rating given by external ranking agency and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors.
ERERBE2EZIHBTARBLAENERATIRANEBEER
BERBEREZNAEEES ARG MAEHRETED
EMBREK

Our procedures in relation to expected credit losses
of trade receivables included:(Continued)

HPEEKRERTRREEBRZEFEE  (B)

— We evaluated the outcome of prior period
assessment of ECL on trade receivables to
assess the effectiveness of management’s
estimation process.

— EMIEEREREREEEBOA AT GA
R UARIEEREMLTEBENFRML -

— We evaluated the reasonableness of the
judgments that management made in grouping
various debtors by assessing credit risk
characteristics.

— BMERATHEERRES THTEREEY
FEREBADARETHENSEMY

—  We evaluated the reliability of the key data
input to calculate estimated default rate,
including related credit rating and other
relevant data.

— KM TARBBRANAEG  AGtER
FARERNX - BIEEENE R TR thAEREE
8]IE -

— We understood and evaluated the
reasonableness of the factors used in making
forward-looking estimation, including changes
of future economics, GDP growth rate forecast
and market environment.

— BMTHUETGHETARETIEMATIREE
MNElEt SEREXBREARAKRLELE - GDP
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B2 E RS (®)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BERESTEE W

Expected credit losses of trade receivables (Continued)

EWEREREERE (&)

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
trade receivables and the assessment of the ECL involved
significant accounting estimations and judgments.
HRERERCREARERTEAGEBEEENTR
B REBRAEB MG BB MATUAERAL -

790  Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

Our procedures in relation to expected credit losses
of trade receivables included:(Continued)
BMEREREREREEBEBZEFBIE - (&)

— On a sample basis, we tested the accuracy
of the ageing analysis of trade receivables by
tracing to the relevant supporting documents,
including the sales invoice.

— BMNBAEHERHEERITEANZRAXMY
ORI T FE W B SRERES 0 AT BV EREIE -

—  We examined the mathematical accuracy of the
ECL calculation.

— BMBETRHAGCEERAENERNE -

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the judgments and estimates adopted by
management in determining the ECL of the trade
receivables to be supportable.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Hong Wing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains — net

Research and development expenses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Provision for impairment loss on trade
receivables

Impairment loss on amount due from
an associate

Impairment loss of investment
properties

Finance income — net

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year
Item that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss:
— exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income for
the year

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2024
RMB’000
AR®BT R

1,095,301
(836,358)

258,943

44,838

5,252
(103,811)
(107,894)
(45,250)

(379)

(3.676)
1,695

49,718
(186)

49,532

1,963

51,495

2023
RMB'000
ARETT

1,416,573
(996,521)

420,052

50,665

309
(102,451)
(143,596)
(48,302)
(199)
(36)

(4,974)
2,265

173,733
(22,568)

151,165

1,805

152,970
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
eBEEREMEZEW AR @E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

2023
Notes RMB’000
ok AREFIT
Profit for the year attributable to: EAEFEFE
Owners of the Company iN/NETEZ =N 50,889 132,051
Non-controlling interests FEE IS RE S (1,357) 19,114
49,532 151,165
Total comprehensive income EREER AR :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company iN/NETEZZ =N 52,852 133,856
Non-controlling interests FEE IS RE S (1,357) 19,114
51,495 152,970
Earnings per share TR AT 13
— Basic (RMB cents) —HERXANRES) 6.3 16.3
— Diluted (RMB cents) —#E(ARED) 6.3 16.3

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other  Fit4R 41825 % E 42 m Uk A Z FE B2 1& Bt
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the  FtsF— @& -
accompanying notes.
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ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investment properties
Deferred tax assets
Other receivables
Fixed bank deposits

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Contract assets
Other receivables and prepayments
Pledged bank deposits
Fixed bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity
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At 31 December 2024 #2024%12A31H

Notes

Hiat

15
16
17
28
22
24

19
20
21
22
24
24
24

30
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2024
RMB’000
AR®BT R

273,663
33,843
182,226
32,145
5,276
279,357

806,510

237,645
261,826
11,064
92,994
7,499
834,793
211,153

1,656,974

2,463,484

1,192,362
819,624

2,011,986
5

2,011,991

2023
RMB'000
ARETT

295,069
36,165
190,832
28,708
67,933
122,349

741,056

301,577
330,995

12,038

77,564
156,656
669,471
404,550

1,952,851

2,693,907

1,192,362
880,969

2,073,331
21,740

2,095,071
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At 31 December 2024 #2024 12A31H

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AR T AREFIT
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities eIl h=Ki
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 7,024 7,382
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBRE 28 35,667 37,399
Total non-current liabilities ERB B ERE 42,691 44,781
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and bills payables ENERNENEE 25 317,235 399,788
Contract liabilities SEHBEE 26 23,197 25,332
Other payables B b FE 5T 3K 27 51,360 82,552
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 3,980 4,584
Income tax payables e ETIS R 13,030 41,799
Total current liabilities mMEN B ERRE 408,802 554,055
Total liabilities BEHERE 451,493 598,836
Total equity and liabilities EnEEEHE 2,463,484 2,693,907

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be  _E it &R & B 75 AR 5 2% & B2 1% B B 5F — (F B
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. i

ﬂ#

o

au
1

The consolidated financial statements on pages 195 to 315 were EF® 2 K2025F3H27AEZ U BEE
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 195B £315B 4R & M B MK A M - I

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: LNTEEeREREE
LU RUN TING HOU PING
BEE &Y
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
EFTERHTES HITEEREEHTE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARAAEERR
Shares
held under ~ Exchange Non-
Share shares award translation Other ~ Statutory  Retained controlling
capital scheme reserves reserves reserves earnings  Sub-total interests Total
Rk
2B:a

REx  BERH  ENBE  ApEE  iERE  2RbE At FERER fit
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
(Note i) (Note i)
(Wi) Wi

2024
Major Events

2024 KE;

At 1 January 2023 R03F1818 1,192,362 (13,516) 2,403 108,693 172,655 594,328 2,056,925 13,638 2,070,563
Profit for the year EEFE - = - - - 132,051 132,051 19,114 151,165
Other comprehensive income EREMRENA
for the year - - 1,805 - - - 1,805 - 1,805 5
£ oim
Total comprehensive income for the  £E2ENALE § L
year - - 1,805 - - 132,051 133,856 19,114 152,970 -
Repurchase of shares RhEE - = - - - (2,18 (2,158) - (2,158)
Dividends recognised as distribution 2R & (#/3214)
(Note 14) = = = = = (115,292) (115292) = (115292)
Dividends paid to non-controlling % T 3F2 kg% H)
interests k& - - - - - - - (11,012) (11,012)

=g 4=

= = = = = (117,450) (117,450) (11,012) (128,462)

At 31 December 2023 20235127317 1,192,362 (13,516) 4,208 108,693 172,655 608929 2,073,331 20,740 2,095,071
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRRAEEARLES
Shares
held under ~ Exchange Non-
Share sharesaward translation Other  Statutory Retained controlling
capital scheme reserves reserves reserves earnings  Sub-total interests Total
kb
1RiE ) )
Bx  KERG  ERGE  HbRE  tREE  ERUE Rt FERER At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR  ARETR
(Note J) (Note /'/')
Wi Wit
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1 718 1,192,362 (13,516) 4,208 108,693 172,655 608,929 2,073,331 21,740 2,095,071
Profit for the year EEFE - - - - - 50,889 50,889 (1,357) 49,532
Other comprehensive income EREp2ENA
for the year - - 1,963 - - - 1,963 - 1,963
Total comprehensive income ERRENAES
for the year - - 1,963 - - 50,889 52,852 (1,357) 51,495
Repurchase of shares (Note 30) RhEE (H30) - - - - - (10,854) (10,854) - (10,854)
Dividends recognised as distribution 7k 8 (473 74)
(Note 14) = - - = - (103,343) (103,343) = (103,343)
Dividends paid to non-controlling X4 FE i Rk iEH)
interests &) - - - - - - - (20,378) (20,378)
- - - - - (114,197) (114,197) (20,378) (134,575)
At 31 December 2024 R2024512831H 1,192,362 (13,516) 6,171 108,693 172,655 545,621 2,011,986 5 2,011,991
Notes: =
(i) Other reserves represent the aggregate of capitalisation of statutory reserves (i) HibEHIEEEREERNM A B F W E AN
and retained earnings into capital of subsidiaries, contribution from a BAGBA - BELE - B2 N TG E
shareholder and share of other reserves of associates and amounts arising A RBEIEEREDRETRSEIER LK E
from transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of AR SRR KA R o
control.
There was capitalisation of statutory reserves into capital of a subsidiary of the E/‘201 1FE  ETHBEWHERNEARDTKE
Company, Goldpac Limited, in 2011. NRIESHEBRARN §$
There was a transaction with non-controlling interest of a subsidiary of the 120224 - B [ff & A F]SecureTech Holdings
Company, SecureTech Holdings Limited, in 2022. Limited ) JEIZERRETR S °
(ii) Under the relevant regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), (ii) BiEdhE ARLNE ([PE])NEEER - &
certain subsidiaries of the Company which established in the PRC are required TRAPBEKIZARBIZMB AR BIREETE
to make appropriation to the statutory reserves at 10% of their profit after tax BB RPBRMEENEMI0% IR ETHE B
based on their statutory financial statements until their statutory reserves reach B HETEREEENERARNS0% o 5 TFERE
50% of their share capital individually. The statutory reserves may only be BEEESINEB@IPIER SRR BRE
used, upon approval by the relevant authorities, to offset accumulated losses ZEWMB AR RTEREEEMEER - B R
or to increase the capital of those subsidiaries. Except for those subsidiaries HEENHBARIN  HPA—KHEBAREHE
with losses during the year, an eligible subsidiary of the Company had made NBIFETIRENN AT HE BFE—F:t
enough appropriation to the statutory reserves during previous years and no 2o
further appropriation required.
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be | ift4z & #E 25 & 8 3 FE B2 12 [ B 5 — GF B

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash flows from
operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid
Income tax refund

Net cash inflow from
operating activities

Cash flows from investing
activities

Redemption of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")

Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL

Withdrawals of fixed bank deposits

Placement of fixed bank deposits

Proceeds on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Interest received

Net cash outflow from
investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

RETHELZRERE

RERBAERE

B ATEH

PRS TR
REFTHEE RS FH
REEFBHELEZHRETRE

BEEAAEEFARR
ZEREE

BEUAAEBEFARR
ZERMEE
RRERTTE B 7 3K

TF RIRTTE B X
REME - WEM&EH
BHR

BEME BEERE

RGPS

REZHMAZREFE

Notes

Hiat

29

15
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2024
RMB’000
AR®BT R

274,443
(35,843)
1,463

240,063

241,715
(240,000)

671,493
(1,001,365)

3,213

(17,964)
49,444

(293,464)

2023
RMB’000
ARETT

252,429
(7,184)

245,245

361,839
(651,493)

15

(29,304)
25,964

(292,979)

B ELET S



For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z=2024F12A31HIEZFE

Cash flows from
financing activities
Repayment of bank borrowings
Interest paid for bank borrowings
Principal elements of lease payments
Payments for shares bought back
Repayment of interest portion of
leases liabilities
Dividends paid to the Company’s
shareholders
Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests in subsidiaries

Net cash outflow from
financing activities

Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the financial year

Effects of exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

Analysis of the balances of
cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
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2024
RMB’000
AR®BT R

(4,421)
(10,854)
(549)
(103,343)

(20,378)

(139,545)

(192,946)
404,550

(451)

211,153

211,153

3Zx

2023
RMB’000
ARETT

(44,479
(339
(6,165

)
)
)
(2,158)

(332)
(115,292)

(11,012)
(179,777)

(227,511)
627,594

4,467

404,550

404,550



For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are engaged in embedded software and secure payment
products for smart secure payment and provision of data
processing services, digital equipment, system platform,
Artificial Intelligence (A.l.) self-service kiosks and other total
solutions for customers in a wide business range including
financial, retails, public services including social security,
healthcare, transportation, etc. by leveraging innovative
financial technology (“Fintech”).

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in
Hong Kong and its shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office is Room
1301, 13th Floor, Bank of East Asia, Harbour View Centre,
No. 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The controlling shareholder of the Company is Cititrust
Private Trust (Cayman) Limited, the trustee of a family
trust established by Mr. Lu Run Ting (the Chairman and an
executive director of the Company). The ultimate controlling
party of the Company is Mr. Lu Run Ting.

The Group's consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB"), unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) as issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgments or complexity or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

The Group has applied the following new and amended
standards for the first time for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2024:

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Noncurrent — Amendments to HKAS 1

o Non-current Liabilities with Covenants -
Amendments to HKAS 1

o Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback —
Amendments to HKFRS 16

. Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation
of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause — Amendments to
HK Int 5

° Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

The amendments listed above did not have any impact
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES 2

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) (&)

2.3 New standards and interpretations
that have been issued but are not

MAUERRETTBREE

2.3 B EM{E E K R2025F
1RB1BRZ2EBERPNEH

yet effective for the financial year A KRBE AEBT

beginning on or after 1 January 2025

and have not been early adopted by

the Group

The following new and amended standards and
interpretations have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group:

m A
SH

B 52
e
[

X3 3t
Wi
S
B

P

iy
-

ERRERWM

295
SH 2D

Sl
235
E

WL

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RUTBE®
ZHERZ

R EES S

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1

EEEHENENRANE B BRE
AR B MIERT

Amendments to HKFRS9 and HKFRS 7

BRI BRELNESROER R
BREMBRELBNETRAEET

HKFRS 18

B SERE LR E 185

HKFRS 19
BREMBREEAE19%
HK Int 5
ERHEAEESHR

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
BEANBRELANEIORREBER
HERIE285 2 B7]

The Group has commenced, but not yet completed,
an assessment of the impact of the new standards and
amendments to standards on its results of operations
and financial position. The Group is not yet in a position
to state whether these new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations would have any significant
impact on its results of operations and financial

positions.

Lack of Exchangeability
Rz A R

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement
of Financial Instruments

HERMIT AN ERGENEL]

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
(new standard)

MBRE 2V REE L]

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures (new standard)

FAEZHEAMBARNEE TER])

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

MBHREA 2R ERAHBEEREREE
BRHEHETRNDE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

REEFHABENTNEEREZHMN
AELHERTE

EHEREEZRERAT

1 January 2025
202561 H1H

1 January 2026
202651 R1H

1 January 2027
20271 R1H

1 January 2027
20271 R1H

1 January 2027
2027F1A1H

To be determined
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risk:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow
and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of the financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Risk management is carried out under policies approved by
the directors of the Company. The Directors provide principles
for an overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas.

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC
with most of the transactions originally
denominated and settled in RMB. The Group
is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the US dollars (“USD")
and Hong Kong dollars (“"HKD"). Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities,
which are denominated in these currencies.

During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group has not entered into any
derivative instruments to hedge its foreign
exchange exposures (2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE'CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
r S B3 R AR B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBEEBREE® $5a
(Continued) g?%
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 I EEEZE @ = Ly

(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) ™iEE M (@) £Ew
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SME & (&) - ET
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency AREEBRHREEERT §§
risk at the end of the reporting period, e 1 0 B L B (A A o
expressed in RMB, was as follows: REER)MT : 5 e
£ e
E%{
2023 _
usDh HKD
X B

RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETE

Management Discussion

Trade receivables EWER 9,276 - 4,981 -
Other receivables H fto 8 K 904 290 316 1,863 5
Fixed bank deposits RITE TR g
and Cash and cash MR E K 2 é»m
equivalents HEZEEY 45,725 78,078 92,169 122,278 s %ﬂ
Trade payables ERER (53,076) (87) (61,272) - §§ﬁ
Other payables H b e R - (3,326) - (2,3398)
4
Net monetary assets ~ FEMEE 2,829 74,955 36,194 121,803 To ;‘ﬁ
E° Y
5SS &
If RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% AR H FBREINEFE B2 E5% =8 ;i
against the relevant foreign currencies, with MEMFESESHETE  BREF . kS
all other variable held constant, the post-tax HES (R EinmT : i}
profit would have been (lower)/higher as 4
follows: o

Report of
Directors

EEE

2023
usD HKD y
£ ok E oy
RMB'000 RMB’000 sch
ARBTTE AREFR oo
g «
(Lower)/higher on B H5 1% F1) )8 S
post-tax profit CR4) /2 m :
- Strengthened by 5% — FH{&E5% (106) (2,811) (1,357) (4,568) B
- Weakened by 5%  —fZfE5% 106 2,811 1,357 4,568 2

EHEABZRERAT —S-megsEg 20/



For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate

risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises
from fixed rate pledged bank deposits and
fixed bank deposits (see Note 24 for details),
which expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk through the impact of rate changes
on interest bearing financial assets, mainly
interest bearing bank balances. The Group
cash flow interest rate related to financial
assets is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for interest bearing bank balances at
the end of the reporting period and assumed
that the amount of assets outstanding at the
end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. 50 basis points were
used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MEREREREm @ 5
(Continued) %??
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 IR EEZE @ = 2

g@wi
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) ™iEE B (@) -
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate (i) BEGRALIEE gé
risk (Continued) FIZ 7 Bz () R Sy
If interest rates on interest bearing 5 B AR 1T 7 3R F & ‘ﬁti
bank balances had been 50 basis points EF (R F&) 5018 & Sis
higher/(lower) and all other variables were - YWEFBEME géwﬁ
held constant, the potential effect on profit ENE  HEEFHE
for the year is as follows: BERFENT 5
2023 o3
RMB'O00 ..
ARETT A
Increase/(decrease) in FEFHEEMS 5
profit for the year (R 2) e
— 50 basis points higher — FFSofE RS 4,206 3,557 e
— 50 basis points lower — T #5018 & 2 (4,206) (3,557) g5
g iﬁ
In management’s opinion, the sensitivity EEEBRA ARNE
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent R R RS E N
interest risk as at the year end exposure does BE R A 2 B A T
not reflect the exposure during the year. SRk A sRKE

Environmental,

DITREBRRME -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to perform an obligation by the
counterparties at the end of the reporting period
in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the carrying amount of those assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit approvals.
Other monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under Expected Credit
Loss (“ECL"”) model upon application of HKFRS 9
on trade receivables and contract assets based on
credit rating. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in the Chinese
mainland and Hong Kong.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 35%
(2023: 49%) of the total trade receivables as at 31
December 2024 which was due from customers
engaged in the banking industry.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

Other receivables, pledged bank deposits,
fixed bank deposits and bank balances

The Group also has concentration of credit risk
on pledged bank deposits and fixed bank deposits
which are deposited with banks with high credit
rating. Other than the above, the Group does
not have any other significant concentration
of credit risk. The credit risks on pledged bank
deposits, fixed bank deposits and bank balances
are limited because the counterparties are banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

The Group has considered that credit risk on other
receivables, pledged bank deposits, fixed bank
deposits and bank balances has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and has
assessed the expected credit loss rate under
12-month expected credit loss (“ECL"”) method
based on the Group’s assessment in the risk of
default of the respective counterparties.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has assessed
that the expected loss rates for other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, fixed bank deposits and
bank balances were insignificant. Thus, no loss
allowance for other receivables, pledged bank
deposits, fixed bank deposits and bank balances
was recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Amount due from an associate

The directors of the Company make periodic
individual assessment on the expected credit
loss of amount due from an associate based on
historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The directors of the Company
considered that there is a significant increase in
credit risk of this amount since initial recognition
and the Group assessed its impairment loss
based on lifetime ECL approach (also called as
“simplified approach”). For the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, loss allowance of nil
(2023: RMB36,000) was recognised.
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The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

comprises the following categories:

Category

bl

Performing

E®

Watch list

BE

Doubtful

] &t

Loss

18

Write-off

% 85

Description
i att

The counterparty has a low risk of
default and does not have any
past-due amounts

“HHENRRRELEANESH

Debtor frequently repays after due
dates but usually settle after due
date

BHBAZRBHERLBERY
mE

There has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial
recognition through information
developed internally or external
resources
A ER EE A A 3R SN BB ER O {5 BEUR
EERRBVNHERELRRE
Zn

There is evidence indicating the
asset is credit-impaired

BRBRAEECERRE

There is evidence indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

ERBRABBALEREM K
N2 B RS B R R 2 [

AEBABEERRFTR
BREATER

Trade receivables Other financial

and contract assets assets
BUHERREAHNEE HtEmEE
Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL

- not credit-impaired

KETRHEEEE 128 ATE BBz B & 18
—REARE
Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL

- not credit-impaired

KETRHEEEE N2EAEREEEE
—REARE
Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL

— not credit-impaired

KETEHEEEE 2@ AEHREEEE
—REARE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL -
— credit-impaired credit-impaired
KEIERBEEREE KEEHEEREE
—2EARE —BEARE
Amount is written off Amount is written
off
& RE A & R X 8
SHEEELRERAT —S-_WEFR



For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
estimate default rates and loss rates by making
reference to the credit rating given by external
ranking agency over the expected lives of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information, including but not limited to changes
of future economics, GDP growth rate forecast
and market environment, that available without
undue cost or effort.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group has applied the lifetime ECL approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Trade receivables and contract assets are
assessed based on the provision matrix through
grouping of various debtors that have similar
credit risk characteristics, with consideration of
their corresponding estimated default rates and
loss rates, together with the forward-looking
information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MERKBERE@m
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 B 5 R B2 A & (@)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EER K @)
The table below details the credit risk exposures TERFNAREF S EE < é ‘
of the Group’s financial assets and contract assets, MENEEERBHEE Nsd
which are subject to ECL assessment: EEITOEERE : S
Internal é
Notes credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount E
ABER  NEARYEEEE -
Hit FR& FREGBEMEEER REEEAR 5
2023 2o
RMB'000 S5
ARET T Eom
Financial assets at amortised cost -
RBHEEATECEREE 5 m
Trade receivables 20 Performing  Lifetime ECL by provision matrix 198,792 241,345 S
- contracts with customers - not credit-impaired §
ERER-REFEH % RAREERESNEAEEE £ m
EEFR-REARE
Watch list ~ Lifetime ECL by provision matrix 63,835 91,880
- not credit-impaired z
2pa RAREERESNERIENE £
EEB-FERRE -
Doubtful Lifetime ECL by provision matrix 2,278 1,197 SR
- not credit-impaired -
A&t RAREERESNEIEHE e
EEB-FERRE Stw
Loss Lifetime ECL 1,620 1,596 ggf
- credit-impaired B
B RERHEEBRE-EERNE

$ERRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S BF 7% R B 5 (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

3

216

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

3 BIEERERE@m

3.1 B EREZE @
(b) FERK @

Internal
Notes credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
REER  NEREBEEER
it & FREGBEHEEFE REEEAR
2023
RMB'000
ARBTFT
Financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)
RBHEATECEREE (8)
Other receivables 22 Performing  12-month ECL 90,560 110,947
bR % REAESREERBR
Amount due from an associate 23 Loss Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 14,331 14,331
FE W & A RIRE B RERBEEBRE-EERMNE
Pledged bank deposits, fixed bank 24 Performing  12-month ECL 1,332,803 1,353,026
deposits and bank balances
BERARITEN  BOEHER IE% REABREEER
MBTER
Other items
Hitt BB
Contract assets 21 Performing  Lifetime ECL by provision matrix 11,064 12,038
- not credit-impaired
AHEE IE% RERBERESHNEIEBE
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NOTES TO THE'CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
n S B3 AR M A (D

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BI¥ERERE@m

(Continued)

DA

Corporate
Information

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 IR EEZE @ -
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EER K @) -
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, EAAEBEERRERE iéf
the Group applies internal credit rating for its B — 8o NEBE Y HE Rsk
customers in relations to its operation. The SHENREHETRIE 28
following table provides information about the Bl TREBEIRER B
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables MEHNEBENEERR é?
and contract assets which are assessed based R eEEHEERE (K =B hw
on provision matrix within lifetime ECL (Not ZRBE) BT E PR o
credit-impaired). A debtor with credit-impaired BEETI N EERR - 5
with gross carrying amount of RMB1,620,000 as R2024F12A318 ¥ R
at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB1,596,000) was FEEHEEEEAARKE 82
assessed individually. 1,620,0007T (20234 : A sl
R #1,596,00000) WERE -
RARBENEEAETT S :
B o
[Bm
Gross carrying amount FREEEEEE

BEREREE]

Directors and Senior
Management

At 31 December 2024

R2024F12831A8 "
ZEE) {ED @éll;
£ YX

Internal credit rating A ZB{E AR Eméé

Performing EE 0.96% 198,792 0.00% 11,064 "

Watch list EZDES 1.63% 63,835 - - .

Doubtful ] 5.32% 2,278 - - St=

69 ¢
264,905 11,064 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

Average
At 31 December 2023 loss rate
A2023%12A31H8 THERE
Internal credit rating AR5 A FE 4
Performing s 0.90%
Watch list x 1.27%
Doubtful A] &t 7.72%

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the trade receivables within performing, watch list
and doubtful at the end of the reporting period
which have been past due over 90 days are not
considered as in default with the consideration
that most of the customers are banking institutes
and the historical repayment from trade debtors.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the amount due from an associate was within
the category of loss. There is evidence indicating
that the debtor is credit-impaired. The impairment
loss on amount due from an associate provided in
2024 is nil (2023: RMB36,000).
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RMB'000
ARBEFIT

241,345
91,880
1,197

334,422

REEEAEEE (&)
Average Contract
loss rate assets

T EEk BHEE
RMB'000

ARETIT

0.00% 12,038
12,038
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BI¥ERERE@m

(Continued)

Corporate

3.1 I EREZE @
(b) FERK @

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

Financial

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued) FREE(E 48 38 () < v
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, RKATEERE 5HE 25

the contract assets was within the category
of performing. Since the assessed probability
of default of contract assets is minimal, no
impairment loss (2023: nil) is provided.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group performed impairment assessment and
did not provide allowance for credit losses for
financial assets other than trade receivables,
contract assets and amount due from an associate
as the calculated provision is insignificant after
considering the probability of default, loss rate
and adjustment with forward-looking information.

EBRIESER - AR E
ARAENEEENBER
N BN ETIRIBEE B
(2023F : &) o

HE2024F12 8318 15
E AEEHEKER
A %) E BN W B D R
RIBLANE @ B & EEST
TREFGEAERFIREER
EEEE EAREREEE
WE AT REE  BAREMA
BRIEHEESHNHEAE M
AESEMBETTIEKX -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The following table shows the movement in
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade
receivables under the lifetime ECL approach.

As at 1 January 2023

Changes due to financial instruments
recognised as at 1 January:

Impairment losses reversed

New financial assets originated

Currency translation difference

As at 31 December 2023

Changes due to financial instruments
recognised as at 1 January:

Receivables written off as uncollectible

Impairment losses reversed

New financial assets originated

Currency translation difference

As at 31 December 2024

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

R2023F181H
RIAIEERZeMIA
SR &
REBERD
FREMEE

B ER

R2023%12A318
AIATRERZEMIA
SRR E Ll
ZETTRE £
REBERD
FREMEE

ERZE

20245128311

Lifetime ECL
(Non-credit
impaired)
RETEH
FEE#R
(RERHE)
RMB’000
ARETTT

3,379

(3,117)
3,316
(151)

3,427

(739)
(2,040)
2,419

12

3,079

TRETREFHEAREE

&5 1B 5T 1 1B W

ERERER

MEFEREEBERNE

&) o

Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
HEHEY
FEE#R
(EfERHAE)
RMB’000

ARETT

1,570

26

1,596

24

1,620

Total

&t
RMB’000
ARBF7

4,949

(3.117)
3,316
(125)

5,023

(739)
(2,040)
2,419

36

4,699



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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e MR MR |

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents.
Our Group’s liquidity risk is further mitigated
through the availability of financing through
its own cash resources to meet its financial
commitments. In the opinion of our directors, our
Group does not have any significant liquidity risk.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

3

B EREEE @m

3.1 i EKREZE @
() REHERK

EENRIURARERE
REEFEHNRE RA
EEEY - -AKEAAB
HESGRGERETRE
BT HE M # A - (&M
E-—FREERER
- AEBEERSAE
ETrAEBEERNRB LR

TRAJNAEEFETES
MEBENRBREOHR -
FZRDERAEEAEL
XN RFASMNESRE
BORMRBESRRE -
Hip3ETE B E2
BIZMmEMMIE BB - %
REBBEMNEMEALRENR

At 31 December 2024 R2024512A31R

Trade and bill payables ERERREREE 317,235 - - g 317,235 317,235

Other payables AfERT 19,520 - - - 19,520 19,520

Lease liabiites REAE 1,063 3398 3434 4,086 11,981 11,004
337,818 3,398 3434 4,086 348,736 347,759

EHEREEZRERAT

—eomEFEg 2]

Environmental,
Social and

Corporate
Information
HRER

=
GES

Financial
Highlights
5

2024
Major Events

2024F KRFL

T RFER
JR RS

Chairman’s
Statement

Management Discussion

Directors and Senior

“®

R

S ]
1

Governance Report
CHHER

R

R &

o
i

¥R

Report of
Directors

Report
ARKEBE/AWME

DEEsaspa

Corporate Governance

0
_ 2
=25
s}

c €
T o
c <
[
%]

MBS




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

3

222

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEREBREE@
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 B EREZE @
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () HENHEEBE (&
Repayable
on demand Total
or less than 3 months 1 year 2years  undiscounted Carrying
3 months t0 1 year t0 2 years to5years  cash flows amount
Bl
FOR=fEA =fiA -k mE AR
REE E-f EmE ERE RenEd KHERE
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETT AR%ETR  ARETT ARETRT  ARETR
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A31H
Trade and bl payables ERERREMNEE 399,788 - - - 399,788 399,788
Other payables AfEAR 31,825 - - - 31825 31825
Lease labilities HERE 2297 4,584 1,727 5,655 14,263 11,966
433,910 4,584 1,727 5,655 445,876 443,579
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
The following table gives information about
how the fair values of these financial assets
are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level
of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair
value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to
3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements is observable.

. Level 1 fair value measurements are those
derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active market for identical assets or liabilities;

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those
derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices); and

o Level 3 fair value measurements are those
derived from valuation techniques that
include inputs for the asset or liability that
are not based on observable market data
(that is, unobservable inputs).

AEEBLEBEENE
B3R E B RIL A R EER
E-BARZEELBMEER
AEBERNMAEEMN (F
FEHEEAEREANE
ABE)  URERTE
A F BEM & A B AT &
REEMAENRAAEE
W(B1BREEIBR)
=Sl NRER-

TE]

o EIE&XAREBEESR
EEEREREESR
BERNERTISNR
BOCREHRE)FE

o E2EHZNAEESR
ERERARFIBR
MEHREI  BE
FABEEE (PIWE
%) & (f a3z
EBRFTEMET) A8
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o EIBEAXABEE
BEMBETETER
EAENABEND
LHE (FABEER
ABB)WEESLRA
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

RMB’000
ARETF T
At 1 January 2023 and 72023%1 A18 #

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H =
Purchase of financial assets BETREE 240,000
Net gain on financial assets PREEF R 1,715
Redemption of financial assets EoomEE (241,715)
At 31 December 2024 -
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 2024% F120234 HifE 15 4

during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

The total gain for the year included a realised gain
of RMB1,715,000 and no unrealised gain relating
to financial assets that are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period (2023: nil).
Such fair value gains are included in “other gains
- net”.

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes

In estimating the fair value of unlisted equity
(Sichuan Zhongruan Technology Ltd. (“SCZR")),
the Group uses the investee’s financial statements
as the basis for calculating the fair value of
unlisted equity (“SCZR") under the asset-based
valuation method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MHERERE@®
(Continued) %
3.2 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.2 2 AEBEMF @ -

(a) Fair value of the Group’s financial (a) ZEAAEBERKE MG -
assets that are measured at fair value ENFEBEERMEE o
on a recurring basis (Continued) WA REE@E SE
Reconciliation of Level 3 measurement EI3ERE LR i

z =2
The following table presents the reconciliation of TREJNEMEENES EEW
Level 3 measurement of the financial assets: B st S R - 24
Valuation Relationship 5
Fair value technique(s) and key ~ Significant unobservable inputs to i
Financial asset Fair value hierarchy input(s) unobservable input(s) fair value ©
HERER EXFTBR FTBREAHES %
tREE AEE MEEER  IEHARE BARE MEEZBR goH
Unlisted equity ("SCZR") ~ Asat 31 December 2024:  Level 3 Asset-based valuation  Discount ratio The higher the discount -
RMB nil (as at 31 December method - fair ratio, the lower the c =
2023: RMB nil) value is estimated fair value and vice 5 g
by multiplying the versa. 5 S
carrying amount of = o

the recoverable net
assets of investee
which is in the state
of bankruptcy and
liquidation, with

a certain discount

Environmental,

ratio.
FETRE(mIG®])  RN04E128318  AREE $3ER BEMEA-DLEHE FRE TREEE  AAEE
T(0BENANA AR DB B R
%%7) REEERENT 5 ol
HEFEENER s
EERN-TMB =
3¢
Information about the valuation techniques and RERBEENLBEFR §t‘~?
inputs used in determining the fair value of various B G ETERE B RS § %k
assets are disclosed above. Please refer to Note 18 AHEBEZHEEEER L g“j’
for more details. MHEE - FEEZHFEE &

A E2HME18 .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

3

4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

226

B 3% 3 3% MY 3 (@)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.2 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(b) Fair value of financial instruments at

amortised cost

The management of the Group considers that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values at the end of each reporting

period.

(a) Write-down of inventories to net

realisable values

Management estimated net realisable values based
on ageing of inventories, current market price and
estimated future market demand. Such estimation
required the use of significant judgments and key
assumptions which take into consideration of historical
sales record, utilisation records, ageing and expectations
for future sales orders. Such judgments was subject to
uncertainties as a result of future changes in market
trends and customer demands.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 4 BER#gsEiRHAE @

(Continued)

Corporate

(b) Expected credit losses of trade (b) EWERR2TABEEE

receivables

The expected credit losses of trade receivables are

assessed based on the provision matrix through REESERE - BAKEFEU aé‘
grouping of various debtors that have similar credit EERREFEENEBEBAS N5¥
risk characteristics, with consideration of their HOWEREMRAEMGBGTED S

corresponding estimated default rates and loss rates,
together with the forward-looking information. The
Group uses estimations and judgments to estimate
default rates and loss rates by making reference to
the credit rating given by external ranking agency and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in the tables in Note 3.1(b).

|
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Segment information has been identified on the basis of
internal management reports which are reviewed by the
Chairman of the Company, being the chief operating
decision maker, in order to allocate resources to the
operating and reportable segments and to assess their
performance.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Embedded software and secure payment products

BRAREMHNZ 2N ER =

Platform and service -

& MR -

Each operating and reportable segment derives its
revenue from the sales of products and provision of
data processing services. They are managed separately
because each product requires different production and
marketing strategies.

Segment results represent the gross profits earned by
each segment.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

DEERARFTABEERSE
AETET ML - bR B E IR W

SRBARABEERKE A
ﬁ’?ff%% AR 7 1 48
ERAIBEDHIEMTER
WHEERE -

RIBEFEM B HRE LR -
AEEEERAHREDBAT ¢

Design, development, manufacture and sale
of embedded software and secure payment
products for smart secure payment.

RET A BUEMHEESER
MBRARNKHEMLZ X ER °

2 IEE

Provision of data processing, digital
equipment, system platforms and other
total solutions for customers in a wide
business range including financial, retails,
public services including social security,
healthcare, transportation, etc. by
leveraging innovative Fintech.

BeglFeRiE Ref T8 REH
BRE #HE  XBEIARBEZEHE
PRHEBIERE  BFRE  ZHTek
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WARDEER @
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Corporate

5.1 Description of segments and principal 5.1 7 &b ai B8 F EIEE) () -
activities (Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and UTAREEZEITRE DI o
results by reportable segment: WA REE 2 DI : < 2%

Revenue Results 23
(' ON E4 T
2023 2023 5ow
RMB'000 RMB’000 5 e
ARBTT ARBT T o
Sales to external parties of AT ZHE g i
- embedded software and —RAREHFNLZ S 25
secure payment products XAEm 622,362 949,781 131,666 264,059 S<m
- platform and service —EE5RR% 472,939 466,792 127,277 155,993 @”
1,095,301 1,416,573 258,943 420,052
Other income Hi g A 44,838 50,665 RS
Other gains - net Hib s — 358 5,252 309 o D
Research and development  fiff 2% & Ff g
expenses (103,811) (102,451) 5
Selling and distribution HERDHEHR
expenses (107,894) (143,596)
Administrative expenses THEX (45,250) (48,302) E 5
Provision for impairment loss & I & sl B 2 45 25
on trade receivables (379) (199) 5%
Impairment loss on amount [ U Bk & A R ZUB 2 5
due from an associate HEEE - (36)
Impairment loss of investment #&& ¥ 7 A B8
properties (3,676) (4,974) 5 w4l
Finance income — net Mg — F 5 1,695 2,265 tia
x O g
Profit before income tax & B 15 4 5 0& 7 49,718 173,733
The management of the Group makes decisions NEBEERBRIES D EEF 5% <
according to the gross profit of each segment. No ERShE iDL EERE § %j
information of segment assets and liabilities is available BEER A BTG NR XS E“;"
for the assessment of performance of different business BMEXR - FH  TEZHS §
activities. Therefore, no information about segment HEENRBEER -

assets and liabilities is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r & BF 7% o3k B A (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WARDHER @
INFORMATION (continued)
5.2 Revenue 5.2 LA
The segment information for the year ended 31 #H E2024F12H31H K20234F
December 2024 and 2023 by business segment were as NAMNBLEFEZSEE 2
follows: AHARMT :

Types of goods or services EVSREES
Embedded software and secure i AR E AR 2 L+

payment products Em 622,362 - 622,362
Data processing HiE R IR - 306,408 306,408
Digital equipment HrH - 166,531 166,531
Total CEl 622,362 472,939 1,095,301

Revenue from sale of embedded software and secure BARNBTENLTEZMNEDBD
payment products and sale of digital equipment are HMEWA RS FTLRERIEE
recognised at a point in time, and revenue from data WAEXERREIER M
processing services are recognised over time. BRIEREH U AR R — R

AR o

230  Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 75 3R 3R i & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

5.2 Revenue (Continued)

5 WAKRDZHER @

5.2 WA &)

Corporate
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HRER
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2
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B 5

Financial

2024
Major Events
2024F KRFL

Chairman’s
Statement
B &

25%
Geographical markets i & 45 e
The Chinese mainland o At 526,897 451,743 978,640 S St
Non-Chinese mainland FE R B A 3 95,465 21,196 116,661 s .
Total EEr 622,362 472,939 1,095,301 % t;;
For the year ended 31 December 2023 o S
BZ2023F12A31AL 26 E g
Embedded -
software .
and secure Platform . 5®m
payment and 2o g
products service Total g; g
BAREYG S8g+
ME2XM - éﬂf
ER FAERERH® &5t -
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFR ARMFR  S5o
Types of goods or services EYRBBESE -
Embedded software and secure # AR M% 2 %+ o
payment products Em 949,781 - 949,781 § -
Data processing IR - 183,005 183,005 g tg‘jj
Digital equipment HFHR = 283,787 283,787 - c%[m
Total S 949,781 466,792 1,416,573 S
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Revenue from sale of embedded software and secure RARBUHNLZE2ZTERD
payment products and sale of digital equipment are HERARBFZLLEENHEE
recognised at a point in time, and revenue from data W A\ TE (8 B R BERERR ¢ T 2R
processing services are recognised over time. B RIER AU A B — B

B AR °

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B ZE2023F12831BIL 2 FE
Embedded
software
and secure Platform
payment and
products service Total
BmAX B
HNE2XH
Em TAREH &t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRE AR®TRT

Geographical markets AR

The Chinese mainland B i 653,112 443,611 1,096,723

Non-Chinese mainland e E A 296,669 23,181 319,850

Total &5t 949,781 466,792 1,416,573
For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was one HZ2024F 128318 ILEE - # A
customer with revenue of RMB70,027,000 in aggregate REHUEMTZEINERMES RRG
from the segments of both embedded software and DEH —ZEEHR AL A AR
secure payment products and platform and service 70,027,0007T * {5 ANEE AU A 6%
which accounted for more than 6% of the Group’s total BLE (20234 @ A R¥161,148,000
revenue (2023: RMB161,148,000). L) e

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

5.3

5.4

Segment assets

Information about the Group’s non-current assets
except for financial instruments and deferred tax assets
by location of assets is presented as below:

5

WA R D EHEE @

5.3

THEREE

ZK%@E%@EEIE&%EE%%IE
BEMTHE S Z2RMOT :

2023
RMB’000
AREF T
Hong Kong B 124,711 136,903
The Chinese mainland 5 (A 4t 365,021 390,125
489,732 527,028

Accounting policies of revenue 54 WARBRZETEE

recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a AREBERFEABHNEEFREER
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” WA B ABETEBEBOEIH

of the goods and services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
and service.

The contracts for embedded software and secure
payment products, digital equipment and data
processing services are for periods of one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods and services
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

5.4 Accounting policies of revenue
recognition (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods and services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a

net basis.

(a) Performance obligation for contracts
with customers

(i)

Sales of embedded software and
secure payment products

The Group sells embedded software and
secure payment products to financial
institutions, retail businesses, public sectors
including social security, healthcare,
transportation and others. Revenue on sales
of embedded software and secure payment
products is recognised at the point of time
when control of the goods has transferred to
the customers, being when the goods have
been shipped to the designated location.

5 WAKRDZHER @

5.4 IWABR Z2ETBE @)
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REBRERP -
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BE 4 RXABF
NAEHE - RAXEK
HMZEXNEMRZ
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

(ii) B1% 5 7 AR 7% = 7

(ii) Sales of data processing services

(iii)

The data processing services, including
encode cardholder information, develop
and load custom software applications to
embedded software and secure payment
products and deliver the goods to the
designated location, which are considered

=

ARAKBEERAE
Y HAREFPRM
ZBRTS - BB IE R
BRE S —HAED
MR BRER R
AERBETHR - 5

to be a distinct service as it is regularly N E R e
supplied by the Group to customers on a Fﬁﬂ"‘i?ﬁ(\\ﬁ)\iﬁﬁ#
stand-alone basis. The transaction price of MEZeTNEM-

data processing service makes reference to
the quotation that the Group offered to
the customers and revenue is recognised
over time as the performance obligation is
satisfied through creating or enhancing an
asset that the customer controls or at the
point of time when the goods have been
shipped to the designated location.

Sales of digital equipment

The Group also provides self-service kiosks
and on-site and instant card issuance system
solution to its customers. Revenue on sales of
self-service kiosks and on-site card issuance
system is recognised at the point of time
when control of the goods has transferred to
the customers, being when the goods have
been shipped to the designated location
and installation of the digital equipment is
completed with customers’ acceptance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

WARDEHEE @

Corporate

5.4 IWABR Z2ETBE @)

5.4 Accounting policies of revenue
recognition (Continued)

Financial

(b) AZEBNELZE

(b) Contracts with multiple performance £
obligations (including allocation of HN(BEXZE®ERN Eéf
transaction price) 7 ) 53

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligation (i.e. embedded software
and secure payment products for smart secure
payment and data processing solution), the
Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good
or service underlying each performance obligation
is determined at contract inception. It represents
the price at which the Group would sell a
promised good or service separately to a customer.

If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the transaction
price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or
services to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o & B A% HR AR Y A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

6 OTHER INCOME 6 HWA
2023
RMB’000
AREFIT
Government grants I 4 B 1,170 951
Interest income from bank RITERF B U A
deposits 27,745 32,649
Value-added tax refund 1% (8 T 3R B 9,451 12,776
Rental income from investment %&£ &7 & WA
property 5,932 3,675
Others HAib 540 614
44,838 50,665
7 OTHER GAINS — NET 7 Hitblizm— F5E
2023
RMB’000
AREFIT
Net exchange gains PE H W5 E 3,558 333
Investment income from financial A QA4 BEE £ B H& &)
assets at FVTPL (Note 3.2) SFAEBEZNS R
BEKREWA (Kit3.2) 1,715 =
Loss on lease modification ERBLHEE (8) -
Losses on disposal of property, BEEWZ¥ - M= MR EEE
plant and equipment (13) (24)
5,252 309

738  Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024



Cost of inventories sold
Reversal of write-down of
inventories
Employee benefits
expenses(including
directors’ emoluments)
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use
assets
Amortisation on land
use right
Depreciation of investment
properties
Legal and professional fees
Auditor’s remuneration
— audit services
— non-audit services
Business entertainment
expenses
Freight and duties
Professional service fees
Testing fees
Travelling and transportation
expenses
Other expenses

Total cost of sales, research
and development
expenses, selling and
distribution expenses and
administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

EEFEMRA
Tr ERE B i [

BETRHEER
(BRESFH2)

ME - BEMREBITE

EREEENE

o 3 {5 R £

REMEE

EENEXEN
A% BN B
— ZH R
— IF RS
XBHBEER

BENER
BEXRBE
OB &

Hib &R

WERA  FEEM -
HERS HRALR
SR

Notes

opEs

19

19

10
15
16
16

17

2024
RMB’000
ARBT R

710,583

(3,729)

206,802
33,813
5,209
564

9,931
4,552

1,458
376

2,726
12,195
29,043

8,393

7,527
63,870

1,093,313

EHEREEZRERAT

2023
RMB'000
ARBTT
848,085

(4,351)

224,680
36,186
5,423
564

9,266
3,163

1,841
468

4,416
30,571
26,987

8,609

14,726
80,236

1,290,870

B ELET S



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fr B B R AR B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

9 FINANCE INCOME - NET 9 HBWA-—F&E
2023
RMB’'000
ARBT T
Unwinding interest income from  {tERRBSIHBEL 2
deposits paid to suppliers FLBE U A 2,244 2,936
MEnee g MBOA . %244 2936
Borrowing costs BEKA = (339)
Interest expense on lease liabilities & & & H) 5 & F (549) (332)
Finance costs B 75 A AR (549) (671)
Net finance income R I ONEE 1,695 2,265
10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES 10 ETEHEBEHA
2023
RMB’'000
AR¥T T
Directors’ emoluments (Note 11) &= & (H#a211) 15,775 17,123
Retirement benefits scheme RORAEFET B fE 50
contributions 14,553 14,462
Staff costs 8 T A 176,474 193,095
Total employee benefits expenses B TiF@B & A& 206,802 224,680
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

(Continued)

Note: The Group participates in MPF for its qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. Under the rules of MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are required to contribute 5% of the employee’s salaries, up to a
maximum of HKD1,500 per employee per month. The assets of MPF are
held separately from those of the Group companies in an independently
administered fund.

The qualifying employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Chinese
mainland are members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

Save for the above, the Group has no other obligation. No forfeited
contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) may be used by the
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

REBRBEENEGBEILMNBEBARE
THEBEUWARS% ' AE A 1,500
BLER -RAESHEERAEBEHH -
HZAABYERE -

AEBERTFEANEHBARNEGRET
2N BT E(ER BR E 2R IKE
FEtE - ZEWBRARAKE TSR
B — 5 Lb Bl A R AR AR A R B R o A&
B LR E AT R — B ERREZ
AR IR E R AR -

B bt AREBIEEMEF - HE
BRI Z R (R EERZEEHKE
BEBAREGEZETER) THEE
FA A BIORUER B KR 2 AR 5K o

11 EE BHEITEHEREN
BEaEFME IS

2023
RMB’'000
AREFIT
Directors’ fees we 568 594
Other emoluments to executive Hfh FH#HITEEN D
directors
— basic salaries and allowances — E 7K % 4 6232 A4 10,577 10,795
— bonus — %5 4,550 5,665
— retirement benefits scheme — — iR (K 1@ FIl 5t 2 £t =X
contributions 80 69
15,775 17,123

Unless indicated otherwise, bonus of the directors was
discretionary and determined with reference to the Group’s
performance, individual performances and comparable market
statistics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fr B B R AR B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 11 EE - BEEITEEHR{X
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID ESHME TS @
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Mr. Hou Ping is also the chief executive (the “Chief EELEEDRAANBEEEITE © 1o
Executive”) of the Company and his emoluments disclosed e ETREE  effmEETy
below include those for services rendered by him as the Chief FBHITEMREREOME -
Executive.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments for the year, WiEEB 2z EmiR B A FHEE)
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and iR EC EENEERTEAFE 2
Companies Ordinance is as follows: e T :

For the year ended 31 December 2024: BZE2024F12831HLLFE

(A) Executive directors (A) HITES

Mr. Lu Run Ting ERERE 3,319 - 1,962 - 5,281
Mr. Lu Runyi EEREE 1,334 - 477 - 1,811
Mr. Hou Ping EEEE 2,638 - 1,570 16 4,224
Mr. Wu Sigiang REREE 625 - 180 32 837
Mr. Lu Wai Lim ERREE 1,203 - 271 16 1,490
Ms. Li Yijin FHERL 1,458 - 90 16 1,564
(B) Independent (B) BUFBITEE
non-executive directors
Ms. Ye Lu Exut - 181 - - 181
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin BXRAE ()
(Note) - 95 - - 95
Mr. Jiang Li (Note) BEEE(Z) - m - - m
Mr. Lai Tung Kwok BB % & - 181 - - 181
10,577 568 4,550 80 15,775
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fr e B A% 3R Rk B EE |

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023:

11 EE - BEEITEEHR{X
ESFME T E @

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE -

Basic Retirement

salaries benefits

and Directors’ scheme
allowances fees Bonus  contributions Total

EXxFe RAEF
ih= 4201 ik #d g L &3t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT AREBTT ARETT ARET:R

(A) Executive directors (A) HTES
Mr. Lu Run Ting EFELAE 3,761 - 2,409 = 6,170
Mr. Lu Runyi EEREE 1,311 - 585 = 1,896
Mr. Hou Ping EEEE 2,679 - 1,927 16 4,622
Mr. Wu Sigiang REREE 635 - 300 21 956
Mr. Lu Wai Lim ERREE 888 - 333 16 1,237
Ms. Li Yijin ZHELL 1,521 - 1M 16 1,648
(B) Independent (B) BUFHBITEE
non-executive directors

Ms. Ye Lu Exut - 178 - - 178
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin BXREE - 238 - - 238
Mr. Lai Tung Kwok BB % & - 178 - - 178
10,795 594 5,665 69 17,123

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Note:

Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin retired as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 21 May 2024.

Mr. Jiang Li was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 21 May 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S BF 7% R B 5 (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

11

244

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

The five highest paid individuals for the year ended 31
December 2024 included five (2023: four) directors of the
Company, details of whose emoluments are set out above.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration
of the remaining highest paid individuals who is neither a
director nor Chief Executive of the Company during the year
was as follows:

1M ES BRFHUTEERAN

EaFME IS @

HE2024%F12A31H IEFEAXRQ A
AfusEEHEMA LT BIERNM (20234
WA EE EMeFBEH N ER-
HE2023F12B831BIEFEHTH
— M TRESHIREEATEN
BEEHMALTHORMESNT

2023
RMB'000
ARETIT
Employees BT

— basic salaries and allowances — — EL7K# 4 B AL - 1,799
- bonus — e = 124

— retirement benefits scheme — RREF T & 3Kk
contributions = -
- 1,923

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose fell within the following
bands is as follows:

RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 A R# 1,500,001 TE AR

2,000,0007T

BRARREFAIMESHMALHA
BETREBER :

Number of employees
BT A

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
the directors or the five highest paid individuals (including
directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. There
was no arrangement under which a director or the Chief
Executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during
the year.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R 3R AR B RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Directors’ retirement and termination
benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
and termination benefits during the year (2023: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to or receivable by any third
parties for making available directors’ services during the year
(2023: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in
favour of the directors of the Company, or controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such directors
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group'’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
each of the year or at any time during the year.

EHEREEZRERAT

11 E BEEIHTEEHAEN

EeFME IS @

EERNKRRLERER

RER - BEEE FE UWER L & W BT
R R I EEBEF (2023F  £) -

RESESERBAE=5R
HHE

RER MERESESRSESME
THEZFREXEMNE=ZHHE
(20234 : &) o

BEUNESE ZZFEEE
BHZEZAEBRZSESH
REEERAXBZANER
EERREMRXZHNER

RERBRFRETAMER  HEUAR
RABEEHAXRFEETEHNEAE
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EREERMEMR ST -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

This note provides an analysis of the Group’s income tax
expense, and shows what amounts are recognised directly in
equity and how the tax expense is affected by non-assessable
and non-deductible items. It also explains significant
estimates made in relation to the Group’s tax position.

Current income tax BN ERFT /5 R 18
The Chinese mainland corporate 1 Bl pA #h 7> 2 B 15 %%
income tax

Hong Kong Profits Tax EENEH

Deferred income tax EEF IR
Income tax expense FrisHi & A

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the "Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HKD2,000,000 of profits
of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HKD2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, starting from the year ended
31 December 2019, the Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
at 8.25% on the first HKD2,000,000 of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HKD2,000,000 for Goldpac Datacard Solutions
Company Limited.

The Chinese mainland corporate income tax is calculated at
the applicable rates in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations in the Chinese mainland.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

KIEMEIT T AEBHNAFHRE
A AR TERERESERN SR
DA Ko B 5 AR AR AN T AT HE 40 IR B ANl 52
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2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
5,355 21,329
5,355 21,329
(5,169) 1,239

186 22,568
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B2 = 5 #2,000,0007T % A 8 ) 18 5
% £58.25% + B 1B 5 #2,000,0007T
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

The Company’s subsidiaries in the Chinese mainland are
subject to the Chinese mainland corporate income tax at
25%, except that Goldpac Limited which is approved for 3
years as an enterprise satisfied as a High-New Technology
Enterprise and is entitled to the preferential tax rate of 15%
in 2023, 2024 and 2025.

According to a joint circular of Ministry of Finance and
the State Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui (2008) No.
1, only the profits earned prior to 1 January 2008, when
distributed to foreign investors, can be grandfathered with
the exemption from withholding tax. Whereas, pursuant
to Articles 3 and 27 of the Corporate Income Tax Law and
Article 91 of its Implementation Rules, dividend distributed
out of the profit generated thereafter, shall be subject to
corporate income tax at 10% or reduced tax rate if tax treaty
or arrangement applies. Under the relevant tax arrangement,
withholding tax rate on dividend distribution to the qualifying
Hong Kong resident companies is 5%. Deferred tax liability
on the undistributed profits earned by Goldpac Limited since
1 January 2008 have been accrued at the tax rate of 5%.

Income tax expense for the year is reconciled to profit before
tax as follows:

Profit before tax B 7% A V4

Tax at PRC tax rate of 25% 1225% B XA ERHIA
(2023: 25%) (20234 : 25%)

Tax effect of amounts not taxable T8 55 H1 1 & RE /R T 75 52 &

for tax purpose
AERMBEBENTBTE

Tax effect of tax losses not
HIEEENH G E

recognised
Tax effect of tax concession
Tax effect of different tax rate of FE EhFi 5 e FE R K EH)

subsidiaries operating in other {8 A & Y T R R 895 15

tax jurisdiction 7B

Withholding EIT on undistributed >k %3 fir ¥ | 89 o B 78 #0110 3
profits in the PRC B2

Others HAh

Income tax expense for the year FE 55 & H

AN A B R A B B A B1HR25% )
TRRBMNR BN D ERER - e
HEBRAREWHRE S DM
¥ AT 720234  20244F 2025
FZFRNEEZTI5%NEEHREK -

BEVTHRILBERHEEARTH
(2008)F 155 Bt & 3B &0 - R A RN K
EEEHDIRE - 28 K2008F1 A
18 Z A1 BREAY & F) AT e S FE 40 B -
A RIBREMEREF3GE K27
ERHEEHmAMBNEIEIRTE - LEE
ELEMFIES R SR - HIE10%%K
(MK ES L HEEAR) 8K/
REMDEMEH - RIBEBBEHWKE
B 2RETEERBEERATKRE
MFEHNTE B5% - £ FHEFR A A
B2008F1 18 BIA X o B &
FEEF BB E IR %M REHE -

f@?ﬁ%ﬁ%)ﬂéﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ@iﬁﬂﬁ@%ﬁ%
nF

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
49,718 173,733
12,430 43,433
(3,668) (585)
6,624 2,924
(15,894) (18,697)
(2,251) (10,312)
1,756 2,907
1,189 2,898
186 22,568
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The basic earnings per share attributable to the owners of
the Company is calculated by dividing:

o the profit attributable to owners of the Company

o by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year

ARBEE ARIEFENE
(AE®TT)

Profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company
(RMB’000)

Weighted average number of STESRERZNMEREARN
ordinary shares for the purpose  fN#E 3 15 & i/ A% A% 1
of basic earnings per share (FHL) (i)

(thousand) (Note)

Basic earnings per share EXGREFN (AEEKS)

(RMB cents)

Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares adopted in the
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for both years have
been arrived at after deducting the shares held in trust for the Company
by an independent trustee under the shares award scheme of the
Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, diluted
earnings per share were same as the basic earnings per share
as there was no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
during the years.
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BERARAERANSRERET
ERBEATTEETAHE

o  AREHEEAERENE
s KBUAXREFFEZDEHITHM

1T 19 3 8 AR A B
2024 2023
50,889 132,051
807,377 811,326
6.3 16.3

i AEMESREARREER N MNEFY
EAERREE - 9EMBRA DB R 12
Bt 8RB THBYEFRARNNRARR
FHBNKRD -

#H £2024F12A831H8 K&2023%12 A
MBS E  SRESRMNEGRE
AAFIER - B AFELELBES
SEREME BT TR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fr e B A% 3R Rk B EE |

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

14 DIVIDENDS

14 B2

2023
RMB’'000
AR¥T T
2024 Interim — nil 2024 FEHRH -FRE AR
(2023 Interim — nil) BT IT(2023F FEF H
per ordinary share —gREBRBEST) = -
2023 Final — HK10.0 cents 203 FERA-—FRETER
(2022 Final — HK12.0 cents) 75 H10.011(2022 6 F FE K 51
per ordinary share —FREEREE12.010) 73,817 86,469
2023 Special — HK4.0 cents 2023F FEFAKRE —BRYT
(2022 Special — HK4.0 cents) BB EA0LQ022FFE
per ordinary share FRIRE — SR BARE
4.01L) 29,526 28,823
103,343 115,292

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend of HK5.5 cents (2023: HK10.0 cents) per ordinary
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 has
been proposed by the Board and is subject to approval by
the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The dividend declared after 31 December
2024 has not been recognised as a liability as at 31 December
2024.

HEHRE  ESERLEZE2024
FRANBLEFERERERES
% % i B B #5500 (20234F : B
10.01l) + AAEBSERBFRITHR
HEAFAE FAQNB KR ZHE - B
2024F12A31HE TR MR B R
R AN2024F12831B 28 E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r & BF 7% o3k B A (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

250

15 % BEERE

Cost K&
At 1 January 2023 12023F1A1H 287,067 80,145 6,488 328,836 6,872 709,408
Additions NE 177 1,536 - 3,765 23,826 29,304
Disposals RE - (129) - (3,335) = (3,464)
Transfers i 22,140 4,726 - 501 (27,367) -
Transfer to investment B ERENE

properties (Note 17) (Hi317) (11,876) = = = = (11,876)
Transfer to inventory ENREE - - - - 97) (97)
Exchange realignment EHAE 1,558 15 3 (1) 1 1,605
At 31 December 2023 "2023F12A318 299,066 86,293 6,520 329,766 3,235 724,880
Additions NE - 1,308 322 3,501 12,833 17,964
Disposals RE - 22) (464) (15,232) = (15,718)
Transfers &7 7,531 1,582 = 112 (9,225) =
Transfer to investment ERRRENE

properties (Note 17) (Htiz17) (4,037) = = = = (4,037)
Exchange realignment e 2,386 26 47 = = 2,459

At 31 December 2024

nsioio: S s

Depreciation e
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1A1H 61,549 70,288 4,865 259,984 - 396,686
Provided for the year ERRE 12,734 4,882 431 18,641 - 36,738
Transfer to investment B ERENE

properties (Note 17) (BiE17) (552) = = = = (552)
Eliminated on disposals RERHH - (129) - (3,296) = (3,425)
Exchange realignment AR 330 14 20 = = 364
At 31 December 2023 120238128318 74,061 75,055 5,366 275,329 - 42981
Provided for the year FREE 12,792 4,969 320 15,732 = 33,813
Eliminated on disposals RENYH - (168) (369) (11,955) = (12,492)
Exchange realignment Rt 692 24 38 (1) = 753

At 31 December 2024

oz TS S s

Carrying values
At 31 December 2024

REEE

T U R T

At 31 December 2023

20234124318 225,005

11,238

1,154

54,437

3,235

295,069
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 ¥ BERRERE @

(Continued)

Corporate
Information
BEREHR

Depreciation methods and useful lives ITE 5 E o] 5 A & Hf -
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method WERBUTHERAIERFHEH £FR
to allocate cost to their residual values over their estimated AR BE AR E DM HFREETE o
useful lives, as follows: B 54}
Buildings 20 to 30 years g%
’F 20E304F
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years % E}‘g
R BB REE 3ESF 31
Motor vehicles 5 to 10 years g
_E 5E10% s
Plant and machinery 10 years g =
5 K 25 104F &
See Note 38.6 for the other accounting policies relevant to EAYE  BEERSEOHMEHK %
property, plant and equipment. SEER B HTE38.6 o g i
S m
o £ B
S &
5§.j
s W
L
fzie
Es g
syed
v ok

& 5
I

Directors
EEE

Report of

B AR
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Financial
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b
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

16 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is

a lessee.

(i) Amounts recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial

position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows

16 HE

AHERENEEE P AEE A

HA -

() ZFEUBRRKRFPER
Y&

ReMBRRET RAERA

the following amounts relating to leases: REREWT :
Leasehold Leased
Right-of-use assets lands  properties Total
FEHEESE HELH HEWE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AREBTT AREBETT ARETTT
At 1 January 2023 MW2023F1A18 24,111 8,785 32,896
Additions NE - 9,256 9,256
Depreciation e (564) (5,423) (5,987)
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12831H0 23,547 12,618 36,165
At 1 January 2024 M2024F181H 23,547 12,618 36,165
Additions NE - 4,222 4,222
Depreciation e (564) (5,209) (5,773)
Lease modification HEES - (771) (771)
At 31 December 2024 M2024%F12A31H 22,983 10,860 33,843
2023
RMB’000
AREFIT
Lease liabilities HEEE

Current wE 3,980 4,584
Non-current IERH 7,024 7,382
11,004 11,966
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

16 LEASES (continued) 16 B E @) 25,
(ii) Amounts recognised in the (i) FEBERTIEANS S
consolidated statement of profit or -t2) ;
loss g
The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the SEERARTHEHEEEEN S =
following amounts relating to leases: BN : <

2024
Major Events

2023
RMB’000 —
ARKETTT sa4
= e
Depreciation charge of EREEEREER
right-of-use assets 5
Leasehold lands THE 564 564 S 2®
Leased properties HEYHE 5,209 5,423 -
5,773 5,987 £
=
Expense relating to short-term  EA%E HAFR SRR AI A X 5 m
leases (included in cost of sales  (EF A 4% A% AN F1 = % o
and administrative expenses) THRFAX) 121 132 c S
S 5
g S
The total cash outflow for leases during the year A E2024F 128318 FEE - 5 ®
ended 31 December 2024 was RMB4,970,000 (2023: HMERSREHBEEAARK B
RMB6,486,000) excluding short-term leases. 4,970,0007C (20234 : ARME - éL’t
6,486,0000T) - KA T BER"  SZ-w
R - coim
" 82
5l
g5k

B AR

Corporate Governance
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The Group leases various leasehold lands and properties
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of 50 years for leasehold lands and 2 years
to 5 years for properties.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since
third party financing was received.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the Group entities use that rate as a starting
point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate,
which are not included in the lease liability until they
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based
on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is
reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less without a
purchase option.

See Note 38.24 for the other accounting policies
relevant to leases.

AREBRKABE S ™ ERENIE
BUs R R E Ry A 2 E 5K
BEMNMER SO EHE
ENREEERZELEEMAMR
ERE BEEREHINEXY
MENRBEETARE HE
BEERTUEGLREERE
BERE-

HE R FRER A & B AR
ZEETDE - BB AEM
EHAGAERR  BRREEH
B R R HE A E SR
AAERE -

EREEE-—REEENER
FREBENME RGN
NIBEREFRTE - HAE
BeERETeTEEERE A
EENEENERFRAYE
REEEIRINE -

ERELEWNEREEMA
BEREEEEMERBENNK
HMRERLEEaTERRE
A-mHHEREEAER /2
BAKENM2ERBERERE
BEEENEE-

FHEMEENEMmEFHREREL
B K15¥38.24 ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Non-current assets — at cost

Opening balance as at 1 January

Transfer from property, plant and
equipment

Exchange realignment

Closing balance as at 31 December

Depreciation

Opening balance as at 1 January

Provided for the year

Transfer from property, plant and
equipment

Exchange realignment

Closing balance as at 31 December
Impairment

Opening balance as at 1 January
Provision for impairment (Note i)
Exchange realignment

Closing balance as at 31 December

Carrying values
At 31 December

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

ERBEE - BERAE
1818 Ak
HYE - BERERE
Y2

P 5 A

12831 B8R & &

e

1 A1 B Bae
FREE
HoE - BEREE
%

P& X

12 4318 # R4 &R
B
TA1 8 B &R
AE R (221)

PE 3 S B

12 A31H IR &8

BREERE
®12A31H

Note
ks

15

15

2024
RMB’000
AR®T R

219,946

4,037
1,473

225,456

24,140
9,931

360

34,431

4,974
3,676
149

8,799

182,226

2023
RMB'000
ARETTT
207,107

11,876
963

219,946

14,671
8,714

552
203

24,140

4,974

4,974

190,832



For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

The Group has identified certain indications of
impairment on investment properties located in Hong
Kong. The Group has carried out an impairment
assessment on these investment properties as at
31 December 2024. Based on the result, the Group
provided impairment loss amounting to RMB3,676,000
(2023: 4,974,000) for these investment properties.

The impairment loss provided for above mentioned
property units is calculated by the recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use.

The investment properties were appraised by the Asset
Appraisal Limited with the direct comparison method
as its primary method with cross-reference to the
observable market value of the comparable properties,
where appropriate.

The Directors have taken fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use into consideration for estimation of
recoverable amount. As at 31 December 2024, the
recoverable amount was estimated by fair value less
costs of disposal.

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in
an active market for similar properties. Where such
information is not available, the Directors consider
information from a variety of sources including:

° current prices in an active market for properties
of a different nature or recent prices of similar
properties in less active markets, adjusted to
reflect those differences.

AEEBEBRIAVLREBSNE
EMEELETREDRR - #HZ=E
2024F 128318 A& B EH
BN EYEEIT T RERS
Bl AEBARELEREME
FTIRRE R K AR 3,676,000
oC (20234 : AR 4,974,000
JT) °

B iE R m R B W) KT IR MR
ERRRAIKRDESESE A
WREBEREENRAEEBR
EZREREAMEREETHR
EE

BREMEHREENEEARAA
REERLEBEERTIEN A
EITHHE  TEBEBERBR TR
X2RBALMENAEREMS
BfE -

EEEGEATKESEEZE
TARBEREESEKAME
FAEME- -HZE2024F12A31
B allEEBEZERLEEBER
FEEXANEE -

ARBENREERBREERT
LHRRUMENEMER - #
BLAEGSUBEANBRT
EXZEXRESERENEA -
B

s RAEMBTIRAEEME
M E BB KERT
B B R LA E
1B BB IR E L
Z8-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Investment
properties

held by the Group
AEBBEN
RENF

13th Floor, Bank of
East Asia Harbour
View Centre, No.
56 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

BREHSLITESGHRR
BRITEETLI3E

Fair value
hierarchy
NAEE

Ef

Level 3

FIER

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

Valuation technique
and significant
unobservable inputs
HERTNEEH
FEEHE A

Significant

inputs
BEEN
FABREA

Direct comparison
method with
cross reference
to the observable
market value of the
comparable properties
HEELRE  RX2RA
HOENABETS
EE

The key inputs are:
BREARE:

Price index adjustment  0.829-1.000

B EEHE

Age adjustment 1.002-1.016

L
0.980-1.014

Floor adjustment

HEE

8]

Size adjustment 0.978-1.035

RERE

Location adjustment 1.000

i E

S

unobservable Relationship of significant unobservable

inputs to fair value
BEXFABABA
BAABENBE

The larger the price index of evaluated property,
the larger the price index adjustment and the
fair value.

HARRENENERERHEA  BRIEEH
ERNRABEREA o

The older the age of evaluated property, the
lower the age adjustment and the fair value.

BAERENENBREA  BRABNAL
EEMHE -

The higher the floor of evaluated property,
the higher the floor adjustment and the fair
value.

HABRENENESYS  EHABNLA
BEAMES -

The larger the size of evaluated property, the
lower the size adjustment and the fair value.

HABREMENRERA - HEBBAD R
EEMHE -

The lower the location adjustment, the lower
the fair value.

UEAEGE DABERBE-



For the year ended 31 December 2024

Rental income from operating KLEHEEWA
leases

Direct operating expenses from EAHEEW AP ER
property that generated rental HEKEER
income

Direct operating expenses from REAHESW AN ED

property that did not generate HEKEER
rental income

The Group classifies cash outflows to acquire or
construct investment properties as investing cash flows
and rental inflows as operating cash flows.

The investment properties are leased to tenants under
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. Lease
income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties
at 31 December 2024 were RMB42,077,000
for investment properties located in Hong Kong
(2023: RMB47,058,000) and RMB162,135,000,
for investment properties located in Zhuhai (2023:
RMB189,530,000), respectively. The fair value has
been arrived at based on a series of valuation carried
out by independent valuers, namely Asset Appraisal
Limited for investment properties located in Hong Kong,
and Zhuhai Chengxinda Real Estate Evaluation Co.,
Ltd., for investment properties located in Zhuhai, and
consideration of management by reference to market
value comparison.

B E2024% 128318 IEZFE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETTT
5,932 3,675
(3.,485) (2,496)
(6,446) (6,770)

AEEKBEREVERELEL
BeRntbBREAREMASR
E - HHERAREAKEZE
BeRE -

REMERAKLEHEN A
HERwEP HERAXM-
AEEBRHEANKEHEE
ENHAERAEHERANEE
RORERRBA »

20245128318 » XE B
REBNREMENAAER
A ANER42,077,0007T (2023
F: AR#47,058,0007T) ° &
SEURKENEEYEND
A EEHBARE162,1350005T
(20234 : AR ¥189,530,000
TT) e AR EBEDNREMRIE L
s (B EE ENER
MAERABTMKETHEERE
WEIEEFNBER QA 55
HURNEEBMKENREME
ETH—RIEE RERE
2EMELLREH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE |

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(iv) Leasing arrangement (Continued)

The valuation has been arrived by reference to direct
comparison method as available in the market and
where appropriate, on the basis of referencing to the
sales transactions of similar commercial properties in
Hong Kong and Zhuhai.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest
and best use of the property is their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and
information about the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

Investment properties located in IR EB R EME

17 BREVE w0
(iv) HE Z 8 @)

BEDEAERLBALERT
LEIRAMEE THEEER
MAT2EEENKEREBE
MENHERS °

EFEOMEN QIR EBER X
ZOENENERERERS
MEENER

BEAGEHR AKERA
MENFBERLDABEEREA
BT

2023
Fair value
Carrying at level 3
amount Hierarchy
FIER
FREEE AnfBE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTR

Hong Kong 42,077 42,077 47,058 47,058
Investment properties located in -~ T ATKEBNREME
Zhuhai 140,149 162,135 143,774 189,530

The above investment properties are depreciated for 20-
30 years on a straight-line basis.

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

LR EMERERER20E
30FHRANE -

18 RBtE QAR 2R

260

2023
RMB’000
ARETTT

Unlisted investments in associates, &R IELM 2L AT -

at cost 12 K 2N 2,200 2,200
Share of post-acquisition results W 2 2 XE R FEE

and reserves 1,300 1,300
Impairment loss on interests in MREtENT 2R

associates B EE (3,500) (3,500)
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Details of the Group's

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

associates at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

Name of entity

KA E RN E BB E QR ZFA
EEWMT -

Proportion of issued ordinary

Country of incorporation
and operation

share and capital indirectly held
by the Group

Principal activity

‘ MASEFEERENE BT
BEREH RIMELER EERRER 2L TEEK
2024 2023
Kaixin Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands 45% 45%  Investment holding
HBRRER AT EEARRES R AR
Goldpac ACS Technologies Inc.  Philippines 45% 45%  Data processing
("Goldpac ACS") FERE g7 Yrop
SCZR The Chinese mainland 19.68% 19.68%  Smart city platform
)1l R L A it (Note i) (Note i) BEHMESR
(&i) (&%)

Note i:In February 2021, two external professional firms were appointed by

the court to act as the liquidation administrators of SCZR pursuant
to the court order ((2020))1|010484%% % £ &) . The operation and
management of SCZR during the period of bankruptcy and liquidation
is undertaken by the bankruptcy administrator. In November 2021, the
court declared the bankruptcy of SCZR. In June 2022, the bankruptcy
administrator announced the distribution plan of SCZR's remaining
assets but the liquidation process was still in progress as at 31
December 2024. Therefore, according to HKAS 28 (“Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures”), the Group has reclassified the equity
investment of SCZR from interest in an associate to FVTPL in 2021
as the Group has lost significant influence over SCZR. The Group has
reviewed and estimated the fair value of SCZR on a regular basis under
the requirement of HKFRS 9. Please refer to Note 3.2 for more details
about the fair value of the equity investment as at 31 December 2024.

EHEREEZRERAT

Fea i

202142 A + JEBR B R A BT 2((2020))11
0104 R4S REE) TR T MK INBEZE
BEEEN)IFENEEEEA - @
PEHERESEPENKLEERRE
BIRANEYE - AR R2021F1MAE
P9 )| R A EE - 20224F6 8 0 IRE B IR
AEM TIPSR EHEENDBETE -
2024128318 - M)A EWMBEET
EMEETT Bt REBEESGTE
A28 2 I5F] ((HBEAAREE D
EWBRE]  BRAEEBEREHD)I
FENEATE N AEEBEE R20214
AR E R RERER R E AR
BmBEHOEAR AR EAEFABRRZ
CRMEE - ASEEREEBVBRSE
HERFRMME - T B KD
FEZAREE - REREN2024F12
A3MBM AR BEFRME32-

B ELET S



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r & BF 7% o3k B A (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

18

262

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18

Aggregate information of associates that
are not individually material

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of loss
of associates because the Group’s share of losses of the
associates in previous years has exceeded its investment

)

RERE QB 2 B (
BRFEERBENTNER

AEECEELIRRBAEEHERRZE

18 - R B 2 A B O R
ABRSHEOBBRRARE - ki

costs. The amounts of the unrecognised share of losses of the REMBE AR ZERESREE (NFH
associates, both for the year and cumulatively, are as follows: MEFE) T :
2023
RMB’000
AR®T T
Unrecognised share of losses of the RNEREREGE S NG 2
associates for the year 18 - -
Accumulated unrecognised share of B4 QAR 2t R EREE (M5
losses of the associates (5,260) (5,260)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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20

R TE A )

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

INVENTORIES

2023
RMB'000
AREFIT
Raw materials R+ ¥4 179,242 222,766
Work in progress X i 4,834 3,679
Finished goods X & 113,755 139,047
297,831 365,492

Less: write-down of inventories to & : B EEE Al # I F(E
net realisable values (60,186) (63,915)
237,645 301,577

Inventories recognised as an expense during the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB710,583,000
(2023: RMB848,085,000). These were included in cost of
sales. Reversal of write-down of inventories amounted to
RMB3,729,000 during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023 : Reversal of write-down of inventories amounted
to RMB4,351,000). These were recognised in cost of sales
in the consolidated statement of profit of loss and other
comprehensive income (Note 8).

TRADE RECEIVABLES

HE2024F12A31BILFE - &FE&
R EERAARKT710,583,0005T
(20234 : A R #848,085,0007T) °
HE2024F 128318 It EE &
A ERE R & AR ®3,729,0007T
(2023F : FERERGRDAAR
#£4,351,0007T) ° BLEFTALRAE B
wm ME M2 TR A SRR (B
F£8) °

20 BEIRE R

2023

RMB'000

ARETIT

Trade receivables EE = 266,525 336,018
Less: Loss allowance (Note) R Es IR E (i) (4,699) (5,023)
261,826 330,995

Note: Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the Group’s
exposure to credit risk can be found in Note 3.1(b).

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 lifetime ECL approach to measure
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables. The assessment resulted in an increase of the loss
allowance on 31 December 2024 by RMB379,000 (2023: increase of
the loss allowance by RMB199,000) for trade receivables. Note 3.1(b)
provides for details about the calculation of the allowance.

i ARERETRE AEEEHEBENEER
REEEER - F2 K3 1(0)

AEBRBEBUBREERNFEIRIRRK
SEEEBETERHEERE A
HATARRERETR I TEREREE -
20244512 A31 B FE M & KB 18 5 4 R 1t
A R ¥379,0007T (20234 : ERE
SR E B E IS N A R #5199,0007T) © &
BREEFTEFBERLME3 D) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their
fair values.

Payment terms with customers are mainly on credit. Invoices
are normally payable in 30 to 150 days by the customers
from date of issuance. The following is an ageing analysis
of trade receivables net of provision for impairment loss
presented based on the invoice date:

Ageing BR R

0 — 90 days 0&90H

91 - 180 days 912 180H
181 — 365 days 1812365H
Over 1 year iR —F

The normal credit period is 30-150 days upon delivery.
Retentions held by customers are normally payable between
6 months to 1 year by the customers from the date of
issuance of invoice. Such retentions include retentions for
embedded software and secure payment products required
by customers to insure performance of Integrated Circuit
("1C") chips during the warranty period. The card issuance
system solutions also have retentions ranging from 5% to
10%, which are payable after the expiration of the warranty
period. These warranties associated with the goods cannot
be purchased separately and they serve as an assurance that
the goods sold comply with agreed—upon specifications.
Accordingly, the Group accounts for warranties in accordance
with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

FEREFNEEEEROIAAEE-

HEENMNRIEREEARIE - BE
— R FAEBHREE308 21508 K
HEPXN ZEWMBEZEBEHEIH
FEWE R (FOBR B E RSB EE) Rie
DITEATE -

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARETT
181,298 215,954
21,602 38,219
27,719 39,403
31,207 37,419
261,826 330,995

EEHERHERE%30E150K °
EERFEAENRENBERAERPRNER
FEAB#MEAAEBI1ERNIN - ZER
BHRBEREEFPAEREKER ([1C])
R R E AR B A 1 RE T B Sk By 4 AR
AXBEMZ 2SI HERORE K -
BEREABRBATREBES%EI0%H
REBF RERBPEBRESIS - ZE
HEVEBNEGRTEEBEE £
ERFEEMHTAEEHEmEREHR
#Fo AW AEBEREFSSFEL
FITHEBE  ABERIAREEY
EREGETSEERE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

CONTRACT ASSETS

BREE

2023
RMB'000
AR®T T

Embedded software and secure AR RENLZ 2 XN ER
payment products 279 264
Digital equipment H TR 10,785 11,774
11,064 12,038

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to
receive remaining payments from customers and not billed
because rights are conditioned on the satisfaction of quality
over the products delivered at the reporting date. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional. The condition is fulfilled upon
the completion of retention period which is normally between
6 months to 1 year.

BHEETREERSHRLERE
Ef%fb%#ﬁ% NG B R B R WK
Tﬁ*ﬂ‘Z%ﬂ ;?E%E?'F'J“%ﬁﬂx#

B AHNEEMSRRKER B
Ef%ﬁﬂ;%ﬂlﬂ

14F o

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 22 L 4t FE Uk KD FE A 2K
PREPAYMENTS
2023
RMB’'000
ARETF T
Current &
— Prepayment to suppliers — X ST 4G 1 FE P B TR SRR 7,710 34,550
— Deposits paid to suppliers — X4 FEFﬁE’]ﬁé 74,392 28,419
— Tender deposits —REREZS 1,517 7,764
— Employee welfare —B8THEAN 1,722 1,866
— Tax refund receivables — FE R B 50 3,314 1,765
— Rental and utility deposits — e MKEHRE 732 1,724
— Others —HAph 3,607 1,476
92,994 77,564
Non-current FEME
— Performed guarantee deposit —-BHRES 4,739 -
— Rental and utility deposits — e RKEHE 537 -
— Deposits paid to suppliers — S EEREFRHNES - 67,933
5,276 67,933
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r & BF 7% o3k B A (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

23 AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE 23 FEUREE = N T FIE

2023

RMB’000

AREFIT

Amount due from an associate JE U Bt & N A FR 1B 14,331 14,331
Less: Loss allowance (Note) B EE R () (14,331) (14,331)

Note: The balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the directors of the Company
believe that there is significant increase in credit risk of the amount
due from an associate since initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on lifetime ECL.

Details of impairment assessment of amount due from an associate are
set out in Note 3.1(b).

i HHBRRERER 25 ARREREER-

K2024F 124310 &2023F12A318
ARBEERE B Y ha b R DA R & Uk
EARFANEERBRBESL M A
KSEERNRAERBERBERTRAERS

B

FE Ui B 4 D R SR IE R (E BT B0 FE B R A
3. 1(b)H FE -

24 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, FIXED 24 EIEHRITER - R/ITE
BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH HESZNELRELEE
EQUIVALENTS LY

2023
RMB’'000
AREFIT
Cash at banks and in hand RITFERRIES 211,153 404,550
Cash and cash equivalents HERRESZEEY 211,153 404,550
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group He B EBYBHEANERBMEFAE
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of HmIES N =@AsE =188 AKEE]

three months or less. KR HATT 3R »
The pledged bank deposits are pledged for bills payables and DRI ITIE R AN EE KR - IR
carry fixed interest rate ranging from 0% to 0.1% (2023: 0%%0.1% (20234 : 0% %3.99% )
0% to 3.99%) per annum. As at 31 December 2024, the WETEEFEE B - R2024%F12
amount of pledged bank deposits were RMB7,499,000 (2023: A31H BEBHREITFEZLE AR
RMB156,656,000). #67,499,0007T (2023F : AR

156,656,0007T) °
266 Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

24 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, FIXED 24 SHEHFRTENR  RITE
BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH HEZNMBESRRSZE
EQUIVALENTS (continued) % (&)

Bank balances held by the Group carry interest at the floating AREFBEAENERTERITEERE
rate of 0% to 1.00% (2023: 0% to 1.55%) per annum. 0%%1.00% (20234 : 0% %1.55% )
§+/%\ ©
Fixed bank deposits held by the Group are denominated in REEFENRITEHERIAAR
RMB and carry interest at the fixed rate of 1.50% to 4.40% BB 1.50%%24.40% (2023
(2023: 1.90% to 5.50%) per annum. Fixed bank deposits F:1.90%%5.50% ) W E E F F
of RMB279,357,000 will be matured over one year as at Rt B o R2024F12831H * AR
31 December 2024 (2023: RMB122,349,000). Fixed bank #279,357,0007T (20234 : AR ¥
deposits of RMB834,793,000 will be matured within one year 122,349,000 W EHRITERE
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB669,471,000). —F LA FE|HR - A20244E12H31H -
A R ¥6834,793,0007T K R 17 £ HA 75
REE—FAEE(2023F - AR
669,471,0007T) °
Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank deposits, OEIRRITER  RITEEFERME
fixed bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents are set out e RBEEFEBMHORE A EHR
in Note 3.1(b). M5E3.1(b) ©
TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 25 ERNEREENRE
2023
RMB’'000
ARET T
Trade payables I E R 253,412 255,784
Bills payables — secured EERENZR 63,823 144,004
317,235 399,788

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 60
to 180 days of recognition. The bills payables are secured by
pledged bank deposits.

The carrying amounts of trade and bills payables are
considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their
short-term nature. The following is an ageing analysis of
trade and bills payables based on invoice date and bill
issuance date respectively at the end of the year.

EHEREEZRERAT

ENERERER  WiBEEERR6O
HE180AATUAXN - BRARENA
BRI RITERIE DL

EREREE  ENERXRENREE
MEEEERGESEE AR EEM
F-UTNREFERENERLEN
SEREZHHAREFA BN
DT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

25

26

268

B 3% 3 3% MY 3 (@)

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued)

25 ENERRENRE@®

2023
RMB’000
AREFIT
Ageing BR R
0 — 90 days 0%290H 260,262 231,360
91 — 180 days 91£180H 39,540 101,052
181 — 365 days 181%365H 12,433 60,934
Over 1 year HBil—F 5,000 6,442
317,235 399,788
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26 eHNEE
2023
RMB’000
AREFIT
Embedded software and secure BRAREEMET 2 XA E @
payment products 23,197 25,332

The Group receives 10% to 100% of the contract value
as deposit from customers when they sign the contracts
with customers. Contract liabilities represent the receipts in
advance from customers which is recognised as revenue at
a point in time when the control of the goods is transferred
to the customers. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
revenue recognised in the year relating to contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year is RMB15,586,000 (2023:
RMB174,873,000).

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

EHREFRITAON  ASBRNE
ffé%ﬁé%ﬁaﬁw%@oo%{'ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
REZ -BHNEABEBEPENK
EMEHERNE —RBEEBREERP
BRI RER UL A o B £2024F12 A31
AIEFE BREFINEHEERE
HULA B AR #15,586,0007T (2023
& AR#174,873,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

27 OTHER PAYABLES 27 HEN

Corporate
Information
1 & R

2023
RMB'000
AR®T T g
Payroll and welfare payables R IEREF 17,067 35,235
Delivery and postage payables EREE REE 768 235 i
Other tax payables H fth FE AT B IE 14,773 15,492 S 4K
Accrued expenses BIREM 14,426 s "5
Others Hh 4,326 3,797 -
55U
51,360 82,552 S o
5o
28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 28 EEHIE s
Deferred income taxes are calculated in respect of temporary EEFREEZEEA &R HEREE é%i
differences under the liability method using the tax rates BEFEAREHACBAEED L2 %;‘j
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting period B ERAER o ?tf{"r‘
date. =
The following amounts, determined after appropriate LT EEREENEE TR ;gg
offsetting, are shown in the consolidated statement of HMERRBRAT : g%l
financial positions: e 2%
S =
s W
2023
RMB'000 _d
ARET T T %’*
e
€ _ I
Before offsetting 35 3% A g
Deferred tax assets EIET A A B 32,409 28,708 = Sm
Deferred tax liability REFIEEE (35,931) (37,399) B
w1
After offsetting KH%Z g2
Deferred tax assets RIETIEE & 32,145 28,708 Sim
Deferred tax liability S JE 08 A & (35,667) (37,399) -
{0

Corporate Governance
Report

Financial
Statements

40
b
LS
&=

CHEARZRERAT —S-mEFH 69



For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The movements in the deferred income tax assets are as

follows:

At 1 January 2023
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss during
the year (Note 12)

At 31 December 2023
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss during
the year (Note 12)

At 31 December 2024

1202351 A1H
FERRBET (D) /00
(Hi#12)

®2023% 128318
ERPNBIT (RD) /2 M
(Hi12)

R2024E12A31H

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

Temporary
differences
arising from
loss allowance
and write-down
of inventories
to net realisable
values
HEBRER
BRFEE
TRRFEEL
MEREEE
RMB'000
ARETTL

10,970
(641)

10,329

(608)

9,721

AT RELEHIEEENZE :

Tax losses

REHR
RMB'000
ARETT

9,604

9,604

8,897

18,501

Accrued
expenses,
salaries
payable and
others

RRER
LGEL )L
RMB'000
ARETT
14,976

(6,201)

8,775

(4,588)

4,187

Total

4t
RMB'000
AREBTT
25,946
2,762

28,708

3,701

32,409



For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

The movements in the deferred income tax liabilities are as

follows:

At 1 January 2023 720231 A1H
Charged to profit or loss FARBZEF N
during the year (Note 12) (Krzt12)

At 31 December 2023 2023612 H31H
(Charged)/credited to profit & RRE2EF CRd),/
or loss during the year o (KEE12)
(Note 12)
At 31 December 2024 M2024%12A31H

AT RELEHARBNES

Unrealised

interest

The PRC's income and

withholding amortisation

tax on of

undistributed right of use
earnings assets Total

RERMN

FIBWA >

R BFE B AR
RESE AR EE#E &t
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETTT ARETTT

(30,196) (3,201) (33,397)
(2,907) (1,095) (4,002)
(33,103) (4,296) (37,399)
(1,756) 3,224 1,468
(34,859) (1,072) (35,931)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses to
be carried forward against future taxable income amounting
to RMB48,948,000 (2023: RMB28,009,000). The unused
tax losses were incurred by subsidiaries that is not likely to
generate taxable income in the foreseeable future. Unused
tax losses amounting to RMB48,146,000 could be used in
5 years since the year that losses were incurred and not yet
expired as at 31 December 2024 (2023 : RMB27,337,000).
Except for this, the remaining unused tax loss of the Group
could be carried forward indefinitely.

R2024F 128318 KE B A AR
WINKRRBF 2 R EAOHIFEERA
R #48,948,0007T (20234 : AR ¥
28,009,0007T) ° A ff# F /) B 7% &5 18
1 7E AT 78 B K9 oK 2R S K AT RE EE A PR TR
WARTRREL - RMEANIEE
B AR #48,146,0007T © A EBLE
&7 FRASFERNFER - B 220245
128318 Ma#E A (2023F : AR
27,337,00070) ° Brith 24N KEE
FlerAE MRS EIB A ER A -

EHRERELERERAT —B-NFFER



Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before income tax

Adjustments for:

Investment income from financial
assets at FVTPL

Interest income from bank deposits

Unwinding interest income from
deposits paid to suppliers

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Depreciation of investment properties

Losses on disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Modification of lease liabilities

Interest expense on lease liabilities

Amortisation on land use right

Impairment loss of investment
properties

Operating profit before working
capital changes in:
- Inventories
- Contract assets
- Trade receivables
- Other receivables and
prepayments
- Contract liabilities
- Trade and bills payables
- Other payables
- Other operating assests

Cash generated from operations

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

RETHELECRERE

I B 15 750 A i

BT BEAE

BORBEFARSEZ
TREERERA

RTHEHMBHRA

HEARESIHREL L
M EHA

nE - BERREIE

EREEERE
REMERE
RENZF  BFELEXEER

iﬂ@ﬁm%%
BEYL Y REFE

*EWEW WSEINE

SHBE
ENERRENRE
H o e

{ z«< POy g}z

Iﬂi Iﬂi*ﬁHD

REEYMERE

2024
RMB’000
ARBTR

49,718

(1,715)
(27,745)

(2,244)

33,813
5,209
9,931

13
8
549
564

3,676

11,777

63,932
974
69,169

49,471
(2,135)
(82,553)
(31,192)
135,000

274,443

2023
RMB'000
ARETT

173,733

(32,649)
(2,935)
36,186

5,423
9,266
24

332
565

4,974

194,919

61,057
(1,401)
6,534

44,838
(151,966)
62,881
(33,877)
69,444

252,429



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fr e B A% 3R Rk B EE |

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising
from financing activities

(c)

29 HEREER @)

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or the
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows from financing

1y

£2

(b) MEEFBELEZ2REE
B %

TREAMIAAEEARE A
HELWNAGBEY EEHAE
FFREEH AREETHE
EMABREASESRA RS
MERTEROBAIKERD
BRRERIMRERAKRK

activities. ReRBEENEE -
Dividend Lease Bank
payable liabilities  borrowings Total
EMKRE HE&E RITER &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARETTT ARET T
As at 1 January 2023 M202351H1H - 8,874 44,818 53,692
Financing cash flow RETHELR (115,292) (6,497) (44,479) (166,268)
Dividend declared TR E 115,292 = = 115,292
New leases entered HEICHE - 9,257 = 9,257
Lease modification HEES = - - -
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFES = 332 = 332
Interest payments for bank RITREAMEIH
borrowings - - (339) (339)
At 31 December 2023 12023128318 - 11,966 - 11,966
As at 1 January 2024 M2024%F1 518 - 11,966 - 11,966
Financing cash flow BHEERHRER (103,343) (4,970) - (108,313)
Dividend declared TIREE 103,343 = = 103,343
New leases entered MECHE - 4,222 - 4,222
Lease modification AEs = (763) = (763)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFES = 549 = 549
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 - 11,004 - 11,004

In the consolidated statement of cash flow, proceeds
from disposal of property, plant and equipment

REABEERERT HEY
X BMERREBZMEREAELS

2

(c)

comprise: 1 -
2023
RMB’000
AREFTT
Net book amount (Note 15) RESE (f215) 3,226 39
Losses on disposal of property, HEWME BERXEZER
plant and equipment (Note 7) (Bi#7) (13) (24)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  BERKEZER
plant and equipment 3,213 15

EHEREEZRERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Issued and fully paid:
At 31 December 2023

Shares bought back on-market and

cancelled

At 31 December 2024

Shown in the consolidated financial

statements as of 31 December
2023 and 2024

HE2024%F12A831B L2 FE

BERTHAR
2023124314
B SR T 55 B B 3 5

202412 H31H

SRR B M S R — 1020234

128318 K&2024%12A31H

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
purchased 11,298,000 ordinary shares on-market in order
to simplify the Company’s capital structure, and cancelled
10,007,000 ordinary shares in November 2024. Additionally,
1,642,000 ordinary shares purchased in 2023 were cancelled
in April 2024. The buy-back and cancellation were approved
by shareholders at last year’'s annual general meeting, and
the payment was made out of the Company’s distributable

profits with no reduction of capital.

The shares were acquired at an average price of HKD1.05 per
share, with prices ranging from HKDO0.97 to HKD1.13. The
total amount of HKD11,834,000 (RMB10,854,000) paid to
acquire the shares has been deducted from retained earnings

within shareholders’ equity.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
LZERYE kg
‘000 HKD'000
0 BT
819,577 1,499,498
(11,649) -
807,928 1,499,498
RMB’'000
AREF T
1,192,362

REZE2024F12A31BIEZ2FE » &
NEEMH LEE 711,298,0000% &
B U AR RIMERERE I
72024411 A5 $510,007,0008% & i@
B o AN - 20234 B8 B #91,642,000
IR B AR MW 2024F4 A 5188 o AR
CEFHEBEEREFRREAFAS
FRBRBEZBEB UAQR SR
FESZA - TRE -

BHILERBEE1.05THFHE
B WE BN EEK0I7TE
B 13T AEE R D M2
£ % 5B 11,834,000 (AR
10,854,0007T) ' E MR R EZ N A
BrRWEF R -



For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 30 November 2015 (the “Adoption
Date”) with a duration of 15 years commencing from
11 December 2015. The objectives of the Share Award
Scheme are to (i) align the interests of any employee,
adviser, consultant, agent, contractor, client or supplier of
any member of the Group whom the directors in its sole
discretion considers may contribute or have contributed to
the Group (the “Participants”); (ii) recognise and motivate
the contribution of the Participants and to provide incentives
in retaining the Participants for future operation and
development of the Group; and (iii) attract suitable personnel
for the long-term growth and further strategic expansion of
the Group.

The Company has engaged the Trustee to administer and
hold the Company’s shares before they are vested and
transferred to the Participants. The Trustee purchases the
Company’s shares being awarded from the open market with
funds provided by the Company by way of contributions.

In May 2017, the Group granted 10,374,000 shares under
the Share Award Scheme to the Participants. The shares
awarded shall be vested in three years on each anniversary
of the first vesting date, which is 26 November 2017,
in equal portions. The estimated fair value of the shares
award granted at the grant date were approximately
HKD27,564,000 (equivalent to RMB24,239,000) based on the
market price of the relevant shares at the grant date.

As at 31 December 2024, all these shares were either vested
or forfeited; for which a total of 8,146,000 shares of the
Company were held by the Trustee at the year end date.
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31

32
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRAN SACT'ONS (Continued)

Share award scheme (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Trustee did
not acquire any ordinary shares of the Company (2023: nil),
and no shares were granted to employees under the Share
Award Scheme during the year. The Group did not recognise
any expense for the year ended 31 December 2024 in
relation to the share awards granted by the Company (2023:
nil). At 31 December 2024, 8,146,000 ordinary shares of the
Company (2023: 8,146,000 shares) are held by the Trustee.

OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessor

Operating leases, in which the Group is the lessor, relate to
investment properties owned by the Group with lease terms
from one year to ten years, without an extension option. The
lessee does not have an option to purchase the property at
the expiry of the lease period.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

31

32
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£ 1 8,146,0000%) °

KEelE
AEBEERHEA
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FoETHEER AEAEHEEY
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2023

RMB’'000

ARETF T

Within one year —F R 4,441 2,936
In the second year F-F 4,438 2,408
In the third year F= 3,143 2,706
In the fourth year Eyuigas 1,821 2,702
In the fifth year ERE 926 1,922
Over five years BBEAF 2,087 3,028
16,856 15,702
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34
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33 EXRERE

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of RNERBRITAHNBARAEREAEDN
the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as BAEARIMAT :

follows:

Corporate

Information

Financial

PRER

ights

2023
RMB'000 o h
AR¥T T <3t
Capital expenditure contracted BRWEME  BELERED £R
for but not provided in the B RTAVERII ARG & W 75 o
consolidated financial statements  ¥{&X AHE AR X Fog
in respect of acquisition of 5 2
property, plant and equipment 4,351 3,829 Gt
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3 £ ITESE §§T
e
CATEGORY g E
€ O [
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEEFEAU TSR TA ;f o
2023 5 o
RMB'000 3 gi
ARBTT 1
§ 5
Financial assets TREE g
Financial assets at amortised cost BEBEEKATEZSREE
Trade receivables FEWE 261,826 330,995
Other receivables H Al & YR 90,560 110,947 =
Pledged bank deposits EHERITER 7,499 156,656 g
Fixed bank deposits RITTEHFER 1,114,150 791,820 :
Cash and cash equivalents RENIRESEEY 211,153 404,550 E
1,685,188 1,794,968
w i
Financial liabilities S mAa R gis
Financial liabilities at amortised cost XK AN EZ S RMAE =l
Trade and bill payables R ER R ENEE 317,235 399,788
Other payables H A FE A 5K 19,520 31,825 g
Lease liabilities HEBE 11,004 11,966 g
S g
347,759 443579

EHEABZRERAT —S-mEEgR /7

Financial
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

34

35

278

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the
financial instruments is discussed in Note 3. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period
is the carrying amount of each class of financial assets
mentioned above.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than the transactions and balances with related
parties disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, during the year, the Group has no significant
transactions with related parties.

The details of compensation of key management personnel

and remuneration of the directors of the Company are set
out in Note 11.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

The Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2024
are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share
capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held
directly by the Company, and the proportion of ownership
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Company.
None of the principal subsidiaries of the Company issued any
debt securities as at the date of those financial statements.
The country of incorporation or registration is also their

R2024F12A318 * KR RIEA W
FTEMBRRIFBHNTE - RIS
BHE WBARMBKRAERARQF
BEEFENZAERERK - AR RE
ERMBREE=EREEESE - NAE
FHRAH ARARMEZEZNB AT
BITAEMNELEES - WBARIKILK
AMHE R R EE 2RI -

principal place of business.

Name of subsidiary

HELR

Goldpac Investment Limited (Note i)
SARREARAR (1)

Goldpac Datacard Solutions Company Limited
(Note i)
SREUBARAR (/)

Goldpac Innovation Limited (Note i)

Goldpac Innovation Limited (327

SecureTech Holdings Limited

Goldpac Fintech Private Limited

Goldpac Fintech Philippines Limited Inc.

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity
ERRLLH
RERERER

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

E% ARREAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

E% ARREAR

The British Virgin Islands,
limited liability company

EEABRNE
EREAAT

The British Virgin Islands,
limited liability company

ABRARES.
EREERR

Singapore, limited liability
company

Mg ARAEAT

The Philippines, limited
liability company
FeE ARELAA

Principal activities

IERH

Property holding
VESL]

(Note ii) (Note fii) and
investment holding

(i) (i) B
R

Investment holding

#RAT

Investment holding

BRAA

(Note iii)
(i)
(Note iii)

(i)

Particulars of

issued share capital Ownership interest held

and debt securities by the Company

ERTRAR

EBHESEE AATRRNFERRLR
2024 2023

Ordinary share - HKD1 100% 100%

LakG-#EIT

Ordinary shares - HKD500,000 100% 100%

£ak{3 - % %500,0007

Ordinary shares - USD100 100% 100%

LR -%m100T

Ordinary shares - USD100 70% 70%

£kt -£m100

Ordinary shares - SGD100 70% 70%

BRI - FMEEBI00T

Ordinary shares 70% 70%

- PHP11,000,000
LaRA
- FEZ 1 Z11,000,0007
EREEFERERAR —F-NFER



For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Place of Particulars of
incorporation and issued share capital Ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary kind of legal entity Principal activities  and debt securities by the Company
ERALHS BRARER
WEAF REREREH TERH EBUESRE AATRENFARRER
2024 2023
Goldpac Fintech Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong, limited liability  (Note ii) (Note ii) Ordinary share - HKD1 70% 70%
company
ERECRMRERARAT Bk ARELLH (&) (i) LRRG-EEIT
Goldpac Limited (Note i) The Chinese mainland, (Note ii) (Note iif) and ~ Registered capital - USD43,000,000 100% 100%
limited liability company™  investment holding
SAERRAR () mERY  BREEAAY () (i) R & & - %7143,000,0007
BRAT
Goldpac Technology Service Limited (Hengqin)  The Chinese mainland, (Note iv) Registered capital - RMB20,000,000 100% 100%
limited liability company®
SRERERE (RZ)ERAA hERY BREERTE (i) i &R - AKH20,000,0007
Goldpac Fintech (Zhuhai) Limited Company The Chinese mainland, Investment holding ~ Registered capital -USD10,000,000 100% 100%
(Note i) limited liability company*
Gam e BELRMRERERAR ) TEAN EREAARF  HRAR & - %7210,000,0007
UMV International Holding Limited (Note i) Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Investment holding ~ Ordinary share - HKD1,000 100% 100%
company
SHERARERERAN ) Bh BREELH ERAE Lakir-E%1,0007
UMV Technology Limited (Zhuhai) The Chinese mainland, (Note v) Registered capital - RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
("UMV Zhuhai") limited liability company*
SHERBR(RE) ERAD(ENER)  PEAY ARRELAT (3 i M&R- AKH10,000,0007
Zhirong Financial Services Technology (Zhuhai) — The Chinese mainland, (Note vi) Registered capital - RMB10,000,000 (Note vii) (Note vi)
Co., Ltd. ("Zhirong") limited liability company®
BRERBR AR ERAFERER)  TEMD AREERT (i) HRER - ARE10,000,0007 (&vii) (i)
* Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law * BERBREESIMAIGBEELE
# Registered under PRC law # RAR P BUA R M

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

Directly held by the Company

Embedded software and secure payment products for smart secure
payment

Provision of data processing, digital equipment, system platforms and
other total solutions for customers in a wide business range including
financial, retails, public services including social security, healthcare,
transportation, etc. by leveraging innovative Fintech

Provision of logistical auxiliary service

Provision of consultancy services on information technology research
and development

Provision of computer software and hardware, research and
development in network technology and the restricted business (the
“Subject Business”)

On 8 February 2021, UMV Zhuhai, entered into a series of Variable
Interest Entity agreements (“Contractual Arrangements”, which
include The Exclusive Technological Consultation, and Services
Agreement, The Exclusive Business Co-operation Agreement, The
Exclusive Purchase Right Agreement, The Equity Pledge Agreement, The
Spousal Consent Letter and The Loan Agreement) with Zhirong and
Zhirong’s PRC Equity Owner. Such Contractual Arrangements enable the
Group to control Zhirong. The PRC Equity Owner is a nephew of both
Mr. Lu Run Ting and Mr. Lu Runyi. Mr. Lu Runyi is an executive Director
of the Company. Upon entering into the Contractual Arrangements,
the financial results of Zhirong were consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of UMV Zhuhai and Zhirong became an indirect
subsidiary of the Company.

Zhirong was wholly owned by the PRC Equity Owner and is principally
engaged in the Subject Business. As advised by the PRC legal advisers
and set out below, information service platform for online data
processing and transactions processing services as well as information
service businesses (the “Restricted Business”) of the Subject
Business fall within the scope of “Value-added Telecommunication
(“VAT") Services” and Zhirong has obtained the VAT License under
the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC to operate the above
services.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Notes: (Continued)
(vii)  (Continued)

Pursuant to Contractual Arrangements, Zhirong shall engage UMV
Zhuhai on an exclusive basis to provide technological consultation and
services. Unless prior written consent has been obtained from UMV
Zhuhai or its designated nominee(s), Zhirong shall not carry on any
transaction or conduct any act that may materially adversely affect
the assets, business, personnel, obligations, rights or operation of
Zhirong. UMV Zhuhai shall provide a non-interest bearing loan in the
sum of RMB10,000,000 to the PRC Equity Owner of Zhirong, and the
PRC Equity Owner shall accept such loan in accordance with the loan
agreement.

In November 2021, UMV Zhuhai provided a non-interest bearing loan
of RMB10,000,000 to the PRC Equity Owner of Zhirong, and such
loan was totally used by the PRC Equity Owner to inject into Zhirong
as capital. During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, UMV
Zhuhai did not provide any technological consultation and services to
Zhirong.

Due to the implementation of the share award schemes of
the Group, the Group has also set up a structured entity (the
“Group Employee Share Trust”) in 2015, and its particulars

i ()

(vii)

(%)

BB SREREBRZES
REmERBRTEARRE -BRIESEL
BN SR EEEREANEADR
B ARERERABETIMAEY
TRERNEE X% AB -EBH -
BAREEELEEATHEENR F K
TR SR ERENE SR+ R
EHEE ARE ST A AR10,000,000
THESER  MAEREES ABR
BERGEESIZEER -

202111 A @RS RS &€ Ak =
fRiEHER ARH A R 10,000,000t &
EER  ZEEFE2RNaTERERS
AEBEREANE RS AR - # =2024F
128318 K2023F12A31BILEEE - &
FHE Bl oK 755 Bt € AR B2 A5 (T 1T 5 &
MR o

R EmASERD KBS - A%
BIRR2015F KL T —HAEBUEE
B(EMEIRHGETL])  HFE

are as follows: N

Structured entity Principal activities

ERMER TEXK

Group Employee Share Trust Administering and holding the Company’s shares before they are vested
and transferred to the Participants

SEETIRMNES EBRBAEARAZKRG BEEZHBROKEZETAE28E

As the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the Group Employee Share Trust and
can derive benefits from the contributions of the eligible
persons who are awarded with the shares by the schemes,
the directors of the Company consider that it is appropriate
to consolidate the Group Employee Share Trust.

Goldpac Group Limited Annual Report 2024

ERAEEEREESERIRNGE
NGB REERR LA A ER
ALRBFA XD HARBESERS
EHEEEBTHRMNEMNEKR BN

&
=)



ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Fixed bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets
Total assets

EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

BE

FRBEE
KRB AR ZIE

FRBEERE

REBEE
& g Fft 1§ /1 A SRR
RITE PFR
Be hBReFEY

BEXRRHE
ELEN
Gl

AR

a8E

REBAE
Hfth J& 1 5%
& 1< Fft /B8 X ] 5RIR

BERE
EaEAEAE

on 27 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

LU RUN TING

Chairman and Executive Director

EFRTERHTEF

2024
RMB’000
AR®T

348,786

348,786

534,914
512,157
13,439

1,060,510

1,409,296

1,192,362
206,562

1,398,924

4,313
6,059

10,372

1,409,296

2023
RMB'000
ARKETTT

348,786

348,786

585,437
282,438
12,260

880,135

1,228,921

1,192,362
32,214

1,224,576

3,840
505

4,345

1,228,921

BEE=e D MN2025F3A27H BZ I A
BAR B EEAR LR A M - WH A

TEFEeRERRE

HOU PING
&F

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

HITEERBEEHNITE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

At 1 January 2023 720231 H1H
Profit and total comprehensive 4 & % F1| & & @ W A
income for the year (Note) 4258 (Ht)
Purchase of shares (Note 30)  F& 17 [ B8 (K77:£30)
Dividends recognised as DR E (HaE14)

distribution (Note 14)

At 31 December 2023 72023F12H31H
Profit and total comprehensive 4F & % 71| &2 2 mE W A
income for the year (Note) REE (K at)
Purchase of shares (Note 30) PR3 [B18& (H77130)
Dividends recognised as DR E (HiE14)

distribution (Note 14)

At 31 December 2024 R2024F12H31H

Shares

held under
share
award
scheme
%15
HEED AT &l
Fr¥s B iR (2
RMB'000
ARBTIT

(13,516)

(13,516)

(13,516)

Note: At a meeting held on 1 December 2024, the Board of Goldpac Limited
recommend a final dividend of RMB228,912,000 to the Company for

2018 and 2019.

At a meeting held on 31 December 2023, the Board of Goldpac
Datacard Solutions Company Limited recommend a final dividend of

RMB15,753,000 to the Company for 2022.
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Other
reserve

itk
RMB’000

ARETTT

37,681

37,681

Retained
earnings

B s
RMB'000
AREFI
74,116

51,383
(2,158)

(115,292)

8,049

288,545
(10,854)

(103,343)

182,397

Total

A
S]]

RMB'000
ARETTT
98,281

51,383
(2,158)

(115,292)

32,214

288,545
(10,854)

(103,343)

206,562
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of
financial position respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting, after initially
being recognised at cost.

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income
of the investee in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received or receivable from associates
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an
equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

38 HMEBEEARZTBER
2 m

38.1Principles of consolidation and equity BIEHREEZERA @)

accounting (Continued)

(b) Associates (Continued) (b) EEE DT @\

Unrealised gains on transactions between the N JETREER o /N
Group and its associates are eliminated to the HABRNFZ R AEERE
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. ZEERBNERTAY

Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 38.8.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of Goldpac
Group Limited.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of
that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

38.1Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(c) Changes in ownership interests
(Continued)

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share
of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where appropriate.

38.2Business combination

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred;

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

o equity interests issued by the Group;
o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a

contingent consideration arrangement; and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:
. consideration transferred;

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity; and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as
a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker.

The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the
Company’s Chairman that makes strategic decisions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on a net basis within “other gains — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
38.5Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

o income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss and statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

o all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part
of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

The Group’s accounting policy for property, plant and
equipment is explained in Note 15. Historical costs
include expenditures that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. All property, plant and
equipment other than construction in progress, are
stated at historical cost less depreciation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the reporting period in which
they are incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
38.8).

Construction in progress is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs of
construction as well as borrowing costs capitalised
during the periods of construction and installation.
Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the construction
in progress is transferred to the appropriate class of
property, plant and equipment when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the assets for
their intended use are completed. No depreciation is
provided for in respect of construction in progress until
it is completed and ready for its intended use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Investment properties, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, are held for long-term rental
yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that
are not occupied by the Group. Investment properties
are initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs.
Subsequently, they are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, over their estimated useful lives.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

38.9Investments and other financial assets

(a)

(b)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value; and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HWBEEERSTHER
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E @)

(Continued)

38.9Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

BIREREMETHMEE @

(c) Measurement (c) TE

298

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss.

Investment income from financial assets at FVTPL
is included in the “other gains — net”. See Note 7
above.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

38 HMEBEEARZTBER
CNE))

38.9Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

BIREREMETHMEE @

(c) Measurement (Continued) () & w@m

Debt instruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “other gains — net” together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets with
contractual cash flows do not represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is
subsequently measured at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and presented net within “other gains — net”
in the period in which it arises.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
lifetime ECL approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further details.
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Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement KHEEEReE THEEER
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a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised MEEEER sREERS
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a Er EHEE WEESME
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set off in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or

the termination of a contract.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis
of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to
individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted
average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are
determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection or trade receivables is expected
in one year or less, they are classified as current assets.
Otherwise, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade receivables with the objective of collecting the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Note 20 for further information
about the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and
Note 3.1(b) for a description of the Group's impairment
policies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and bank overdrafts.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity instruments, for example as the result of a
share buy-back or a share-based payment plan, the
consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted
from equity attributable to the owners of the Company
as treasury shares until the shares are cancelled or
reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any
directly attributable incremental transaction costs and
the related income tax effects, is included in equity
attributable to the owners of the Company.

Shares held by the Group Employee Share Trust are
disclosed as shares held under share award scheme and
deducted from equity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are
unsecured and are usually paid within 60 to 180 days
of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented
as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12
months after the reporting period. They are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
statement of financial position when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated
and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor
to extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity
swap), a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss,
which is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair
value of the equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during
the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HWBEHEERSTHER
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E @)

(Continued)

38.18 Current and deferred income tax 3818 BN R IR FE T S B I8

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and considers whether it is probable
that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either
based on the most likely amount or the expected
value, depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HMBAEE K STHERRE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES = @)
(Continued)
38.18 Current and deferred income tax 38.18 BV A R2 3 A P 15 B 7R (a0)
(Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued) 5 7E B IE ()
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there {@?ﬁé}iﬁj%ﬁ ﬂ*ﬂ ﬁE}‘J # B £
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets i IEQE/?@E & TEE\;% CBE *E
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances Eﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ%fﬂ% :I\>i&ﬁ—$ﬁ
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets fi*% BA B ﬁﬁ*ﬂfﬂéﬁéﬁﬁ
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a 1EEHEET%7¢! cHEBABSZA
legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to EH% il *ﬂgﬁl‘”% 35 iﬁ ' H?%ﬁ
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle PAF fﬂf %i * A E‘irf’xiﬁéé
the liability simultaneously. MEBERER BIMMEEE
REEAAATEE -
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or EHHE&EEHIEE/\\EEEMEE?
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items HE i B Hﬂ&fﬁﬁﬁlﬁf/’:%m/ﬁ:
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in b 2 T A SR B 58 S B B R
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other J’ﬁq\“l .2 HE - AIEE MR
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. ST Iﬁzj"ﬁ%”ﬁ/\\\ﬁ@i\ﬁwj\
RABEREHEPHER -
- = /4
38.19 Employee benefits BYWEIHFAE
(i) Short-term obligations (i) EHERK
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including ;ﬁ){g%ﬁ@g% : ’ETE?F
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick EREANREHES TR
leave that are expected to be settled wholly within i *HJZ%HW%%@*T§121 A
12 months after the end of the period in which W%EZ%#%? CIRIE
the employees render the related service are Ekffiﬁtéﬁﬁ*ﬁgg\iﬁﬁﬁ
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to %TT‘EE@ » W 1R EJE mE
the end of the reporting period and are measured IR NS ETE -

at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to
various defined contribution plans organised by
the relevant governmental authorities. The Group's
liability in respect of these plans is limited to the
contributions payable in each period. The Group's
contributions to these plans are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions. Assets of
the plans are held and managed by government
authorities and are separated from those of the
Group.

The Group has no legal or constructive to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee services in the current
and prior years. The Group’s contributions to
the defined contribution plans are expensed
as incurred and not reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave the plans
prior to vesting fully in the contributions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, Share
Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme.

The fair value of equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share award
reserve/share options reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share award
reserve/share options reserve.

Under the share award scheme, BOCI-Prudential
Trustee Limited (the “Trustee”) administers and holds
the Company’s shares before they are vested and
transferred to the Participants. The Trustee purchases
the Company’s shares being awarded from the open
market with funds provided by the Company. When
share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to share capital. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Tax laws or regulations may oblige an entity to
withhold an amount for an employee’s tax obligation
associated with a share-based payment and transfer
that amount, normally in cash, to the tax authority
on the employee’s behalf. To fulfil this obligation, the
terms of the share-based payment arrangement may
permit or require the Group to withhold the number
of equity instruments equal to the monetary value of
the employee’s tax obligation from the total number
of equity instruments that otherwise would have been
issued to the employee upon exercise (or vesting) of
the share-based payment (i.e. the share-based payment
arrangement has a “net settlement feature”).

The Group accounts for the withholding of shares
to fund the payment to the tax authority in respect
of the employee’s tax obligation associated with the
share-based payment as repurchase of vested equity
instruments, therefore, the payment made shall be
accounted for as a deduction from equity for the
shares withheld, except to the extent that the payment
exceeds the fair value at the net settlement date of the
equity instruments withheld.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make
good obligations are recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

o the profit attributable to owners of the
Company

J by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares; and

o the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Dividends are received from financial assets measured at
FVTPL. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or
loss when the right to receive payment is established. This
applies even if they are paid out of pre-acquisition profits,
unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of
the cost of an investment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for
leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z2024F12A31HIEZFE

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

. any initial direct costs; and
o restoration costs.

Entity-specific details about the Group's leasing policy
are provided in Note 16.

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
#r S B 7% #RoaR B & (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A31HIEZ2FE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HWBEHEERSTHER
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES E @)

(Continued)

38.26 BT % Bh

38.26 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current
liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of
the related assets.

38.27 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).
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Year ended 31 December
REZ12A31BLELZEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 | RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARETE

Results 4
Revenue A 1,281,903 1,376,524 1,530,251 1,416,573 1,095,301
Profits before taxation B 35 A A B 169,242 154,939 164,070 173,733 49,718
Income tax expense PRiSH & A (23,982) (16,988) (3,091) (22,568) (186)
Profit for the year FEHH 145,260 137,951 160,979 151,165 49,532
Attributable to FE1h
— Owners of the Company - ARRAEAA 145,665 138,184 147,427 132,051 50,889
- Non-controlling interests — PR RE A (405) (233) 13,552 19,114 (1,357)
145,260 137,951 160,979 151,165 49,532
At 31 December
MW12A31A8
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000 | RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETE
Assets and liabilities EENER

Total assets
Total liabilities
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2,577,263 2,609,965 2,813,857 2,693,907 2,463,484
(579,727)  (601,360)  (743,294)  (598,836)  (451,493)

\
L

Net assets FEE 1,997,536 2,008,605 2,070,563 2,095,071 2,011,991
Attributable to E1h
— Owners of the Company Y N/NGIE V=N 1,996,109 2,007,411 2,056,925 2,073,331 2,011,986
- Non-controlling interests — SEPE AR RE RS 1,427 1,194 13,638 21,740 5

1,997,536 2,008,605 2,070,563 2,095,071 2,011,991
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